

# **RESOURCE GUIDE**

#### About this Guide

This Resource Guide is intended to help prescription drug plans, providers, physicians, and third party submitters locate information specific to prescription drug event data.

The purpose of this Resource Guide is to identify and supply resources that will simplify and clarify both the terminology and the processes employed in the submission of prescription drug event data. An emphasis is given to recent, policy-relevant material.

This Resource Guide is a helpful tool for those who need a quick reference for technical concepts, or for those who need to provide employees with an introductory presentation to the prescription drug event data process. Where possible and appropriate, "screen shots" of important resources on the Internet have been included. These pages may also be utilized as a suitable visual aid for prescription drug event data instructors to enhance their presentation.

The information listed in the Resource Guide is arranged in six sections:

- PRESCRIPTION DRUG EVENT DATA ACRONYMS AND TERMS
- CMS WEB RESOURCES
- CMS REFERENCE DOCUMENTS
- REPORTS
- CSSC WEB RESOURCES
- CSSC REFERENCE DOCUMENTS
- APPLICATION FOR ACCESS

#### **GENERAL CONTACT INFORMATION**

#### CENTERS FOR MEDICARE & MEDICAID SERVICES (CMS) - http://cms.hhs.gov

#### CMS Contacts for Technical Issues

Cynthia Tudor: <u>cynthia.tudor@cms.hhs.gov</u> Jeff Grant: <u>jeffrey.grant@cms.hhs.gov</u> Henry Thomas: <u>henry.thomas@cms.hhs.gov</u> Sandra Anderson: <u>sandra.anderson@cms.hhs.gov</u> Harvey Hull: <u>harvey.hull@cms.hhs.gov</u> Ann Marshall:<u>ann.marshall@cms.hhs.gov</u> Ann Breen:<u>ann.breen@cms.hhs.gov</u>

#### CUSTOMER SERVICE AND SUPPORT CENTER (CSSC) - http://www.csscoperations.com

The CSSC website provides "one-stop shopping" for PDP and MA-PD plans regarding prescription drug event data submission needs. Visit <u>www.csscoperations.com</u> to register for email updates from the CSSC. The updates will serve as notification that new or updated information has been added to the website.

#### **CSSC Contact Information**

877-534-2772 (toll-free) csscoperations@palmettogba.com

#### ASPEN SYSTEMS CORPORATION

For general questions about training and User Groups, please email Aspen Systems Corporation at <u>CMStraining@aspensys.com</u>.

Aspen Systems Corporation

i

The PACE PDE information in this module is accurate as of August 17, 2005. See front cover letter for more information regarding sources of updated information.



# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

PRESCRIPTION DRUG EVENT DATA ACRONYMS AND TERMS	1
CMS WEB RESOURCES	3
CMS REFERENCE DOCUMENTS	6
Accessing HPMS	7
Cover Letter to Instructions: Requirements for Submitting Prescription	
Drug Event Data	8
Instructions: Requirements for Submitting Prescription Drug Event Data	10
REPORTS	81
PDFS Response Report	82
DDPS Report 01: DDPS Return File	83
DDPS Report 03: DDPS Transaction Error Summary	89
DDPS 04COV, 04ENH, AND 04OTC: Cumulative Beneficiary Activity	
Summary Reports	<mark>92</mark>
Monthly Membership Report (MMR) Flat File Layout	99
CSSC WEB RESOURCES	105
CSSC REFERENCE DOCUMENTS	118
APPLICATION FOR ACCESS	120



# PRESCRIPTION DRUG EVENT DATA ACRONYMS AND TERMS



#### **RESOURCE GUIDE**

ACRONYM	TERM
CFR	Code of Federal Regulations
CMS	Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services
СОВ	Coordination of benefits
СРР	Covered D Plan Paid Amount
DAW	Dispense as written
DCB	Drug Claims Database
DDPS	Drug Data Processing System
DEA	Drug Enforcement Administration
DIR	Direct and indirect remuneration
DOB	Date of Birth
DOS	Date of Service
EACS	Enhanced alternative cost sharing
EIN	Employer Identification Number
GDCA	Gross Drug Cost Above the Out-Of-Pocket Threshold
GDCB	Gross Drug Cost Below the Out-Of-Pocket Threshold
HICN	Health Insurance Claim number
HIPAA	Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996
I/T/U	Indian Health Service/Tribe/Tribal organization/Urban Indian program
LICS	Low-income cost-sharing subsidy
MA	Medicare Advantage
MA-PD	Medicare Advantage Prescription Drug plan
MMA	Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement, and Modernization Act of 2003
MSP	Medicare as Secondary Payer
NCPDP	National Council for Prescription Drug Programs
NDC	National Drug Code
NPI	National Provider Identifier
NPP	Non-covered Plan Paid Amount
OHI	Other Health Insurance
OON	Out-of-Network
OOP	Out-of-Pocket
OTC	Over-the-counter
PACE	Program of All Inclusive Care for the Elderly
PAP	Pharmaceutical Assistance Program
PBM	Pharmacy benefit manager
PBP	Plan Benefit Package
PDE	Prescription Drug Event
PDFS	Prescription Drug Front-End System
PDP	Prescription drug plan Private fee-for-service
PFFS	
PLRO	Patient Liability Reduction due to Other Payer Amount
POS RRB	Point of sale Railroad Retirement Board
SPAP	State Pharmaceutical Assistance Program
TIN	Tax Identification Number
Troop	True out-of-pocket
UPIN	Unique Provider Identification Number



# **CMS WEB RESOURCES**

Aspen Systems Corporation

The PACE PDE information in this module is accurate as of August 17, 2005. See front cover letter for more information regarding sources of updated information.



CMS Main Page http://www.cms.hhs.gov

#### Medicare Modernization Act - Prescription Drug Benefit/Medicare Advantage Programs Main Page http://www.cms.hhs.gov/medicarereform/pdbma/

Medicare Modernization Act - Prescription Drug Benefit/Medicare Advantage Programs - Prescription Drug Plan Information Page http://www.cms.hhs.gov/medicarereform/pdbma/pdp.asp

Prescription Drug Plan Implementation Materials Page <a href="http://www.cms.hhs.gov/pdps/">http://www.cms.hhs.gov/pdps/</a>

Advance Notice of Methodological Changes for Calendar Year (CY) 2006 Medicare Advantage (MA) Payment Rates (45-Day Notice) http://www.cms.hhs.gov/healthplans/rates/2006/45-day.pdf

Announcement of Calendar Year (CY) 2006 Medicare Advantage Payment Rates (April 4, 2005) http://www.cms.hhs.gov/healthplans/rates/2006/cover.pdf

Medicare Managed Care Manual http://cms.hhs.gov/manuals/116\_mmc/mc86toc.asp

Rate Book Information http://cms.hhs.gov/healthplans/rates/

**Risk Adjustment Models** http://cms.hhs.gov/healthplans/rates/

Healthplans Page http://www.cms.hhs.gov/healthplans/

Risk Adjustment Page http://www.cms.hhs.gov/healthplans/riskadj

Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA) Page <a href="http://www.cms.hhs.gov/hipaa/">http://www.cms.hhs.gov/hipaa/</a>

Quarterly Provider Updates http://www.cms.hhs.gov/providerupdate/main.asp

Operational Policy Letters http://cms.hhs.gov/healthplans/opl/

Aspen Systems Corporation

4

The PACE PDE information in this module is accurate as of August 17, 2005. See front cover letter for more information regarding sources of updated information.



#### **Official Meeting Notices**

http://cms.hhs.gov/providerupdate/notices.asp

Medicare Beneficiary Database User's Manual <a href="http://cms.hhs.gov/healthplans/systems/mcouserguide.pdf">http://cms.hhs.gov/healthplans/systems/mcouserguide.pdf</a>



# **CMS REFERENCE DOCUMENTS**



#### Health Plan Management System (HPMS)

HPMS is a CMS information system that provides plan-level information.

#### Accessing HPMS

- Access to HPMS is accomplished via the Medicare Data Communications Network (MDCN).
- A User ID is required for HPMS access. If you do not currently have access, complete the "Access to CMS Computer Systems" form available at <a href="http://cms.hhs.gov/mdcn/hdcidform.asp">http://cms.hhs.gov/mdcn/hdcidform.asp</a> or at the end of this Resource Guide.

If plans experience difficulty logging into HPMS, please contact Don Freeburger (<u>dfreeburger@cms.hhs.gov</u>) 410-786-4586 or Neetu Balani (<u>nbalani@cms.hhs.gov</u>) 410-786-2548.



June 23, 2005

NOTE TO: Medicare Advantage Organizations, Prescription Drug Plan Sponsors, and Other Interested Parties

SUBJECT: Updated Instructions: Requirements for Submitting Prescription Drug Event Data to CMS

Today CMS issues an updated version of the instructions to plans and the format file for submitting prescription drug event (PDE) data, in accordance with Subpart G of the Title I Final Rule and §1860D-15 of the MMA. The changes from our previous posting on April 12<sup>th</sup> are largely technical in nature, summarized as follows:

Changes to instructions

- So that PDE instructions for all plans are available in one document, we inserted into this document the PDE instructions for PACE and payment demonstration plans that we previously posted on May 10th. Those instructions now comprise Sections 14 and 15 of the document we are releasing today **and there are no changes from the guidance we previously released.** However, payment demonstration plans should continue to reference the May 10<sup>th</sup> Notice for demonstration plans, which still contains guidance and other background material on the payment demonstration concept and remains available only at <a href="http://www.cms.hhs.gov/pdps/PmntNtcNRskAdjMdl.asp">http://www.cms.hhs.gov/pdps/PmntNtcNRskAdjMdl.asp</a>.
- We deleted Drug Coverage Status Code = X since Part C dollars cannot be used to directly fund supplemental drugs.
- Section 1 now cross-references data element and format numbers.
- We now use costs above the OOP threshold (GDCA) as the numerator in the ratio when applying DIR to allowable reinsurance costs. This is mathematically equivalent to the previous formula but we believe it is a more intuitive structure.
- In the target amount, we detailed how administrative costs will be calculated, consistent with the bid process.
- Added one new field, Dispensing Status, also a key field. There is a brief related paragraph added in Adjustment Deletion section.
- Added additional values for Service Provider ID and Prescriber ID to provide additional reporting options pending full NPI implementation. See associated format rules.

Changes to the format

- Added Dispensing Status and made it a key field when pharmacies issue partial fills, the Dispensing Status field identifies the partial fill and the subsequent completion. Note that DDPS does not support multiple partial fills.
- Added additional values for Service Provider ID and Prescriber ID to provide additional reporting options pending full NPI implementation.

*Prescriber ID and Prescriber ID Qualifier* - Although DEA is the preferred identifier for Prescriber ID and state license number is the second preferred identifier, plans may use UPIN or NPI (if issued) as alternatives.

*Provider Service ID and Provider Service ID Qualifier* - In non-standard format only, plans may use any of the following 4 identifiers to report Provider Service ID: UPIN, State License No, Federal Tax Number or "PAPERCLAIM." "PAPERCLAIM" is the default value assigned by the TrOOP Facilitator. These alternatives may be especially helpful when the prescribing physician also dispenses the drug. Note that in standard format, NCPDP Number or NPI (if issued) is required for Service Provider ID.

- Corrected descriptions of Compound Code values.
- Changed Sales Tax field name to Total Amount Attributed to Sales Tax to clarify that plans must report total sales tax regardless of whether the sales tax is calculated as a flat amount or a percentage. Re-categorized field to "CMS defined."
- Corrected format of Prescription Service Reference No to numeric and added instructions to left justify the field.
- Made revisions to comply with Drug Coverage Status Code change discussed in the Instructions. The value "X" = Non-covered drug, MA plan only is no longer a valid value.
- Deleted BHD Date from BHD Record.

We appreciate the feedback we have received to date, and we look forward to working with plans in upcoming training sessions and other forums where we will review the instructions and format and answer questions.

Please address questions on the instructions to Ann Marshall (<u>ann.marshall@cms.hhs.gov</u> or 410-786-3059). Please address questions on the format to Sandra Anderson (sandra.anderson@cms.hhs.gov or 410-786-5643). You can also submit questions to our MMA Q&A Database at <u>http://uat.bcinow.com/mmadatabase/PolicyForm.asp</u>.

/s/ Robert J. Donnelly Director Medicare Drug Benefit Group



# INSTRUCTIONS: REQUIREMENTS FOR SUBMITTING PRESCRIPTION DRUG EVENT DATA

October 27, 2005

#### INSTRUCTIONS: REQUIREMENTS FOR SUBMITTING PRESCRIPTION DRUG EVENT DATA

#### **Table of Contents**

Introduction

- i. Background
- ii. Overview of contents
- Section 1. Data Submission Requirements
  - 1.1 Prescription Drug Event (PDE) record
  - 1.2 Audit Trails
  - 1.3 Drug Data Processing System (DDPS)
  - 1.4 Data submission requirements for payment and reconciliation
    - 1.4.1 Data submission during the coverage year
    - 1.4.2 Data submission at the end of the coverage year
  - 1.5 Appeals
- Section 2. Data Elements for PDE records
- Section 3. Key fields to uniquely identify a PDE record
- Section 4. PDE records with non-standard data format source
- Section 5. Drug Coverage Status
- Section 6. Adjustment/Deletion Process
- Section 7. Enhanced Alternative Benefits
  - 7.1 Definition
  - 7.2 Identifying enhanced alternative benefits for exclusion from payment
  - 7.3 Reporting enhanced alternative cost sharing

Section 8. True Out-of-Pocket (TrOOP) and Other Payers

- 8.1 What is TrOOP
- 8.2 Why TrOOP matters
- 8.3 What counts towards TrOOP
- 8.4 Plan accountability for TrOOP accounting
- 8.5 What CMS will do to assist plan TrOOP accounting and benefits coordination
- 8.6 PDE fields that report TrOOP information

Section 9. Retroactive changes in TrOOP

Table 1A. Retroactive TrOOP Changes: Reported as Administered

Table 1B. Retroactive TrOOP Changes: Reported as Adjustment Records

Section 10. Low-Income Cost-Sharing Subsidy (LICS)

10.1 Definition

10.2 Reporting requirements

10.3 PDE examples

Section 11. Direct and Indirect Remuneration (DIR)

11.1 Definition

11.2 Reporting requirements

Section 12. Reinsurance

12.1 Definition

12.2 Apportioning DIR to reinsurance costs

12.3 Calculating allowable reinsurance costs for reconciliation

Section 13. Risk-sharing (risk corridor payment adjustments)

13.1 Definition

13.2 Calculating risk-sharing payment adjustments for reconciliation

13.3 Limited risk plans

Section 14. Special instructions for PACE organizations

14.1 Two types of PACE plans

14.2 Rules for populating PDE fields

14.3 Arraying the costs of dual eligible enrollees

14.4 Arraying the costs of Medicare-only enrollees

Section 15. Special instructions for payment demonstration plans

15.1 Overview

15.2 Rules for populating PDE fields: flexible and fixed capitation options

15.3 Examples: flexible capitation option

15.4 Examples: fixed capitation option

15.5 Examples: MA rebate option

15.6 Payment reconciliation: flexible and fixed capitation options

#### Glossary of Acronyms

#### Introduction

#### i. Background

In December 2003, Congress passed the Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement, and Modernization Act, amending the Social Security Act (herein referred to as "the Act") by adding Part D under Title XVIII. Under the new Medicare benefit, the Act allows Medicare payment to plans that contract with CMS to provide qualified Part D prescription drug coverage as described in 42 CFR §423.401. For simplicity in this paper, we use the term "plans" to refer to these entities that provide Part D benefits and that must submit claims data to CMS for payment calculations.

The Act provides four summary mechanisms for paying plans:

- 1. direct subsidies
- 2. premium and cost-sharing subsidies for qualifying low-income individuals (low-income subsidy)
- 3. federal reinsurance subsidies
- 4. risk sharing

As a condition of payment, all Part D plans must submit data and information necessary for CMS to carry out payment provisions (§1860D-15(c)(1)(C) and (d)(2) of the Act, and 42 CFR §423.322). This document describes how CMS will implement the statutory payment mechanisms by collecting a limited subset of data elements on 100 percent of prescription drug "claims" or events. We describe the required data submission per event, the mode and frequency of submission, and how the data will be used to make payment and conduct reconciliation. These requirements apply to all Part D plans as defined in §423.401 unless separate instructions are issued. PACE organizations and payment demonstration plans should especially note Sections 14 and 15 where we define special rules for submitting their data.

These instructions are the result of extensive communication and consultation both within and outside the agency. We have incorporated feedback from industry and other stakeholders obtained by both formal and informal means including the rulemaking process, Open Door Forums, and other consultation. In determining requirements, we applied four criteria:

- 1. Ability to pay plans timely and accurately under the four legislated payment mechanisms;
- 2. Minimal administrative burden on CMS, plans, and other entities including MA-PDs, PDPs, fallback plans, pharmacy benefit managers, pharmacies, and others;
- 3. Legislative authority; and
- 4. Validity and reliability of the data requested, to ensure that the information will be useful.

Much of the data, especially dollar fields, will be used primarily for payment. However, some of the other data elements such as pharmacy and prescriber identifiers will be used for validation of the claims as well as for other legislated functions such as quality monitoring, program integrity, and oversight. In addition, we note that this paper only covers data collected on claims and does

not cover data CMS may collect from plans through other mechanisms, for example monitoring plan formularies and beneficiary appeals.

#### ii. Overview of contents

Every time a beneficiary fills a prescription covered under Part D, plans must submit a summary record called the prescription drug event (PDE) record to CMS. The PDE record contains prescription drug cost and payment data that will enable CMS to make payment to plans and otherwise administer the Part D benefit. Specifically, the PDE record will include covered drug costs above and below the out-of-pocket threshold; distinguish enhanced alternative costs from the costs of drugs provided under the standard benefit; and will record payments made by Part D plan sponsors, other payers, and by or on behalf of beneficiaries. Plans must also identify costs that contribute towards a beneficiary's true-out-of-pocket or TrOOP limit, separated into three categories: low-income cost-sharing subsidy amounts paid by the plan at the point of sale (POS), beneficiary payments, and all TrOOP-eligible payments made by qualified entities on behalf of a beneficiary.

The submitted data components fit together to allow calculation of payment under the four legislated payment mechanisms. Specifically, CMS will use the data to reconcile low-income cost-sharing subsidy and reinsurance payments and to implement risk sharing between the plan and the federal government through risk corridor payment adjustments. In future years, the drug utilization data may be added to the risk adjustment model for the direct subsidy. CMS will also use PDE data to verify plan administration of TrOOP.

Section 1 defines a PDE record. Many electronic transactions take place between plans, pharmacies, and intermediaries when an enrollee fills a prescription. This process allows determination of patient cost sharing at the point of sale by plan adjudication of the claim, and drives eventual plan payment to the pharmacy. In Section 1, CMS defines the summary claim record plans must submit to CMS, which only contains information that is vital for payment (and, in a few instances, quality oversight or program integrity). We also lay out submission deadlines and rules that apply if a plan fails to provide timely, adequate data for payment or reconciliation.

Section 2 lists the data elements that are required on PDE records submitted to CMS. We provide brief definitions of each data element and how the data field shall be populated. Section 3 lays out a subset of these data elements that together will enable CMS to identify a unique PDE record. CMS needs to be able to identify unique events in order to process adjustments and deletions for PDE record corrections.

Section 4 deals with the issue of how plans will submit PDE records to CMS when claims originate in a non-standard format, for example beneficiary submitted paper claims and 837 claim formats. In a limited number of instances, plans will receive claims from non-standard sources that will not include enough data to populate all data elements listed in Section 2. Since the plan will then have incomplete data to pass on electronically to CMS for payment, CMS will waive the requirement for the full set of data elements and instead rely on selected elements and

accept certain default values. This section lists the minimum required data set for this exceptional circumstance.

Section 5 defines drugs that are covered under the statute's Medicare Part D benefit and/or the Plan Benefit Package (PBP) versus those that are not. Modifiers on PDE records will enable CMS to distinguish costs that must be included or excluded from payment and/or true out-of-pocket costs (TrOOP).

In Section 6, we describe the process for making adjustments and deletions to previously submitted PDE records. Section 7 discusses the mechanisms to identify enhanced alternative (EA) benefits on PDE records. Medicare does not pay for enhanced alternative benefits (cost-sharing fill-in or coverage of non-Part D drugs) that extend beyond that standard or basic benefit defined in the Act; these benefits must not be counted towards TrOOP, low-income subsidies, or reinsurance or risk corridor payments. Therefore, we have developed a schema for disaggregating the costs that are attributable to enhanced alternative coverage. Section 7 also provides key instructions and examples for populating PDE dollar fields in accordance with specific rules for mapping standard versus EA benefits.

In Section 8, we define TrOOP and the process plans must use to segment out the dollar amounts that must be counted towards TrOOP. We provide a brief overview of the TrOOP facilitator and COB contracts, and describe a schema for identifying payments that count towards TrOOP and those that do not. Section 9 discusses the process for adjusting PDE records for revisions in TrOOP accounting within a coverage year.

Section 10 explains the low-income cost-sharing subsidy (LICS) payment provision of the law. We define LICS and describe how CMS will pay plans interim amounts in 2006. We then lay out the methodology for tracking actual LICS expenditures on the PDE record as they are incurred by plans, so that interim payments and incurred amounts can be reconciled. Finally, we provide some examples of how to populate PDE records for LICS-eligible beneficiaries under different plan benefit packages.

Section 11 addresses the requirements of the Act that covered drug costs must be incurred and actually paid by the Part D sponsor, net of any direct or indirect remuneration that decreases the costs incurred by the Part D sponsor for the drug (§1860D-15(b)(2) and (e)(1)(b), 42 CFR §423.308). CMS must exclude such direct and indirect remuneration (referred to in this document as DIR) from allowable reinsurance and risk corridor costs. In Section 11, we define DIR and detail reporting requirements. This section is not a comprehensive discussion of DIR cost accounting; rather, we only address aspects that are intrinsic to reinsurance and risk corridor calculations.

Sections 12 and 13 are devoted to reinsurance and risk corridors. Previous sections describe many of the data elements and calculations that will ultimately be used to conduct final reconciliation and calculate risk sharing dollars as detailed in Sections 12 and 13. Section 12 defines reinsurance and describes how we will determine allowable reinsurance costs from PDE data for reconciliation against interim payments. We describe how CMS will allocate DIR

6

dollars in reconciling reinsurance. Section 13 is devoted to defining risk corridors and explaining how we will calculate adjusted allowable risk corridor costs from PDE data for payment adjustment in reconciliation. We also discuss how we will allocate DIR dollars to risk corridor costs.

Finally, we provide special rules pertaining to PACE organizations and payment demonstration plans in Sections 14 and 15. We conclude the document with a glossary of acronyms.

#### Section 1. Data Submission Requirements

#### 1.1 Prescription Drug Event (PDE) Record

For each dispensing event, the plan must submit a prescription drug event or PDE record. Most organizations or sponsoring entities will use a pharmacy benefit manager (PBM) or other third party administrator to process incoming claims from pharmacies. Claims typically undergo several rounds of transactions between these parties before the plan finally adjudicates a claim for payment. The PDE is a summary record that documents the final adjudication of a dispensing event. Section 2 lists the required set of data elements for all PDE records (15 data elements from the NCPDP billing transaction, 5 data elements from the NCPDP billing response transaction, and 17 data elements defined by CMS for purposes of administering Part D, for a total of 37 data elements).

#### 1.2Audit Trails

The PDE record summarizes multiple transactions. The plan must maintain audit trails to PDE source data. CMS expects that the plan will be able to directly link any PDE to the individual claim transactions from which the PDE was extracted and replicate the summarization. All PDE data is expected to represent the service components as defined for coverage under a given data field. CMS intends to conduct audits of PDE data to ensure the accuracy of payment. CMS will publish further information on audit methodology at a later date.

#### 1.3 Drug Data Processing System (DDPS)

The Drug Data Processing System (DDPS) is the information system that collects, validates, and stores PDE data received from plans or their designee.

*DDPS Information Flow* PDE records enter DDPS through the Prescription Drug Front-End System (PDFS) in a CMS defined record format. The PDFS initially performs format and face validity checks. Once the file has passed the front-end checks, it moves through the DDPS where detail level edits are performed and the data are stored.

#### 1.4 Data submission requirements for payment and reconciliation

As a condition of payment, all Part D plans must submit data and information necessary for CMS to carry out payment provisions (\$1860D-15(c)(1)(C) and (d)(2) of the Act, and 42 CFR \$423.322). Plans may designate another entity to submit claims for them to CMS, but plans remain responsible for data submission and content as required under \$423.505(k)(3). Note that data submission and payment recovery provisions apply even in the event of a change in ownership.

Plans must submit PDE records for events that fall within the coverage gap of the benefit, even if the plan makes no expenditure in this part of the benefit. Finally, note that by statutory definition, a coverage year corresponds to a calendar year (§1860D-15(b)(4)).

#### 1.4.1 Data submission during the coverage year

8

In the first year of the benefit (2006), plans or a plan's designee must submit PDE records electronically to CMS according to the following schedule:

- Test file due to CMS by January 31, 2006
- First production file (actual records) due to CMS by the end of the first quarter (March 31, 2006)
- Thereafter, PDE records must be submitted to CMS electronically at least once a month.

Throughout the coverage year, CMS will monitor plan data submission levels to detect plans with submission volumes lower than expected. Low submission patterns often indicate technical or system problems. We will work with plans in an attempt to correct submission problems before the end of the year so they can meet reconciliation submission deadlines. However, the Act places ultimate responsibility on the plan to submit adequate data for payment.

#### 1.4.2 Data submission at the end of the coverage year

PDE records, adjustments, or deletions that are received after the end of the fifth month of the subsequent coverage year will not be considered in reconciliation (§423.308). As prescribed in legislation, a coverage year corresponds to a calendar year. Thus, prescription drug claims including adjustments for all dates of service within calendar year 2006 must be submitted to CMS by May 31, 2007 in order to be processed for payment reconciliation.

Cost information (DIR, LICS, and risk corridor costs) is required within sixth months of the end of the coverage year (§423.343) in order to be considered for payment and reconciliation. Thus, DIR for all dates of service within calendar year 2006 must be submitted to CMS by June 30, 2007.

Late submission or submission of insufficient data to conduct reconciliation may result in payment recovery through a lump-sum recovery; by adjusting or ceasing monthly payments throughout the remainder of a coverage year; or by adjusting monthly payments in a subsequent year. These rules apply to all four types of Part D payment, including risk adjustment data although it is not discussed in this document. For requirements on submitting data for risk adjustment, see the Medicare Managed Care Manual Chapter 7 available at <a href="http://www.cms.hhs.gov/manuals/116\_mmc/mc86c07.pdf">http://www.cms.hhs.gov/manuals/116\_mmc/mc86c07.pdf</a>.

- **LICS** In 2006, since CMS is collecting cost data on LICS via PDE records instead of cost reports, Part D plans must provide documentation of LICS amounts on PDE records within the claims submission deadline (by the end of the fifth month of the next coverage year) to avoid recovery of interim amounts paid to plans for which no data are available.
- **Reinsurance** If a Part D sponsor does not provide DIR data within six months of the end of the coverage year, CMS may recover interim monthly reinsurance payments for which no data are available.
- **Risk corridor payment** For risk-sharing arrangements, if allowable costs submitted in the prescribed periods sum to less than 50 percent of the plan's target amount, CMS will

assume or impute that the entity's adjusted allowable risks corridor costs are 50 percent of the target amount (§423.343).

# 1.5 Appeals

As described in the final rule §423.350, Part D sponsors may appeal final payment decisions if the sponsor believes the payment methodology described in the final Part D rule and in interpretive guidance has not been applied correctly. Under no circumstances may this process be used to submit new payment information after established deadlines.

# Section 2. Data Elements for PDE records

In this section, we list the required data elements that must be submitted on PDE records for payment. We employ the National Council for Prescription Drug Programs (NCPDP) industry standard whenever possible. Most data elements represent existing NCPDP fields where we employ the same definition and field values that are currently in use per the NCPDP version 5.1 drug claim standard. CMS has also drafted several new fields for data that are not currently collected on industry drug claims but that are necessary for us to pay plans in accordance with the new law. All fields are consistent with NCPDP formatting. It is not our intent to change NCPDP standards; the NCPDP format is developed independently from CMS.

This section defines each data element and its specific potential use for CMS's payment process: **1. Contract Number** (Format cross reference - **BHD 3**)

This field contains the unique number CMS assigns to each contract that a Part D plan has with CMS. This data will be collected in the file header.

# 2. Plan Benefit Package (PBP) ID (Format cross reference - BHD 4)

This field will contain the unique number CMS assigns to identify a specific PBP within a contract. DDPS will utilize this data to ensure that each beneficiary's claims are being attributed to the appropriate PBP, i.e., the PBP in which the beneficiary is enrolled.

# 3. Claim Control Number (Format cross reference - DET 3)

This field is an optional, free-form field. It may be used by plans to identify unique events they have submitted to DDPS or for any other plan purpose. The data in this field will be reported back to a plan in the event a batch or individual record is rejected at some point in processing.

# 4. Health Insurance Claim Number (HICN) (Format cross reference - DET 4)

This field will contain the unique number that the Social Security Administration assigns to identify every Medicare beneficiary. For Railroad Retirement Board (RRB) beneficiaries, plans will use the RRB number in this field instead of a HICN. From here forward, when we refer to HICN, we mean HICN or RRB# as appropriate. Plans must use other identifiers as member numbers (e.g., for plan membership cards). Plans must then translate their member number or cardholder ID to the beneficiary's correct HICN. All drug events submitted to DDPS must use the HICN, which ensures that DDPS assigns drug event data to the appropriate beneficiary. The

HICN will also permit linkage of Part D drug event data to Parts A and B claims data, eligibility and enrollment data, and risk adjustment data.

#### 5. Cardholder ID (Format cross reference - DET 5)

We will collect the plan-assigned number used to identify the beneficiary. This number verifies beneficiary identity and will be used to help plans map transactions to their databases and for program oversight functions.

#### 6. Patient Date of Birth (DOB) (Format cross reference - DET 6)

Patient date of birth (DOB) is optional and will be used in conjunction with HICN and gender to verify beneficiary identity. It will be used as a cross-reference to ensure the event has identified the correct beneficiary.

# 7. Patient Gender (Format cross reference - DET 7)

Together with HICN and DOB, gender confirms the identity of the beneficiary.

# 8. Date of Service (DOS) (Format cross reference - DET 8)

Date of Service (DOS) is the date on which the prescription was filled. This field should **not** contain the date on which the plan pays for the services or subsequent adjustments to the original event.

# 9. Paid Date (Format cross reference - DET 9)

This field shall be populated with the date the plan originally paid the pharmacy for the prescription drug. (If the plan subsequently adjusts payment, the plan will report the original paid date in the adjustment PDE.) Paid Date is a mandatory field for fallback plans, and is **optional** for all other plan types. CMS will use Paid Date to reconcile drug costs reported on PDE records to withdrawals for drug costs from the fallback plan's draw-down account.

The following two fields pertain to identifying the pharmacy where the prescription was dispensed:

#### 10. Service Provider ID Qualifier (Format cross reference - DET 13)

This field indicates the type of provider identifier used in field 11 (Service Provider ID).

# 11. Service Provider ID (Format cross reference - DET 14)

This field identifies the pharmacy where the prescription was filled. This data helps CMS identify a unique prescription drug event (see Section 3). CMS will transition to use of the national provider identifier (NPI) when it is implemented. In the interim, this field will typically contain the NCPDP number, which all NCPDP billers are assigned. Some Part D service providers (e.g., home infusion, physicians when providing vaccines) will not have NCPDP numbers. For these providers, the federal Tax Identification Number (TIN) or Employer Identification Number (EIN) will be the required identifier.

The following two fields pertain to identifying the prescriber:

# 12. Prescriber ID Qualifier (Format cross reference - DET 21)

This field indicates the type of identifier that is used in the Prescriber ID field.

# 13. Prescriber ID (Format cross reference - DET 22)

This field will contain the prescriber's unique identification number. CMS will transition to use of the national provider identifier (NPI) when it is implemented. In the interim, CMS requires use of a DEA number whenever it uniquely identifies the prescriber and is allowed by state law. In other cases, the prescriber's state license number or Unique Provider Identification Number (UPIN#) shall be used.

# 14. Prescription/Service Reference Number (Format cross reference - DET 10)

This field will contain the prescription reference number assigned by the pharmacy at the time the prescription is filled. It enables DDPS to identify a unique prescription drug event (see Section 3).

# 15. Product/Service ID (Format cross reference - DET 12)

This field identifies the dispensed drug using a National Drug Code (NDC). NDC will be reported in NDC11 format. In instances where a pharmacy formulates a compound containing multiple NDC drugs, the NDC of the most expensive drug shall be used.

# 16. Compound Code (Format cross reference - DET 17)

This field will indicate whether or not the dispensed drug was compounded or mixed. This distinction will ensure that correct payments are made to the plan for mixed or compounded drugs. Plans may adjust the dispensing fee to include additional labor costs in the delivery of the compounded pharmaceutical item.

# 17. DAW/Product Selection Code (Format cross reference - DET 18)

This field will indicate the prescriber's instruction regarding substitution of generic equivalents or order to dispense the specific product written.

# 18. Quantity Dispensed (Format cross reference - DET 19)

This field indicates how many dosage units of the medication were dispensed in the current drug event (e.g., number of tablets, grams, milliliters, or other unit).

# 19. Days Supply (Format cross reference - DET 20)

This field indicates the number of days' supply of medication dispensed by the pharmacy and will consist of the amount the pharmacy enters for the prescription.

# 20. Fill Number (Format cross reference - DET 15)

This field indicates the number fill of the current dispensed supply.

# 21. Dispensing Status (Format cross reference - DET 16)

This field indicates how the pharmacy dispensed the complete quantity of the prescription. When the pharmacy partially fills a prescription, this field indicates a partial fill. When the full quantity is dispensed at one time, this field is blank.

When the pharmacy dispenses a partial fill, the plan has the option to submit two PDE records, one for the partial fill and a second for completion of the partial fill. If the plan prefers, the plan can defer PDE submission for a reasonable amount of time until the plan receives transactions for both the partial and complete fill. At that point, the plan may summarize the multiple transactions in a single PDE, reporting a blank in Dispensing Status.

# 22. Drug Coverage Status Code (Format cross reference - DET 23)

This field indicates whether or not the drug is covered under the Medicare Part D benefit and/or a specific PBP (see Section 5).

# 23. Adjustment/Deletion Code (Format cross reference - DET 24)

This field distinguishes original from adjusted or deleted PDE records so that the DDPS can adjust claims and make accurate payment for revised PDE records

# 24. Non-Standard Format Code (Format cross reference - DET 25)

This data element will be used by DDPS to identify PDE records that are compiled from nonstandard sources. NCPDP is the standard format in which plans receive data from pharmacies. Section 4 identifies non-standard data sources in more detail and gives direction for compiling PDE records using data received in non-standard formats.

# 25. Out-of-Network (OON) Code (Format cross reference - DET 26)

This field reports an out-of-network service.

#### 26. Catastrophic Coverage Code (Format cross reference - DET 27)

This field indicates that a beneficiary has reached the out-of-pocket (OOP) threshold or attachment point. At this point, catastrophic coverage provisions begin, namely reinsurance and reduced beneficiary cost sharing (see Section 8).

The following three data elements represent the amounts we will use from PDE records to determine costs that qualify for payment under the Medicare benefit:

#### 27. Ingredient Cost Paid (Format cross reference - DET 28)

This field will contain the amount paid to the pharmacy for the drug itself. Dispensing fees or other costs shall not be included in this amount except as allowed on non-standard format claims as discussed in Section 4.

#### 28. Dispensing Fee Paid (Format cross reference - DET 29)

This field will contain amounts paid to the pharmacy for dispensing the medication. Include only those activities related to the transfer of possession the drug from the pharmacy to the beneficiary, including charges associated with mixing drugs, delivery, and overhead as delineated in the final rule §423.100 and the preamble to the rule. No other costs shall be included in this field. The fee may be negotiated with pharmacies at the plan or PBM level.

# 29. Total Amount Attributed to Sales Tax (Format cross reference - DET 30)

This field shall contain the sum of all amounts paid to the pharmacy to cover sales tax.

Under Part D, benefits change for both the plan and beneficiary when a beneficiary reaches the out-of-pocket (OOP) threshold or attachment point. To facilitate reconciliation and monitoring benefit provisions on either side of the threshold, two fields on every PDE record will report total costs for covered drugs (see Section 5) as falling above or below the OOP threshold. For a PDE where a beneficiary reaches the OOP threshold or attachment point, there may be costs on either side of the threshold. The fields will be populated as follows:

# 30. Gross Drug Cost Below Out-Of-Pocket Threshold (GDCB)

# (Format cross reference - DET 31)

This field represents the gross drug cost (Ingredient Cost Paid + Dispensing Fee Paid + Total Amount Attributed to Sales Tax) paid to the pharmacy below the OOP threshold for a given PDE for a covered drug as defined in Section 5. For claims before a beneficiary has reached the attachment point, this field will list a positive dollar amount. For claims above the attachment point, this field will have a zero dollar value. For a claim on which the attachment point is reached, there will be a positive dollar amount in this field and there is likely to be a positive dollar amount in the GDCA field.

# 31. Gross Drug Cost Above Out-Of-Pocket Threshold (GDCA)

# (Format cross reference - DET 32)

This field represents the gross drug cost (Ingredient Cost Paid + Dispensing Fee Paid + Total Amount Attributed to Sales Tax) paid to the pharmacy above the OOP threshold for a given PDE for a covered drug as defined in Section 5. For claims before a beneficiary has reached the attachment point, this field will list a zero dollar amount. For claims above the attachment point, this field will have a positive dollar value. For a claim on which the attachment point is reached, there is likely to be a positive dollar amount in this field and there will be a positive dollar amount in the GDCB field.

# 32. Patient Pay Amount (Format cross reference - DET 33)

This field lists the dollar amount the beneficiary paid that is not reimbursed by a third party (e.g., copayments, coinsurance, deductible or other patient pay amounts). This amount contributes to a beneficiary's TrOOP only when it is payment for a covered drug as defined in Section 5. Plans are responsible for ensuring that beneficiaries are charged amounts that are consistent with their benefit packages as approved in the bidding process.

Note: Payments actually made by a beneficiary shall be recorded in this field, and we expect amounts paid by friends or family to also be reported under Patient Pay Amount. However, other third party payments made on behalf of a beneficiary that contribute to TrOOP shall be reported in the Other TrOOP Amount or LICS fields, and payments that do not contribute to TrOOP shall be reported in the PLRO field.

The following three data elements distinguish sources of subsidized payments that may be made on behalf of beneficiaries to reduce their cost-sharing liability. DDPS separates beneficiary liability amounts into Patient Pay Amount and these three fields to allow distinctions that are important to TrOOP accumulation and risk corridor cost calculation:

# 33. Other TrOOP Amount (Format cross reference - DET 34)

This field records all qualified third party payments that contribute to a beneficiary's TrOOP, except for LICS and Patient Pay Amount. Examples include payments made on behalf of a beneficiary by qualified SPAPs, charities, or other TrOOP-eligible parties.

Note: LICS amounts and payments by beneficiaries or friends or family, which count towards TrOOP, shall **not** be reported in this field; they are reported in the LICS and Patient Pay Amount fields. Also, the Other TrOOP field does **not** include payments by other parties that do not contribute to TrOOP; those amounts are reported in the PLRO field.

#### 34. Low-Income Cost-Sharing Subsidy Amount (LICS)

#### (Format cross reference - **DET 35**)

The Act provides for Medicare payments to plans to subsidize the cost-sharing liability of qualifying low-income beneficiaries at the point of sale (see Section 10). In accordance with statutory language, we refer to these amounts as Low-Income Cost-Sharing Subsidies or LICS amounts. The LICS field will contain plan-reported LICS amounts per drug event, so that CMS systems can reconcile prospective LICS payments made to plans with actual LICS amounts incurred by the plan at POS.

# 35. Patient Liability Reduction due to Other Payer Amount (PLRO)

#### (Format cross reference - DET 36)

This field takes into account coordination of benefits that results in reduced patient liability, excluding any TrOOP-eligible payers. This field shall contain amounts by which patient liability is reduced due to payments by other payers that do not participate in Part D and are not TrOOP-eligible (see Section 8). PLRO amounts are excluded from Part D payment, and the PLRO field documents these benefits so that CMS can exclude them from risk corridor calculations and from TrOOP accumulation. Further instruction on populating the PLRO field is provided in Section 8.

Note: This field should **not** include payments or other patient liability reductions due to coverage under qualified SPAPs or any other TrOOP-eligible third party payer. All TrOOP-eligible amounts should be reported in the Patient Pay Amount field (if paid by the beneficiary, family, or friends) or in Other TrOOP Amount (if paid by another qualified third party). To facilitate reconciliation, the following two fields report the net amount the plan has incurred on a PDE for standard or enhanced alternative benefits:

# 36. Covered D Plan Paid Amount (CPP) (Format cross reference - DET 37)

This field shall contain the net amount the plan paid for standard benefits (covered Part D drugs – see Sections 5, 7). In other words, the field reports the plan-paid amount for drugs with Drug Coverage Code = C. If Drug Coverage Code = E or O, the CPP field is zero. DDPS will use this field to facilitate reconciliation calculations, especially determining allowable risk corridor costs.

# 37. Non-covered Plan Paid Amount (NPP) (Format cross reference - DET 38)

This field shall contain the net amount paid by the plan for benefits beyond the standard benefit. Thus, this value includes all over-the-counter drugs, enhanced alternative drugs, and enhanced alternative cost-sharing amounts (see Sections 5, 7). The amount recorded in NPP is excluded from risk corridor payment and from TrOOP accumulation. DDPS may also use this data to assure that coverage provisions are in accordance with the approved plan benefit structure from its bid.

# Section 3. Key fields to uniquely identify PDE record

Of the fields outlined above, we will use the following six fields to identify a single unique prescription drug event. A change in any of the following six fields indicates a different event:

HICN Service Provider Prescription/Service Reference Number Date of Service Fill Number Dispensing Status

We used the following rationale to identify the key fields. We included HICN because it is the basic beneficiary identifier in the Medicare program. In the majority of cases, the concatenation of Service Provider, Prescription/Service Reference Number and Fill Number uniquely identify a prescription. Fill Number distinguishes original versus subsequent refills of the same prescription from the same pharmacy. We added Date of Service because some pharmacies report that they reuse prescription numbers. We added Dispensing Status to differentiate between a partial fill and the completion of partial fill. The industry concurred that the concatenation of these six fields guarantees that we will uniquely identify a prescription. See Section 6 on the Adjustment/Deletion process for additional information about processing rules.

#### Section 4. PDE records with non-standard data format source

Since the pharmacy industry is highly automated, plans will almost always receive data electronically in NCPDP format. Therefore, we consider NCPDP 5.1 to be the standard data format for PDE record transactions. However, there are occasions when plans will receive claims in another data format that does not provide some of the information requisite for populating the full set of PDE data elements. For example, plans must accept X12 837 formatted claims from certain providers in accordance with the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 (HIPAA), but the current version of X12 does not disaggregate dispensing fee for populating the NCPDP Dispensing Fee Paid field. On this and other occasions when a plan receives input data from pharmacies in a non-standard format, plans will populate the Non-standard Data Format Code with one of four mutually exclusive values. These values are:

B – submitted by beneficiary

Example: a beneficiary purchases an emergency prescription at an out-of-network (OON) pharmacy and submits a receipt to the plan for reimbursement

X – submitted by provider in X12 format

Example: a home infusion pharmacy submits data in X12 format

P – submitted by provider on paper claim

Example: a physician office submits a hard-copy claim for a Part D covered vaccine or other Part D drug Example: an I/T/U pharmacy faxes a claim to the plan

Example: all 1/1/0 pharmacy faxes a claim to the plan

Example: a 340B pharmacy submits a paper claim to the plan

Blank – NCPDP

Plans shall make every attempt to populate a PDE record completely. CMS recognizes that claims submitted in non-standard data format may not include all data elements necessary to populate a PDE record and that additional processing to add contractual elements would be necessary to produce a PDE record. Therefore, DDPS will suspend certain edits and accept a reduced set of data elements for PDE records compiled from non-standard data sources according to the following instructions:

Optional fields – Prescriber ID Qualifier and Prescriber ID. All other fields must be reported.

Instructions for Ingredient Cost Paid, Dispensing Fee Paid, and Total Amount Attributed to Sales Tax - If the dispensing pharmacy does not disaggregate gross drug cost into these three cost components, the plan may report one dollar value for all three costs under the field Ingredient Cost Paid. However, plans must still populate Dispensing Fee Paid and Total Amount Attributed to Sales Tax with a value = zero; these are not optional fields. Also, any dispensing fee that is reported by the plan under Ingredient Cost Paid shall only consist of the dispensing service that is covered under Part D as defined in the final rule §423.100 and in the preamble to the rule (see Section 2, Data Elements for PDE records, Dispensing Fee Paid). Plans must ensure that PDE records compiled from infusion pharmacy claims or any other claims originating in X12 format comply with the Part D regulatory definition of dispensing fee and all other data elements.

<u>Instructions for Fill Number, DAW, Compound Code, Service Provider ID, Prescription Service</u> <u>Reference Number, and Days Supply</u> – If plans do not have source data to populate these fields, plans will use the following business rules to populate default values:

Fill number – default value is "00"
DAW – default value is "0-No Product Selection Indicated"
Compound Code – default value is "0-not a compound"
Service Provider ID – When a physician who is not registered with NCPDP
dispenses a drug, the plan will report the physician's tax identification number in lieu of the pharmacy's NCPDP (formerly NABP) number in the Service Provider ID field. Plans will report the corresponding value of '10' in the Service Provider ID Qualifier field.
Prescription Service Reference Number – When not available, the plan must assign a unique reference number. A reference number must be unique for any given service provider/DOS combination.
Days Supply – default value = 000

DDPS will monitor submission rates of this reduced data set. We anticipate reviewing the volume of PDEs with non-standard data formats as a percentage of total PDEs. If this percentage is higher than expected, we will conduct further research and we may reconsider use of reduced data requirements for PDEs with source data in non-standard data formats.

Consistent with Section 1.2 Audit Trails, CMS expects a complete audit trail for any PDE compiled from claims that originate in non-standard data format.

#### Section 5. Drug Coverage Status

Under \$1860D-2(e) of the Act, CMS can pay only for drugs that both meet the definition of a "Part D drug" and are approved for coverage under a specific PBP. In this document, we use the term "covered" to refer to these drugs that a plan covers under its basic benefit. Drugs that do not meet these criteria must be excluded from reinsurance subsidy (\$1860D-15(b)(2)), risk corridor calculations (\$1860D-15(e)(1)(B)), low-income cost-sharing subsidy (\$1860D-14 and D-2), and true out-of-pocket costs or TrOOP (\$1860D-2(b)(4)(C)(i)). In implementing these policies, we use the following terminology:

**Part D drug** – any prescription drug described in \$1927(k)(2)(A) of the Act, a vaccine licensed under section 351 of the Public Health Service Act, a biological product described in \$1927(k)(2)(B) of the Act, or insulin described in \$1927(k)(2)(C) and medical supplies associated with the injection of insulin as allowed under \$1860D-2(e)(1)(B). Except for smoking cessation drugs, Part D drugs must be prescribed for the purposes allowed under \$1862(a) and \$1927(d)(2) (e.g., reasonable and necessary guidelines, exclusion of drug classes used for weight loss or cosmetic surgery). Drugs cannot be billed as Part D drugs if they are already covered under Medicare Parts A or B as prescribed, dispensed, or administered (\$1860D-2(e)(2)(B)).

- Covered Part D drug a drug that meets the definition of a Part D drug and is also covered under a PBP, usually because it is on the plan's formulary or because a beneficiary successfully appeals non-coverage. We refer to these drugs as "covered drugs" because they are included in the basic benefit.
- Non-covered Part D drug A drug that meets the definition of a Part D drug but the PBP does not cover it, usually because it is off-formulary or the plan does not find it is reasonable and necessary.

**Non-Part D drug** – any prescription or over-the-counter drug that is not a Part D drug or that is already covered under Medicare Parts A or B as prescribed, dispensed, or administered. In this document, we refer to these drugs as "non-covered" even though a plan may cover some of these drugs as a supplemental benefit or as part of OTC step therapy under an approved formulary. Except for smoking cessation agents, these drugs are described under §1927(d)(2) (e.g., benzodiazepines, weight loss agents, cough and cold relief) and §1862(a) (e.g., drugs used in cosmetic surgery).

# Plans shall only pay for covered Part D drugs ("covered drugs"), with the following exceptions:

1. Supplemental drugs - Enhanced alternative plans may decide to offer some non-Part D prescription drugs as part of their enhanced alternative benefit package (see Section 7.1).

2. OTC drugs employed in step therapy – A plan may cover an over-the-counter (OTC) drug when it is included in approved step therapy protocols that satisfy CMS formulary review. Plans must submit PDE records to DDPS for these drugs, but the drugs will be paid for under plan administrative costs as reported in the bid and will be excluded from other Part D payment calculations based on PDE records.

# Plans are not required to submit claim denials on PDE records. However, they must submit PDE records for any drug they cover, distinguishing three coverage categories:<sup>1</sup>

C – Covered Part D drug ("covered drug")

E – Enhanced alternative drug, a non-Part D drug covered by a plan as a supplement to the standard Part D benefit ("non-covered drug")

O – OTC drug, covered by a plan in keeping with approved formulary step edits ("non-covered drug")

The following examples clarify use of the Drug Coverage Status field values:

Example 1 – A beneficiary presents a prescription for a 30 day supply of hydrochlorothiazide 50 mg tablet, 30 tablets. Hydrochlorothiazide 50 mg tablet is on the plan's formulary. The plan requires no approval steps to dispense or pay. Drug Coverage Status = C.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> We omitted the value = X that designated EA drugs funded using A/B dollars.

The PACE PDE information in this module is accurate as of August 17, 2005. See front cover letter for more information regarding sources of updated information.

Example 2 – A beneficiary presents a prescription for a 30 day supply (30 capsules) for Sporonox 200 mg (itraconazole) Capsules. Itraconazole is on the plan's formulary with prior authorization required. The beneficiary's physician prescribed itraconazole because the beneficiary has onychomycosis, confirmed by histological test (KOH, PAS stain) or culture. Treatment is limited to six months in duration. The clinical information provided by the physician met the authorization requirements. Drug Coverage Status = C.

Example 3 – A beneficiary presents a prescription for a 10 day supply (10 tablets) of Dalmane 15 mg (flurazepam), a benzodiazepine agent. The beneficiary is enrolled to an enhanced alternative plan that offers flurazepam on its plan formulary as a supplemental drug. Medicare Part D does not cover benzodiazepines. However, the plan covers this class of drugs as a supplemental benefit, appropriate for short-term use in healthy beneficiaries under the age of 75. Drug Coverage Status = E.

Example 4 – A plan's approved step therapy protocol requires a beneficiary to fail an initial course of OTC Prilosec before the plan will cover a prescription for proton pump inhibitors (Nexium). A beneficiary presents a prescription for Nexium at the retail pharmacy. The plan informs the pharmacist that the beneficiary must meet a step edit with OTC Prilosec. The pharmacist speaks with the physician and the physician authorizes the pharmacy to change therapy to OTC Prilosec. Drug Coverage Status = O.

#### Section 6. Adjustment/Deletion Process

An adjustment or deletion is any change reported after the original PDE record was submitted. Adjustments and deletion records can report data changes that are critical to Part D. For example, an adjustment record can update delayed reporting of secondary health insurance payments that reduce TrOOP. Alternatively, an adjustment record can update delayed reporting of secondary coverage that does count towards TrOOP, e.g. retroactive determination of lowincome subsidy eligibility, qualified SPAP eligibility, or a payment by a charity. When prescriptions are not picked up by the beneficiary and a PDE has already been submitted, the plan must submit a deletion record.

The DDPS will use the Adjustment/Deletion Code to trigger adjustment/deletion processing. Adjustment/Deletion matching logic requires an eight-field match: the six key fields, Contract Number (reported in the header), and Plan Benefit Package ID. We added Contract Number and PBP ID to reserve adjust/delete rights exclusively to the Contract Number and PBP that authored the original PDE record. When DDPS receives a PDE record with Adjustment/Deletion Code = A (adjustment) or D (deletion), DDPS will search the database for a current active PDE record with matching values in Contract Number, Plan Benefit Package ID, HICN, Service Provider ID, Prescription/Service Reference Number, Date of Service, Fill Number, and Dispensing Status. If the matching current active record is not found, DDPS will return an error message to the plan. DDPS will not assume that the plan submitted an original PDE incorrectly identified as an adjustment or a deletion. If the Adjustment/ Deletion Code = D (deletion), DDPS will inactivate the current active record. If the Adjustment/ Deletion Code = A (adjustment), DDPS will inactivate the current active record and identify the adjustment PDE as the current active record. DDPS will exclude inactivated PDE records from any subsequent calculations for the beneficiary, PBP or Contract.

Since key fields cannot be changed, there is only one mechanism to correct a key field. The plan will submit a deletion PDE for the record in error and submit a new PDE with corrected data elements. This logic has implications for partial fills. DDPS cannot support multiple partial fills. Dispensing Status, the field that documents partial fills (see Section 2), is a key field (see Section 4). DDPS will reject a PDE documenting a multiple partial fill as a duplicate. If a plan receives multiple partial fill transactions, the plan will submit an adjustment record that, in effect combines all partial fill events.

DDPS adjustment processing logic observes several hierarchies. Once a PDE record has been marked as inactive, it cannot be adjusted. If a replacement record is necessary, the plan must submit a new PDE record for the prescription event.

A second hierarchy applies to PDEs reporting partial and complete fills:

- Dispensing Status = 'P' or 'C' cannot follow a value = 'blank' When a PDE with Dispensing Status = 'P' or 'C' indicating partial fill or completion of partial fill is on file, DPPS will not accept a deletion record with Dispensing Status = 'blank'
- Dispensing Status = 'blank' cannot follow 'P' or 'C' When a PDE with Dispensing Status = blank is on file, DPPS will not accept a deletion record with Dispensing Status = 'P' or 'C'

Plans may take steps to minimize adjustment volume. There are several ways to minimize the number of adjustments:

- Plans can delay submission until they have finalized the data necessary to populate a PDE **but within the submission deadlines detailed in Section 1.3.1.** For example, a plan may decide to defer PDE submission for a period of time (e.g., 15 days) to allow sufficient time for the beneficiary to pick up the prescription. Most pharmacies wait 10 days or 2 weeks before returning "no pick-up" prescriptions to stock. Alternatively, plans may decide to defer PDE submission for one month if the plan expects an update in other insurance coverage.
- Second, plans may report PDEs as they administer the benefit (see Section 9).

Finally, note that a PDE record, which may be an original event, an adjustment or a deletion, reports the most recent information as of the date of submission. DDPS will use the file submission date on a given PDE record as its identifier. Because DDPS uses submission date to identify a PDE, only one original record, adjustment, or deletion of an event can be submitted per day.

# Section 7. Enhanced Alternative Benefits

# 7.1 Definition

Under §1860D-1 and D-2 of the Act, all Part D plans are required to provide "standard" (§1860D-2(b)) or "basic alternative" (§1860D-2(c)) prescription drug benefits. However, plans have the option to provide additional benefits that exceed the actuarially equivalent value of (i.e. are supplemental to) the basic benefit (§1860D-2(a)(2)). We refer to these plans as enhanced alternative plans and we refer to these benefits as enhanced alternative benefits.<sup>2</sup> Enhanced alternative benefits, which the statute refers to as supplemental benefits, can take two forms (§1860D-2(a)(2)(A)(i-ii)):

1. Reduced cost sharing (reduced coinsurance, copays, deductible, and/or an increase in the initial coverage limit), that is, additional payments by the plan beyond those provided under the basic benefit (applies only to covered Part D drugs). We refer to this supplemental benefit as enhanced alternative cost sharing (EACS); and/or

2. Coverage of non-Part D drugs that require a prescription (e.g., benzodiazepines, barbiturates). Over-the-counter products are not allowed as enhanced alternative benefits.

Per §1860D-15(e)(4), Medicare does not pay for these enhanced alternative benefits; rather, plans fund them from other sources such as supplemental premiums (§1860D-13(a)(1)(C)), A/B rebate dollars from the MA bidding process (see 42 CFR §422.266), and/or the negative premium as described in the Announcement of Calendar Year (CY) 2006 Medicare Advantage Payment Rates (http://www.cms.hhs.gov/healthplans/rates/2006/cover.pdf).

The Act does not allow enhanced alternative benefits to be included in calculating the following amounts:

- Reinsurance subsidies (§1860D-15(b)(2))
- Risk corridor payment adjustments (§1860D-15(e)(1)(B))
- LICS (§1860D-14)
- TrOOP (§1860D-2(b)(4)(C)(i)).

# 7.2 Identifying enhanced alternative benefits for exclusion from payment

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The Act uses the term "supplemental" to describe benefits that exceed the standard benefit and that are offered by enhanced alternative plans (\$1860D-2(a)(2)). In this document, we only use the term "supplemental" in its statutory sense to refer to enhanced alternative benefits. In contrast to common industry practice, we use the term "other health insurance" (OHI) rather than "supplemental benefits" when referring to non-Part D third-party payers or benefits discussed in Section 8 (TrOOP and Other Payers).

Data to identify enhanced alternative benefits

To make correct payments, CMS will utilize data reported in two fields to identify enhanced alternative benefits:

1. Drug Coverage Status = E identifies enhanced alternative drugs. DDPS will exclude records with Drug Coverage Status value = E from reinsurance, risk corridor, TrOOP, and LICS calculations.

2. Non-covered Plan Paid Amount (NPP) – The NPP data element will be used to report OTC drugs, non-Part D supplemental drugs, and enhanced alternative cost sharing (EACS). EACS is additional cost-sharing fill-in for covered Part D drugs under an enhanced alternative plan, beyond the standard benefit amount. The dollar amount reported in NPP will be excluded from risk corridor calculations. Note that the dollar amount reported in NPP is mutually exclusive of dollar amounts reported in CPP, Patient Pay Amount, Other TrOOP Amount, LICS, and PLRO Amount.

DDPS will use the following processing rules to exclude enhanced alternative benefits from payment:

- TrOOP Patient Pay Amounts for enhanced alternative drugs (Drug Coverage Status = E) are not included in TrOOP. Note that only dollars in Patient Pay Amount, Other TrOOP Amount, and LICS fields in PDE records for covered Part D drugs are included in TrOOP. (PDE records with Drug Coverage Status = C are considered covered Part D drugs).
- LICS will not be paid on enhanced alternative drugs (Drug Coverage Status = E).
- Reinsurance subsidy Claims for enhanced alternative drugs will be excluded from reinsurance payment (Drug Coverage Status = E)
- Risk corridor calculations Claims for enhanced alternative drugs will be excluded from risk corridor calculations (Drug Coverage Status = E). Also, for covered Part D drugs (Drug Coverage Status = C), the dollar amount reported in NPP will be excluded from risk corridor calculations.

# 7.3 Reporting enhanced alternative cost sharing for covered drugs

Enhanced alternative (EA) plans must use the business rules provided in this section to divide plan-paid amounts into amounts that would be paid under the standard benefit from amounts that exceed the standard benefit. Plans shall report amounts that would be paid under the standard benefit in the CPP field, and these amounts are considered allowable risk corridor costs (see Section 13). Plans report amounts paid in excess of the standard benefit in the NPP field, and these amounts are excluded from allowable risk corridor costs.

First, note the following definitions:

**Total covered drug cost** – the sum of Ingredient Cost Paid, Dispensing Fee Paid, and Total Amount Attributed to Sales Tax for a given PDE with Drug Coverage Status Code = C

**Year-to-date (YTD) total covered drug cost** – the sum of all total covered drug costs for a beneficiary to-date within a coverage year

**Initial coverage period** – the phase of the benefit above the deductible and at or below the initial coverage limit in the defined standard benefit

**Enhanced coverage period** – the phase of the benefit above the initial coverage limit in the defined standard benefit and up to and including the initial coverage limit in the EA plan. If the EA plan does not have an initial coverage limit, the enhanced coverage period extends up to the out-of-pocket threshold (TrOOP = 3,600).

# Patient Pay Amount, Covered Plan Paid Amount (CPP) and Non-covered Plan Paid Amount (NPP)

When reporting PDE records for covered drugs, plans will apply the following rules to calculate amounts to submit in Patient Pay Amount, CPP Amount and NPP Amount.

- 1. Pay pharmacy according to plan's cost-sharing formula and note the patient and plan-paid amounts at the point of sale (POS).
- 2. Report patient cost sharing at POS in the Patient Pay Amount field.

3. The CPP Amount is determined by the standard benefit, and will not necessarily be the same as the plan-paid amount at POS (as calculated in step 1). To calculate CPP Amount, multiply total covered drug cost by the applicable percentage below; YTD total covered drug cost determines which rule to use:

Rule #	YTD Total Covered Drug Cost	Percentage to calculate standard
		benefit
1	<i>≤</i> \$250	0%
2	$>$ \$250 and $\leq$ \$2,250	75%
3	$>$ \$2,250 and $\le$ \$5,100	0%
4	$>$ \$5,100 and $\leq$ Out-of-Pocket	15%
	Threshold	
5	> Out-of-Pocket Threshold	Lesser of 95% or (Total Covered
		Drug Cost - \$2/\$5)

4. Determine the enhanced alternative cost-sharing amount (EACS) by subtracting Patient Pay Amount (Step 2) and CPP Amount (Step 3) from total covered drug cost,<sup>3</sup> then report the EACS amount in the NPP field. Alternatively, determine EACS by subtracting the CPP Amount from the plan-paid amount at POS, recording the difference in the NPP field.

<u>In formula:</u> EACS = (Total Covered Drug Cost - Patient Pay Amount - LICS - Other TrOOP - PLRO - CPP) or EACS = (plan-paid amount at POS – CPP Amount)

# Examples

For purposes of illustration, these examples assume the simplest case. The beneficiary does not qualify for the low-income cost-sharing subsidy and the beneficiary has no other health insurance. (See Section 10.3 for examples on low-income cost-sharing subsidy eligible beneficiaries).

<u>Plan A</u> - EA Plan A retains the \$250 deductible in the standard benefit but it eliminates the coverage gap and offers 25% cost sharing throughout the benefit until the beneficiary reaches catastrophic coverage. Because Plan A eliminates the coverage gap, a beneficiary does not reach the out-of-pocket threshold until YTD total covered drug costs equal \$13,650.

**Example 1** – The beneficiary's YTD total covered drug costs = \$0. In Plan A's benefit structure, the beneficiary is in the deductible phase of the benefit. The beneficiary purchases a covered Part D drug for \$100. Apply Rule #1.

YTD Total Covered Drug Cost $\leq$ \$250 – Rule #1					
( a )	(b)	( c )	(d)	( e )	
Total Covered Drug Cost	Patient Pay Amount (a) * 1	Plan Paid at POS (a) * 0	Covered D Plan Paid Amount (CPP) (a) * 0	EACS (a) - $(b + d)$ or $(c-d)$	
\$100	\$100	\$0	\$0	\$0	

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> If a beneficiary has other health insurance (reported in PLRO or Other TrOOP Amount) and/or Low-Income Cost-Sharing Subsidy (reported in LICS), we also subtract those amounts from total covered drug cost to determine enhanced alternative cost sharing.

The PACE PDE information in this module is accurate as of August 17, 2005. See front cover letter for more information regarding sources of updated information.
**Example 2** – The beneficiary's YTD total covered drug costs = \$2,000. In Plan A's benefit structure, the beneficiary is in the initial coverage period. The beneficiary purchases a covered drug for \$100. Apply Rule #2.

YTD Total Covered Drug Cost = \$2000. – Rule #2				
( a )	(b)	( c )	(d)	( e )
Total Covered Drug Cost	Patient Pay Amount (a) * .25	Plan Paid at POS (a) * .75	Covered D Plan Paid Amount (CPP) (a) * .75	EACS (a) - (b + d) or (c-d)
\$100	\$25	\$75	\$75	\$0

**Example 3** – The beneficiary's YTD total covered drug costs = \$3,000. In Plan A's benefit structure, the beneficiary is in the enhanced coverage period. The beneficiary purchases a covered drug for \$100. Apply Rule #3.

YTD Total Covered Drug Cost = \$3,000 - Rule #3				
( a )	(b)	( c )	(d)	( e )
Total Covered	Patient Pay	Plan Paid at	Covered D Plan Paid	EACS
Drug Cost	Amount	POS	Amount (CPP)	(a) - $(b + d)$
	(a) * .25	(a) * .75	(a) * 0	or (c-d)
\$100	\$25	\$75	\$0	\$75

**Example 4** – The beneficiary's YTD total covered drug costs = \$6,000. In Plan A's benefit structure, the beneficiary is in the enhanced coverage period. The beneficiary purchases a covered drug for \$100. Apply Rule #4. Note that above \$5,100 of total covered drug cost, the amount reported in Covered D Plan Paid Amount is constrained to 15% of the total drug cost.

YTD Total Covered Drug Cost = \$6,000 - Rule #4				
( a )	(b)	( c )	( d )	( e )
Total Covered Drug Cost	Patient Pay Amount (a) * .25	Plan Paid at POS (a) * .75	Covered D Plan Paid Amount (CPP) (a) * .15	EACS (a) - (b + d) or (c-d)
\$100	\$25	\$75	\$15	\$60

**Example 5** – The beneficiary's YTD total covered drug costs = \$13,650. The beneficiary has reached \$3,600 in true out-of-pocket costs, thus is in the catastrophic phase of the benefit where cost sharing is the greater of \$2/\$5 or 5%. The beneficiary purchases a covered drug for \$100. Apply Rule #5.

YTD Total Covered Drug Cost = \$13,650 - Rule #5				
( a )	(b)	( c )	( d )	( e )
Total Covered Drug Cost	Patient Pay Amount (a) * .05	Plan Paid at POS (a) * .95	Covered D Plan Paid Amount (CPP) (a) * .95	EACS (a) - $(b + d)$ or $(c-d)$
\$100	\$5	\$95	\$95	\$0

<u>**Plan B**</u> – EA Plan B alters cost sharing in the initial coverage period, offering tiered cost sharing (5% / 25% / 30%). (These amounts are only for purposes of illustration and are not necessarily representative of an actuarially equivalent benefit structure). Thus the initial coverage limit in this enhanced alternative plan is increased to \$4,000.

**Example 6** – The beneficiary's YTD total covered drug costs = \$500. In Plan B's benefit structure, the beneficiary is in initial coverage phase of the benefit. The beneficiary purchases a covered drug in Tier 1 for \$20. Apply Rule #2.

YTD Total Covered Drug Cost = \$500 - Rule #2				
( a )	(b)	( c )	(d)	( e )
Total Covered Drug Cost	Patient Pay Amount (a) * .05	Plan Paid at POS (a) * .95	Covered D Plan Paid Amount (CPP) (a) * .75	EACS (a) - (b + d) or (c-d)
\$20	\$1	\$19	\$15	\$4

**Example 7** – The beneficiary's YTD total covered drug costs = \$520. In Plan B's benefit structure, the beneficiary is in the initial coverage period. The beneficiary purchases a covered drug in Tier 2 for \$100. Apply Rule #2.

YTD Total Covered Drug Cost = \$520 - Rule #2				
( a )	(b)	(c)	(d)	( e )
Total Covered Drug Cost	Patient Pay Amount (a) * .25	Plan Paid at POS (a) * .75	Covered D Plan Paid Amount (CPP) (a) * .75	EACS (a) - (b + d) or (c-d)
\$100	\$25	\$75	\$75	\$0

**Example 8** – The beneficiary's YTD total covered drug costs = 620. In Plan B's benefit structure, the beneficiary is in initial coverage phase of the benefit. The beneficiary purchases a covered drug in Tier 3 for 250. Apply Rule #2.

YTD Total Covered Drug Cost = \$620.00 - Rule #2				
( a )	(b)	( c )	(d)	( e )
Total Covered Drug Cost	Patient Pay Amount (a) * .30	Plan Paid at POS (a) * .70	Covered D Plan Paid Amount (CPP) (a) * .75	EACS (a) - (b + d) or (c-d)
\$250.00	\$75.00	\$175.00	\$187.50	-12.50

<u>Plan C</u> – EA Plan C extends the initial coverage period by \$2,000 from the standard benefit limitation of \$2,250 to \$4,250. Plan C retains the standard benefit deductible and 25% cost sharing. Because Plan C extends the initial coverage period, beneficiaries do not reach the out-of-pocket threshold until total covered drug costs equal \$6,600.

**Example 9** – The beneficiary's YTD total covered drug costs = \$3,000. In Plan C's benefit structure, the beneficiary remains in the enhanced coverage period. The beneficiary purchases a covered drug for \$100. Apply Rule #3.

YTD Total Covered Drug Cost = \$3,000 - Rule #3				
( a )	(b)	( c )	(d)	( e )
Total Covered Drug Cost	Patient Pay Amount (a) * .25	Plan Paid at POS (a) * .75	Covered D Plan Paid Amount (CPP) (a) * 0	EACS (a) - $(b + d)$ or $(c-d)$
\$100	\$25	\$75	\$0	\$75

**Example 10** – The beneficiary's YTD total covered drug costs = 4,500. In Plan C's benefit structure, the beneficiary is in the coverage gap. The beneficiary purchases a covered drug for 100. Apply Rule #3.

YTD Total Covere	ed Drug Cost =	= \$4,500 - Rule #	3	
( a )	(b)	( c )	(d)	( e )
Total Covered Drug Cost	Patient Pay Amount (a) * 1	Plan Paid at POS (a) * 0	Covered D Plan Paid Amount (CPP) (a) * 0	EACS (a) $-$ (b + d) or (c-d)
\$100	\$100	\$0	\$0	\$0

**Example 11** – The beneficiary's YTD total covered drug costs = 6,000. In Plan C's benefit structure, the beneficiary is in the coverage gap. The beneficiary purchases a covered drug for 100. Apply Rule #4. Note that above 5,100 of total covered drug cost, the amount reported in Covered D Plan Paid Amount is constrained to 15%. Also see Example 4.

YTD Total Covered Drug Cost = \$6,000 - Rule #4				
( a )	(b)	( c )	(d)	( e )
Total Covered Drug Cost	Patient Pay Amount (a) * 1	Plan Paid at POS (a) * 0	Covered D Plan Paid Amount (CPP) (a) * .15	EACS (a) - $(b + d)$ or $(c-d)$
\$100	\$100	\$0	\$15	-\$15

**Example 12** – The beneficiary's YTD total covered drug costs = \$6,600. The beneficiary has just entered the catastrophic phase of the benefit. The beneficiary purchases a covered drug for \$100. Apply Rule #5.

YTD Total Covered Drug Cost = \$6,600 - Rule #5				
( a )	(b)	( c )	(d)	( e )
Total Covered Drug Cost	Patient Pay Amount (a) * .05	Plan Paid at POS (a) * .95	Covered D Plan Paid Amount (CPP) (a) * .95	EACS (a) - $(b + d)$ or $(c-d)$
\$100	\$5	\$95	\$95	\$0

**Note:** CMS does not anticipate that plans will offer enhanced alternative cost sharing above the out-of-pocket threshold. If a plan decides to offer reductions in cost sharing beyond the standard benefit in the catastrophic phase of the benefit, the plan must calculate the normal beneficiary cost sharing and count the remainder of drug cost as Covered D Plan Paid Amount. As in cases below the out-of-pocket threshold, the difference between the actual plan paid amount and the Covered D Plan Paid Amount will be considered EACS and reported under Non-covered Plan Paid Amount.

## Section 8. True Out-of-Pocket (TrOOP) and Other Payers

## 8.1 What is TrOOP

TrOOP is a pivotal concept in the Part D benefit. TrOOP is defined as incurred allowable costs that are paid by the beneficiary or by specified third parties on their behalf within the limits of the standard benefit, up to a legislatively specified out-of-pocket threshold or attachment point (§1860D-2(b)(4) of the Act). The out-of-pocket threshold is set at \$3,600 for 2006 and will increase annually each subsequent year as directed by §1860D-2(b)(4)(A)(ii).

## 8.2 Why TrOOP matters

When a beneficiary has accumulated TrOOP costs that reach the out-of-pocket threshold, catastrophic coverage provisions begin for both the beneficiary (\$1860D-2(b)(4)) and the plan

(D-15(b)). In the catastrophic phase of the benefit, beneficiaries incur lower cost-sharing amounts, and benefits provided by plans are eligible for reinsurance subsidies. Reinsurance subsidies are subsequently excluded from risk corridor calculations.

## 8.3 What counts towards TrOOP

In order to administer the Part D benefit, plans must differentiate between payments that are and are not included in TrOOP. Note that all TrOOP-eligible payments must be for covered Part D drugs (see Section 5).

- Payments made by beneficiaries count towards TrOOP, including out-of-pocket payments for out-of-network services or generic/brand differentials.
- Payments made by qualified third parties on a beneficiary's behalf count towards TrOOP.
- LICS Amounts count towards TrOOP (see Section 10).
- Payments by group health plans, insurers, government-funded health programs, and similar third party arrangements *do not* count towards TrOOP.

The following chart identifies frequently occurring OHI payers by TrOOP status:

TrOOP-eligible	Not TrOOP-eligible
Qualified SPAPs	Governmental programs (VA, Black Lung,
	TRICARE, other)
Qualified charities	Workers' Compensation
Payments by family, friends, or other	Automobile/No-Fault/Liability Insurances
qualified entities or individuals on behalf of a	
beneficiary	
Low-income cost-sharing subsidies*	Group health plans

<sup>†</sup>Counts towards TrOOP but is not OHI (see Section 10)

## 8.4 Plan accountability for TrOOP accounting

Given the important consequences of TrOOP both to the patient and to the plan, the Act requires the Secretary to implement measures for coordination of benefits among other payers, referred to in this document as other health insurance or OHI (§1860D-23 and D-24). Part D plans shall be responsible for maintaining accurate accounting of TrOOP on a day-to-day basis and for coordinating benefits to that end.

# 8.5 What CMS will do to assist plans in the coordination of benefits and TrOOP

CMS is currently developing a TrOOP process within the NCPDP standards framework to facilitate accurate OHI billing, payment and reporting at the point of sale (POS). To support the TrOOP facilitation process, CMS will implement processes and systems to capture and document beneficiary specific OHI coverage for drugs. CMS will leverage existing Medicare COB processes and systems and extend the capability for capturing and verifying beneficiary OHI drug coverage information. Working in collaboration with the industry, CMS's TrOOP facilitation process will integrate the validated OHI drug coverage information within the current stream of real-time transactions between the POS pharmacy, routing intermediaries, OHI payers

and the Part D Plan. Beneficiary OHI drug coverage information will be made available to the Part D plans as part of the enrollment file exchange with CMS and will accommodate any OHI information the Part D plan has discovered through their own enrollment process, when the beneficiary is asked to provide OHI coverage information.

The following is a brief overview of the process:

- 1. A Part D beneficiary enters a pharmacy to fill a prescription. If the beneficiary does not have a card and does not know which Part D plan they are in, the pharmacy can execute an NCPDP E1 request transaction to determine plan enrollment. The E1 response will return enrollment information, including payer-specific information about any OHI drug coverage;
- 2. The pharmacy submits the claim to the Part D plan;
- 3. The Part D plan returns a response file to the pharmacy with payment information;
- 4. If necessary, the pharmacy will then generate a secondary claim to any other OHI payers via the TrOOP facilitator(s);
- 5. The OHI payer(s) will send a response back to the pharmacy routed through the TrOOP facilitator(s), and;
- 6. The TrOOP facilitator(s) will build an NCPDP N1<sup>4</sup> reporting transaction from the response and sends it to the appropriate Part D Plan;

Within the TrOOP facilitation process, the Part D plan, in combination with knowledge of its own adjudication, will have information necessary to report TrOOP-sensitive dollar fields in the PDE. In addition, the beneficiary will have the benefit of POS coordination of benefits, accurate and perhaps even reduced cash outlay at the POS, and more accurate TrOOP accounting.

# 8.6 PDE fields that report TrOOP information

Catastrophic Coverage Code - The Catastrophic Coverage Code values are dependent upon the level of TrOOP accumulation and hence, the beneficiary's status in the benefit. When the beneficiary crosses the threshold from the coverage gap to the catastrophic phase of the benefit, the PDE will report a value = A in the Catastrophic Coverage Code. Provided that the beneficiary's status in the benefit does not change within a coverage year, subsequent PDEs will report a value = C in the Catastrophic Coverage Code field. The Catastrophic Coverage Code field will be blank on other PDEs. In other words, a PDE with Catastrophic Coverage Code = blank indicates that the beneficiary is in the deductible phase, the initial cost-sharing phase, or the coverage gap.

Drug Coverage Status Code - The Drug Coverage Status Code identifies covered drugs. TrOOP accumulations only include covered drugs (see Section 5).

Six payment fields - Six payment fields report TrOOP information. The dollar amounts reported in these fields are mutually exclusive:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> NCPDP is in the process of adopting revisions that were made to the N1 transaction to provide additional OHI information sufficient for Part D.

The PACE PDE information in this module is accurate as of August 17, 2005. See front cover letter for more information regarding sources of updated information.

Patient Pay Amount Other TrOOP Amount Low-Income Cost-sharing Subsidy Amount (LICS) Covered D Plan Paid Amount (CPP) Non-covered Plan Paid Amount (NPP) Patient Liability Reduction due to Other Payer Amount (PLRO)

The chart below shows the impact of each dollar field on TrOOP accounting:

Field Name	TrOOP Inclusion	TrOOP Exclusion
Patient Pay Amount	Χ	
Other TrOOP Amount LICS	X X	
NPP		X
СРР		X
PLRO		X

The following examples show how a plan would populate Patient Pay Amount, Other TrOOP, LICS, NPP, CPP, and PLRO. Assume that a pharmacy dispenses a \$100 covered Part D drug with a \$20 co-pay under the standard benefit:

	TrOOP Inclusions			TrOO	P Excl	usions	
Example	Patient Pay Amount	Other TrOOP Amount	LICS	NPP	СРР	PLRO	TrOOP Impact
Example 1: non-LICS							
beneficiary enrolled in basic	20	0	0	0	00	0	L. C. 20
plan, no OHI	20	0	0	0	80	0	+\$ 20
Example 2: LICS beneficiary enrolled in basic plan, no OHI Example 3: LICS beneficiary enrolled in basic plan, qualified	3	0	17	0	80	0	+\$ 20
SPAP or other TrOOP-eligible payer pays \$3 co-pay Example 4: non-LICS beneficiary enrolled in basic	0	3	17	0	80	0	+\$ 20
plan, beneficiary has OHI that pays Part D co-pay in full Example 5: non-LICS beneficiary enrolled in basic	0	0	0	0	80	20	\$0
plan, beneficiary has OHI that pays \$10 of the Part D co-pay Example 6: non-LICS	10	0	0	0	80	10	+\$ 10
beneficiary enrolled in enhanced alternative plan. Supplemental benefit (funded by additional premium) reduces beneficiary co-pay by \$5 for this particular drug.	15	0	0	5	80	0	+\$ 15
Example 7: Very late in the plan year the pharmacy dispensed a drug per the scenario in example 1 and submitted a PDE. Subsequently the plan learned		-	-	-		-	÷
that the beneficiary did not pick up the prescription so the plan							
submitted a deletion record <sup>†</sup>	0	0	0	0	0	0	-\$20

Note: TrOOP (True Out-Of-Pocket), LICS (Low-Income Cost-sharing Subsidy), NPP (Non-covered Plan Paid Amount), CPP (Covered Plan Paid Amount), PLRO (Patient Liability Reduction due to Other Payer Amount), OHI (Other Health Insurance), PDE (Prescription Drug Event).

†In example 7, we indicate -\$20 TrOOP Impact to indicate that the TrOOP accumulator works as a counter and will reduce TrOOP by \$20 when the deletion PDE record is received. We list zero in each dollar field because these fields are not counters, and the deletion record will indicate to CMS to reduce the dollar amounts of the original record to zero (see Section 6).

The PACE PDE information in this module is accurate as of August 17, 2005. See front cover letter for more information regarding sources of updated information.

In summary the interaction between and among payment fields has a direct impact on TrOOP accounting:

If a plan failed to report OHI payments and included the PLRO amount in the Patient Pay Amount field, TrOOP would be overstated.

If a plan included EACS in the Patient Pay Amount field, TrOOP would be overstated.

If a Plan included LICS dollars in the Patient Pay Amount field, TrOOP would be counted accurately, but the plan would not receive payment to which it is entitled for paying the LICS (see Section 9).

## Section 9. Retroactive changes in TrOOP

As of year-end, aggregate PDE data must be consistent with year-end TrOOP balances maintained by the plan.<sup>5</sup> When plans have to deal with retroactive changes that alter TrOOP accounting, the plan has two choices. The plan may submit adjustments for each PDE that was affected by the retroactive changes or the plan may report as they administer the benefit, provided that PDEs accurately report TrOOP balances by the end of the coverage year. When a retroactive TrOOP change occurs, the plan may reinstate cost sharing until the beneficiary has paid back the TrOOP balance.

In Tables 1A-1B, we provide an example in which the plan learns about a retroactive change that affects TrOOP. In this scenario, the pharmacy notified the plan late about a prescription that was not picked up. This PDE deletion has important TrOOP impact. By the time the correction was identified, the beneficiary had entered the catastrophic phase of the benefit. This correction suspends catastrophic benefits including reduced beneficiary cost sharing. The plan must react in two ways. The plan must update its day-to-day TrOOP accounting and the plan must act accordingly to assure that PDEs reflect accurate TrOOP status by year-end. In order to update day-to-day TrOOP accounting, this plan decided to implement a TrOOP account receivable. The plan will not resume catastrophic benefit cost sharing until the beneficiary has repaid additional cost sharing equal to the value of the account receivable. The example includes sample PDE records for two scenarios, both when the plan reports PDEs as it administers the benefit and when the plan submits adjustments. In a complex case like this one, when a single beneficiary crosses the OOP threshold twice, we expect two PDEs with a Catastrophic Coverage Code value = A. Typically, a beneficiary reaches the OOP threshold only once in any given coverage year, and we expect only one active PDE record with a Catastrophic Coverage Code value = A per coverage year.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Unlike some commercial insurance, Part D plans shall not carry forward negative TrOOP (or co-pay) balances from one coverage year to the next because Part D payment reconciliation must be calculated on a coverage year basis.

The PACE PDE information in this module is accurate as of August 17, 2005. See front cover letter for more information regarding sources of updated information.

#### Table 1A. Retroactive TrOOP Changes: Reported as Administered

This table is an example of a plan reporting retroactive changes in true out-of-pocket costs (TrOOP) to CMS according to how the p (see Section 9). On June 7 the pharmacy notified the plan that the beneficiary did not pick up a 4/15 prescription. The plan had alr and incremented TrOOP based on the 4/15 prescription. The 4/15 PDE deletion has important TrOOP impact because the benefic catastrophic phase of the benefit by the time the correction was identified. In order to update day-to-day TrOOP accounting, this pl beneficiary account receivable. The plan will resume 100% coinsurance until the beneficiary has repaid additional cost sharing equ receivable. The plan implemented the correction on June 7. PDEs with service dates of June 15, June 30 and July 15 show that the coinsurance. The PDE with service date of July 30 shows that the beneficiary has paid back the receivable and re-entered catastro the plan adjudicated the Aug 15 PDE, the TrOOP balance had been corrected. Note that if this scenario had occurred late in the co expected insufficient PDE volume to net out the account receivable, the plan's only option would be to submit adjustment PDEs and directly from the beneficiary (see example 4).

					-			r	т <u> </u>	r	r
Clm		Note	YTD Ingredient Cost + Dispensing	YTD	TrOOP	Claim-level Ingredient Cost + Dispensing +	Plan				
ID	DOS		+ Sales Tax	TrOOP	Payback	Sales Tax	Paid	Pt Paid	LICS	EACS	PLRO
1	1/15/2006	а	610.00	340.00		610.00	270.00	340.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
2	1/30/2006		1,220.00	492.50		610.00	457.50	152.50	0.00	0.00	0.00
3	2/15/2006		1,830.00	645.00		610.00	457.50	152.50	0.00	0.00	0.00
4	2/28/2006	b	2,440.00	940.00		610.00	315.00	295.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
5	3/15/2006		3,050.00	1,550.00		610.00	0.00	610.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
6	3/30/2006		3,660.00	2,160.00		610.00	0.00	610.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
	4/15/2006-										
7	orig		4,270.00	2,770.00		610.00	0.00	610.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
8	4/30/2006		4,880.00	3,380.00		610.00	0.00	610.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
9	5/15/2006	С	5,490.00	3,619.50		610.00	370.50	239.50	0.00	0.00	0.00
10	5/30/2006		6,100.00			610.00	579.50	30.50	0.00	0.00	0.00
		d			610.00				0.00	0.00	0.00
		е	-610.00			-610.00		-610.00			
11	6/15/2006	f	5690.00		410.00	200.00	0.00	200.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
12	6/30/2006	f	5,890.00		210.00	200.00	0.00	200.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
13	7/15/2006	f	6,090.00		10.00	200.00	0.00	200.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
14	7/30/2006	g	6,290.00		0.00	200.00	180.50	19.50	0.00	0.00	0.00
15	8/15/2006		6,490.00			200.00	190.00	10.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
а		rosses		to initial co	verage nerig	d Beneficiary r	ave \$250	deductible			

Beneficiary crosses from deductible to initial coverage period. Beneficiary pays \$250 deductible + \$90 coinsurance (.25\*(610 (.75\*(610-250)))

<sup>b</sup> Beneficiary crosses from initial coverage period to coverage gap. Beneficiary pays initial coverage period coinsurance of \$1 coverage gap coinsurance of \$190 (1.0\* (610 - (2250-1830))). Plan pays \$315 (.75 \* (2250 - 1830))

Beneficiary crosses from initial coverage period to coverage gap. Beneficiary pays coverage gap coinsurance of \$220.00 (1 catastrophic coinsurance of \$9.00 (.05 \* (200 - (3600-3580))). Plan pays catastrophic \$370.50 (.95 \* (610 - (3600-3380)))

<sup>d</sup> On June 7 plan discovers that the beneficiary did not pick up 4/15 prescription. The plan submits a PDE deletion record for t establishes a receivables account.

e Corrections

<sup>f</sup> Beneficiary re-enters coverage gap

*g* Beneficiary re-enters catastrophic coverage

#### Table 1B. Retroactive TrOOP Changes: Reported as Adjustments

This table is an example of a plan reporting retroactive changes in a beneficiary's true out-of-pocket (TrOOP) costs by submittin to CMS (see Section 9). On June 7 the pharmacy notified the plan that the beneficiary did not pick up a 4/15 prescription. The PDE record and incremented TrOOP based on the 4/15 prescription. The 4/15 PDE deletion has important TrOOP impact becare entered the catastrophic phase of the benefit by the time the correction was identified. In order to update day-to-day TrOOP ac recover the TrOOP overpayment directly from the beneficiary. On June 7 when the plan discovers the error, the plan deletes the adjustments for PDEs with service dates 4/30, 5/15 and 5/30. By the time the plan submits the 6/15 PDE, all corrections have be

Clm ID	DOS	Note	YTD Ingredient Cost + Dispensing + Sales Tax	YTD TrOOP	Claim-level Ingredient Cost + Dispensing + Sales Tax	Plan Paid	Pt Paid	LICS	EACS	PLRO	Cat Cov Flag
1	1/15/2006	а	610.00	340.00	610.00	270.00	340.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	
2	1/30/2006		1,220.00	492.50	610.00	457.50	152.50	0.00	0.00	0.00	
3	2/15/2006		1,830.00	645.00	610.00	457.50	152.50	0.00	0.00	0.00	
4	2/28/2006	b	2,440.00	940.00	610.00	315.00	295.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	
5	3/15/2006		3,050.00	1,550.00	610.00	0.00	610.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	
6	3/30/2006		3,660.00	2,160.00	610.00	0.00	610.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	
7	4/15/2006		4,270.00	2,770.00	610.00	0.00	610.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	
		d	3,660.00	2,160.00							
8	4/30/2006		4,880.00	3,380.00	610.00	0.00	610.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	
		е	4,270.00	2,770.00	610.00	0.00	610.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	
9	5/15/2006	С	5,490.00	3,619.50	610.00	370.50	239.50	0.00	0.00		Α
		f	4,880.00	3,380.00	610.00	0.00	610.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	
10	5/30/2006		6,100.00	3,650.00	610.00	579.50	30.50	0.00	0.00		С
		g, h	5,490.00	3,619.50	610.00	370.50	239.50	0.00	0.00	0.00	Α
11	6/15/2006		5,690.00	3,629.50	200.00	190.00	10.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	С

<sup>a</sup> Beneficiary crosses from deductible to initial coverage period. Beneficiary pays \$250 deductible + \$90 coinsurance (.25\*(610-250)).

<sup>b</sup> Beneficiary crosses from initial coverage period to coverage gap. Beneficiary pays initial coverage period coinsurance of \$105 (.25 coinsurance of \$190 (1.0\* (610 - (2250-1830))). Plan pays \$315 (.75 \* (2250 - 1830))

Beneficiary crosses from coverage gap to catastrophic. Beneficiary pays coverage gap coinsurance of \$220.00 (1.0 \* (3600-3380))
 \$9.00 (.05 \* (200 - (3600-3580))). Plan pays catastrophic \$370.50 (.95 \* (610 - (3600-3380)))

- *d* Deleted PDE for 15-April-06 service date
- е
- Adjusted PDE for 30-Apr-2006 service date

f Adjusted PDE for 15-May-2006 service date

g Adjusted PDE for 30-May-2006 service date

*h* Beneficiary re-enters catastrophic coverage

## Section 10. Low Income Cost-Sharing Subsidy (LICS)

#### 10.1 Definition

Section 1860D-14 of the Act provides for Medicare payments to plans to subsidize the cost-sharing liability of qualifying low-income beneficiaries, including plan premiums, deductibles, coinsurances, and late enrollment penalties. The statute divides these income-related subsidies into two categories: premium assistance and cost-sharing assistance. Premium subsidies do not impose any data reporting requirements on plans. Plans will need to report on low-income cost-sharing amounts. Cost-sharing reductions will be applied at the point of sale and paid by the plan. In accordance with statutory language, we refer to these amounts as Low-Income Cost-Sharing Subsidies or LICS amounts. CMS will pay plans prospectively for the LICS amounts, and reconcile to actual amounts paid after the payment year.

## 10.2 Reporting requirements

Section 1860D-14(c) of the Act mandates that the Secretary notify plans when a beneficiary is eligible for LICS; the plan must then provide for appropriate beneficiary cost sharing and also submit information to the Secretary reporting the amount of the reduction. Finally, the Secretary shall reimburse the plan periodically and timely for these amounts. In 2006, CMS will make monthly prospective payments to plans to help cover LICS costs as they are incurred and will conduct final reconciliation at the end of the coverage year.

In order to pay the plan accurately, CMS has defined a Low Income Cost-Sharing Subsidy (LICS) Amount field.<sup>6</sup> Plans will populate the LICS field with the amount they pay the pharmacy at the point of sale for an eligible beneficiary's cost sharing. To populate this field appropriately, plans must adjudicate a PDE as if the beneficiary were not eligible for a low-income subsidy and determine the corresponding unsubsidized beneficiary cost-sharing amount. Then plans must calculate the Patient Pay Amount that takes into account the amount of low-income cost-sharing subsidy for which the beneficiary is eligible. The difference between the unsubsidized cost-sharing amount and this Patient Pay Amount will be placed in the LICS field, representing the amount of subsidy advanced by the plan.

## 10.3 PDE Examples

The following examples demonstrate how plans will populate the PDE fields Patient Pay Amount and Low Income Cost-Sharing Subsidy Amount (LICS) and how plans will identify TrOOP-eligible dollars at the PDE level. Examples 1-4 show cost sharing specific to each phase of the basic benefit with actuarially equivalent cost sharing for five types of beneficiaries: a beneficiary who does not qualify for low income cost-sharing (non-LI) and beneficiaries eligible for each of four different cost-sharing subsidies (see Figure 2): Level I (L-I), Level II (L-II), Level III (L-III), and institutionalized beneficiaries in Level I and Level II. In our examples, the non-LI beneficiary has no other health insurance. The examples are based on a plan that offers an actuarially equivalent standard benefit package. The plan offers tiered cost-sharing (5% / 25% / 30%). The Tier 1 cost-sharing is 5% for generic drugs. The Tier 2 cost-sharing is 25% for preferred brand drugs. The Tier 3 cost-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> The low-income cost-sharing subsidy is unique to Medicare. There is no NCPDP field to capture this information.

sharing is 30% for non-preferred brand drugs.

Example 5 demonstrates how plans will populate various fields including Other TrOOP Amount when a qualified party makes a payment on a beneficiary's behalf that counts towards TrOOP. Examples 6 and 7 show sample data for a low-income subsidy eligible beneficiary in an enhanced alternative plan (see Section 7). Example 6 demonstrates how enhanced alternative plans will report enhanced alternative cost sharing on PDE records. Example 7 demonstrates how enhanced alternative plans will report enhanced alternative drugs (supplemental drugs) on PDE records.

Note the following definitions:

**Total Covered Drug Cost** – the sum of Ingredient Cost Paid, Dispensing Fee Paid, and Total Amount Attributed to Sales Tax for a given PDE

**Year-to-date (YTD) Total Covered Drug Cost** – the sum of all Total Covered Drug Costs for a beneficiary to-date within a coverage year

**Initial coverage period** – the phase above the deductible and at or below the defined standard initial coverage limit

**LICS** – reports the difference between Patient Pay Amount for a non-LI beneficiary and the Patient Pay Amount for a beneficiary under an LICS subsidy

Low Income	Eligibility	Deductible	Initial	Coverage	Catastrophic
Level	Rules		Coverage	Gap	_
			Period		
Ι	< 100%	\$0	\$1-generic	\$1-generic	\$0
			\$3-brand	\$3-brand	
II	< 135%	\$0	May not	May not	\$0
			exceed \$2-	exceed \$2-	
			generic	generic	
			\$5-brand	\$5-brand	
III	<150%	\$50	15%	15%	May not
					exceed \$2-
					generic
					\$5-brand
Institutionalized	all L-I and	\$0	\$0	\$0	\$0
	all L-II				

## Figure 2. Provisions and Eligibility Rules for the Low-Income Cost-Sharing Subsidy

Lesser Of logic: If non-low income cost sharing is less than low income cost sharing, the low income beneficiary pays the non-low income cost sharing and LICS does not apply.

**Example 1** – This is the first claim for each beneficiary. YTD Total Covered Drug Cost = 0 which places the beneficiary in the deductible phase of the benefit. The beneficiary purchases a covered drug in Tier 2 for 50.

	( a )	(b)	( c )	(d)	( e )	(f)
Beneficiary Type	Cost	Total	Patient	LICS	Covered D	TrOOP
	sharing	Covered	Pay		Plan Paid	Amount
		Drug Cost	Amount		Amount	(c) + (d)
		(c)+(d)+(e)			(CPP)	
Non-LI	100%	\$50	\$50	n/a	\$ 0	\$50
LI-I	\$3	\$50	\$ 3	\$47	\$ 0	\$50
LI-II	\$5	\$50	\$ 5	\$45	\$ 0	\$50
LI-III	100% (up	\$50	\$50†	\$ 0	\$ 0	\$50
	to \$50)					
Institutionalized	\$0	\$50	\$0	\$50	\$ 0	\$50

†LI-III beneficiary satisfies deductible

**Example 2** – The beneficiary's YTD total covered drug cost = \$500 which places the beneficiary in the initial coverage period. The beneficiary purchases a covered drug in Tier 1 (a generic drug) for \$5.

	( a )	(b)	( c )	(d)	( e )	(f)
Beneficiary Type	Cost	Total	Patient	LICS	Covered D	TrOOP
	sharing	Covered	Pay		Plan Paid	Amount
		Drug Cost (c)+(d)+(e)	Amount		Amount (CPP)	(c) + (d)
Non-LI	5%	\$5.00	\$.25	n/a	\$ 4.75	\$.25
LI-I	\$1.00	\$5.00	<del>\$1.00*</del> \$.25	\$ 0.00	\$ 4.75	\$.25
LI-II	\$2.00	\$5.00	<del>\$2.00</del> * \$.25	\$ 0.00	\$ 4.75	\$.25
LI-III	15%	\$5.00	<del>\$.75</del> * \$.25	\$ 0.00	\$ 4.75	\$.25
Institutionalized	\$0.00	\$5.00	\$0.00	\$.25	\$ 4.75	\$.25

\*Lesser Of logic

**Example 3** – The beneficiary's YTD total covered drug cost = \$3,000 which places the beneficiary in the coverage gap. The beneficiary purchases a covered drug in Tier 3 for \$250.

	( a )	(b)	( c )	(d)	( e )	(f)
Beneficiary Type	Cost	Total	Patient	LICS	Covered D	TrOOP
	sharing	Covered	Pay		Plan Paid	Amount
		Drug Cost	Amount		Amount	(c) + (d)
		(c)+(d)+(e)			(CPP)	
Non-LI	100%	\$250	\$250	n/a	<b>\$</b> 0	\$250
LI-I	\$3	\$250	\$3	\$ 247	<b>\$</b> 0	\$250
LI-II	\$5	\$250	\$5	\$ 245	\$ 0	\$250
LI-III	15%	\$250.00	\$37.50	\$ 212.50	\$ 0.00	\$250.00
Institutionalized	\$0	\$250	\$0	\$ 250	<b>\$</b> 0	\$250

**Example 4** – The beneficiary reaches the out-of-pocket threshold (equivalent to \$3,600 in TrOOP in 2006) and enters the catastrophic phase of the benefit. The beneficiary purchases a covered drug in Tier 2 for \$150.

	( a )	(b)	( c )	(d)	( e )	(f)
Beneficiary Type	Cost sharing	Total	Patient	LICS	Covered D	TrOOP
		Covered	Pay		Plan Paid	Amount
		Drug Cost	Amount		Amount	(c) + (d)
		(c)+(d)+(e)			(CPP)	
Non-LI	Greater of	\$150.00	\$7.50	n/a	\$ 142.50	\$7.50
	\$2/\$5 or 5%					
LI-I	\$0.00	\$150.00	\$0.00	\$ 7.50	\$ 142.50	\$7.50
LI-II	\$0.00	\$150.00	\$0.00	\$ 7.50	\$ 142.50	\$7.50
LI-III	\$5.00	\$150.00	\$5.00	\$ 2.50	\$ 142.50	\$7.50
Institutionalized	\$0.00	\$150.00	\$0.00	\$ 7.50	\$ 142.50	\$7.50

**Example 5** – This example is a modification of Example 3. The low-income beneficiary receives assistance from a qualified SPAP. Note the difference between Patient Pay Amount and Other TrOOP Amount. The qualified SPAP assumes responsibility for the cost-share on behalf of the low-income beneficiary. Since qualified SPAPs are TrOOP-eligible payers, the amount paid by the SPAP is reported in the PDE field named Other TrOOP and the Patient Pay Amount is reduced to zero.

	( a )	(b)	( c )	(d)	( e )	(f)	(g)
Beneficiary	Cost	Total	Patient	LICS	Other	Covered D	TrOOP
Туре	sharing	Covered	Pay		TrOOP	Plan Paid	Amount
		Drug Cost	Amount		Amount	Amount	(c)+(d)+(e)
		(c)+(d)+(e)+(f)				(CPP)	
Non-LI	100%	\$250	\$250	n/a	\$0	<b>\$</b> 0	\$250
LI-I	\$3	\$250	<del>\$3</del>	\$247	\$3	\$0	\$250
			\$0				
LI-II	\$5	\$250	<del>\$5</del>	\$245	\$5	\$0	\$250
			\$0				
LI-III	15%	\$250.00	<del>\$37.50</del>	\$212.50	\$37.50	\$0.00	\$250.00
			\$0.00				
Institutionalized	\$0	\$250	\$0	\$250	\$0	\$0	\$250

**Example 6** – Assume that the low-income beneficiary enrolls in an enhanced alternative (EA) plan. Unlike the plan referenced in Examples 1-5, this plan may charge a supplemental premium from which it funds benefits that exceed the basic benefit (see Section 7). In this example, the EA plan reduces cost sharing from 25% in the standard benefit to 15%. The difference of 10% is enhanced alternative cost sharing. The beneficiary is in the initial coverage period of the benefit and purchases a covered brand drug for \$100.

	( a )	(b)	( c )	( d )	( e )	(f)
Beneficiary	Total	Patient	LICS	EACS*	Covered D	TrOOP
Туре	Covered	Pay			Plan Paid	Amount
	Drug Cost	Amount			Amount	(b)+(c)
	(b)+(c)+(d)+(e)				(CPP)	
Non-LI	\$100	\$15	n/a	\$10	\$ 75	\$15
LI-I	\$100	\$ 3	\$12	\$10	\$ 75	\$15
LI-II	\$100	\$5	\$10	\$10	\$ 75	\$15
LI-III	\$100	\$15	\$ 0	\$10	\$ 75	\$15
Institutionalized	\$100	\$ 0	\$15	\$10	\$ 75	\$15

\*Reported in Non-covered Plan Paid Amount (NPP) field on the PDE record

**Example 7** – The same EA plan referenced in example 6 also offers a supplemental drug benefit (see Section 5). The beneficiary out-of-pocket under this plan remains 15% since 10% of cost sharing is subsidized by the plan as EACS. The drug coverage status code = E. Low-income beneficiaries pay the same cost sharing on these supplemental drugs as any other beneficiary because low-income cost-sharing subsidies do not apply to supplemental drugs. Also note that beneficiary cost sharing for these drugs does not count towards TrOOP. A beneficiary purchases a supplemental drug for \$100.

	( a )	(b)	( c )	( d )	( e )	(f)
Beneficiary Type	Total Covered Drug Cost (b)+(c)+(d)+(e)	Patient Pay Amount	LICS	Non-Covered Plan Paid Amount (NPP)	Covered D Plan Paid Amount (CPP)	TrOOP Amount (b)+(c)
Non-LI	\$0	\$15	n/a	\$85	\$ 0	\$ 0
LI-I	\$0	\$15	\$ 0	\$85	\$ 0	\$ 0
LI-II	\$0	\$15	\$ 0	\$85	\$ 0	\$ 0
LI-III	\$0	\$15	\$ 0	\$85	\$ 0	\$ 0
Institutionalized	\$0	\$15	\$ 0	\$85	\$ O	\$ 0

## Section 11. Direct and Indirect Remuneration (DIR)

The PACE PDE information in this module is accurate as of August 17, 2005. See front cover letter for more information regarding sources of updated information.

# 11.1 Definition

In order for covered drug costs to count towards allowable reinsurance or risk corridor costs, the Act and the final rule require the costs to be incurred and actually paid by the Part D sponsor, net of any direct or indirect remuneration which includes discounts, chargebacks or rebates, cash discounts, free goods contingent on a purchase agreement, up-front payments, coupons, goods in kind, free or reduced-price services, grants, or other price concessions or similar benefits offered to some or all purchasers from any source, including manufacturers, pharmacies, enrollees, or any other person, that would serve to decrease the costs incurred by the Part D sponsor for the drug (§1860D-15(b)(2) and (e)(1)(b), 42 CFR §423.308). We refer to all such direct or indirect remuneration as DIR. DIR must be excluded from allowable reinsurance and risk corridor costs (see Sections 12-13).

# 11.2 Reporting requirements

Some DIR may already be reflected in the amount paid (sum of ingredient cost, dispensing fee, plus applicable sales tax) at the point of sale. However, all DIR that is not factored into the point of sale price and thus is not reflected in the costs reported on the PDE must be reported to CMS separately. These DIR will be excluded from allowable costs.

Plans must report these DIR to CMS within six months of the end of the year. DIR dollars must be reported in full with no reduction for administrative cost or any other fees. Plans will submit DIR amounts to CMS in the following three categories:

1) DIR dollars for non-covered drugs as defined in Section 5;

2) DIR dollars for covered Part D drugs as defined in Section 5; and

3) Total DIR (the sum of 1 and 2).

Non-covered drugs are benefits beyond the standard benefit while covered Part D drugs constitute a plan's basic benefit. Distinguishing DIR dollars for drugs in these two categories enables CMS to calculate reinsurance and risk corridor payments net of DIR and based only on the basic benefit, in accordance with legislation.

# Section 12. Reinsurance

## 12.1 Definition

Reinsurance is designed to reduce the risk of participating in the Part D program, where the federal government subsidizes 80 percent of covered Part D drug costs incurred and actually paid by the plan in the catastrophic phase of the benefit, net of DIR (\$1860D-15(b)(2), \$423.308). A beneficiary enters the catastrophic phase of the benefit after accumulating \$3,600 in true out-of-pocket costs (see Section 8). The \$3,600 limit in TrOOP costs is referred to as the out-of-pocket threshold or attachment point. The amount of \$3,600 is specific to 2006 and increases annually each subsequent year as per \$1860D-2(b)(4)(B)(i).

Thus, the reinsurance subsidy applies to drug costs accumulated after the beneficiary reaches the attachment point, net of DIR. We also apply other statutory exclusions based on plan type, covered Part D drug status, and enhanced alternative benefits. After these exclusions have been applied, we refer to the remaining costs used in final reconciliation as Allowable Reinsurance Costs (§1860D-15(b)(2)).

<u>Plan level exclusions</u> – CMS will not calculate reinsurance for fallback plans because they do not receive reinsurance and are instead paid allowable costs under the standard benefit (§1860D-15(e)(1)(B)). Private fee-for-service (PFFS) plans will receive reinsurance according to separately legislated parameters as per §1860D-21(d)(4) and as set forth in the Advance and Final Notices of Methodological Changes for Calendar Year (CY) 2006 Medicare Advantage (MA) Payment Rates (http://www.cms.hhs.gov/healthplans/rates/).

Excluding enhanced alternative costs related to non-covered drugs –Allowable Reinsurance Costs only include those costs above the OOP threshold that would have been paid under the basic prescription drug coverage (§1860D-15(b)(2)). Thus we will exclude all costs related to drugs that the statute specifies as non-covered from our calculation of Allowable Reinsurance Costs, i.e., all drugs that have Drug Coverage Status Codes of E or O (see Section 5).

## 12.2 Calculating allowable reinsurance costs for reconciliation

As in all other Part D payment reconciliation, reinsurance calculations will be carried out at the individual beneficiary level with costs aggregated up to the plan (PBP) level. To calculate allowable reinsurance costs, we will use the Gross Drug Cost Above the Out-of-Pocket Threshold (GDCA) and Catastrophic Coverage Code fields to identify all active PDE records for covered Part D drugs for beneficiaries who reached the attachment point. We will aggregate each beneficiary's GDCA for PDEs with Catastrophic Coverage Codes = A or C. We will sum these at the plan level to determine the incurred reinsurance costs.

Next, we will apportion DIR to these incurred reinsurance costs by taking the ratio of costs above the out-of-pocket threshold to total covered drug costs then applying it to covered Part D DIR. We will subtract the DIR allocated to reinsurance costs (referred to as reinsurance DIR) from incurred reinsurance costs to derive the allowable reinsurance costs. Finally, we multiply the allowable reinsurance costs by 80 percent to determine the federal government liability.

#### In formula:

Reinsurance DIR = (Gross Drug Cost Above the Out-of-Pocket Threshold /Total Gross Drug Cost) \* covered Part D DIR Allowable reinsurance costs= (incurred reinsurance costs – reinsurance DIR) Reinsurance payment = (allowable reinsurance costs\*0.80)

#### Example

A plan had \$1,000,000 in incurred reinsurance costs and total allowed costs of \$6,100,000. Covered Part D DIR = \$610,000.

The PACE PDE information in this module is accurate as of August 17, 2005. See front cover letter for more information regarding sources of updated information.

Reinsurance DIR = (\$1m/\$6.1m)\*\$610,000 = \$100,000 Allowable reinsurance costs = (\$1m - \$100,000) = \$900,000 Reinsurance payment = (\$900,000)\*0.80 = \$720,000

The resulting reinsurance payment amount (\$720,000 in the example) will be reconciled with prospective reinsurance payment amounts made to plans during the coverage year (see Section 13).

Calculating and reconciling allowable reinsurance costs can also be considered as a 6-step process:

- 1. Plan level exclusions We will use plan type to exclude drug data submitted by fallback and PFFS plans from allowable reinsurance cost processing.
- 2. In order to limit allowable reinsurance costs to basic prescription drug coverage we will use data in the Drug Coverage Status field, excluding PDE data reported as E or O.
- 3. To identify events with costs above the attachment point, we will sum GDCA (Ingredient Cost Paid + Dispensing Fee Paid + Total Amount Attributed to Sales Tax) reported on all PDE records with Catastrophic Coverage Code = C or A.
- 4. We will sum the beneficiary totals calculated in step 3 to derive the plan total.
- 5. We will apportion DIR to the reinsurance part of the benefit and subtract this portion (referred to as reinsurance DIR) to derive allowable reinsurance costs.
- 6. We will multiply the allowable reinsurance costs by 80 percent to determine the federal government liability for reconciliation.

#### Section 13. Risk sharing (risk corridor payment adjustments)

#### 13.1 Definition

As provided in §1860D-15(e) of the Act, risk sharing is designed to limit exposure to unexpected expenses not already included in the reinsurance subsidy or taken into account through health status risk adjustment. The federal government and the plan share the profits or losses resulting from expenses for the standard benefit within defined symmetrical risk corridors around a target amount (see Figure 1). Risk corridors work by determining the difference between (a) the target amount (what a plan was actually paid through the direct subsidy plus enrollee premium related to the standardized bid amount) and (b) a plan's actual allowable costs not including administrative expenses. A plan's actual allowable costs are limited to those costs actually incurred or paid by the plan and must subtract out any DIR (see Section 11). Also, if a plan provides supplemental coverage CMS takes into account how the presence of such coverage increases utilization beyond what it would be if the coverage were defined standard coverage. CMS will also subtract out enhanced alternative cost-sharing amounts, all federal reinsurance payments, low-income subsidy payments related to cost sharing, and beneficiary cost sharing including TrOOP-eligible payments made on the beneficiary's behalf.

*Note:* Risk corridor provisions do not apply to fallback plans (\$1860D-11(g)(5)) or PFFS plans (\$1860D-21(d)(5)), and reduced risk sharing is applied to limited risk plans as detailed in Section 13.3 below.

# 13.2 Calculating risk-sharing payment adjustments for reconciliation

As in all other Part D payment reconciliation, risk corridor calculations will be carried out at the individual beneficiary level with costs aggregated up to the plan (PBP) level. Calculating risk corridor payment adjustments can be considered as a 4-step process:

- Calculate the plan's target amount
- Calculate associated risk corridor thresholds
- Calculate adjusted allowable risk corridor costs
- Determine where costs fall with respect to the risk corridor thresholds, then calculate payment adjustment

# Calculate the target amount (§1860D-15(e)(3)(B))

The first step in determining risk corridor payment adjustments is to establish a plan's target amount. The target amount is the plan's total direct subsidy payments plus total beneficiary premiums related to the standardized bid amount minus administrative costs.

## In formula:

# Target amount = (total direct subsidy payments + total beneficiary premiums related to the standardized bid amount) \* (1.00 - administrative cost ratio), where:

- Total direct subsidy is the sum of all monthly direct subsidy amounts paid for the entire coverage year.
- Direct subsidy = (standardized bid \* beneficiary risk adjustment factor) beneficiary premium related to the standardized bid amount. Note that risk factors are calculated three times a year: initial calculation, mid-year correction, and final at year-end.
- The direct subsidy as used in this calculation will reflect all retroactive adjustments made based on changes in enrollment, relevant status (low income/long-term institutionalized), and final risk adjustment factors, for any month during the payment year.
- The total beneficiary premiums related to the standardized bid amount is the sum of all monthly basic beneficiary premiums for payment purposes plus any A/B rebate applied to the basic premium, for the entire coverage year. Beneficiary premiums include premiums due from enrollees or paid on their behalf, including low-income premium subsidies.

• Administrative cost ratio is calculated as follows from bid data: (Total Non-Pharmacy Expense + Gain/Loss) / Total Basic Bid

### **Example:**

Total direct subsidy	\$ 792,500
Total basic beneficiary premiums for payment purposes	\$ 269,457
+ A/B rebate	\$ 25,000
Target amount before administrative cost adjustment	\$1,086,957
* (1 - Administrative cost ratio)	* 0.92
Target amount	\$1,000,000

Note that CMS will have data to calculate the components that make up the target amount that will be used in reconciliation at the end of the year. For example, risk-adjusted direct subsidies that take into account any A/B rebates will be paid to plans monthly per beneficiary, and CMS will also know premium amounts and administrative costs. Beneficiary-level subsidies and premiums will be aggregated into plan-level data for reconciliation.

#### Calculate associated risk corridor threshold limits

Risk corridors are calculated based on the target amount plus or minus the threshold risk percentages associated with four symmetrical threshold limits. As illustrated below, in 2006 the first threshold upper limit is 102.5 percent of the target amount and the second threshold upper limit is 105 percent of the target amount; similarly, the first threshold lower limit is 97.5 percent of the target amount and the second threshold lower limit is 95 percent of the target amount. These percentages will be adjusted in future years according to legislation.

#### **Example (target amount = \$1,000,000):**

The first threshold upper limit is 1,025,000 or 1,000,000 + (.025\*1,000,000)The second threshold upper limit is 1,050,000 or 1,000,000 + (0.050\*1,000,000)The first threshold lower limit is 975,000 or 1,000,000 - (.025\*1,000,000)The second threshold lower limit is 950,000 or 1,000,000 - (0.050\*1,000,000)



## Calculate adjusted allowable risk corridor costs

CMS will calculate adjusted allowable risk corridor costs from PDE records as per §1860D-15(e)(1) of the Act. Adjusted allowable risk corridor costs include covered prescription drug costs actually incurred and paid by the plan within the limits of the standard benefit that are not covered by reinsurance payments or low-income cost-sharing subsidies, net of DIR. The term "actually paid by the plan" excludes coinsurance and copayments, LICS and EACS Amounts, and any payments by other health insurers or qualified entities.

Calculating adjusted allowable risk corridor costs can be considered as a 4-step process:

- 1. Include a plan's PDE records for covered Part D drugs, i.e. Drug Coverage Status value = C (see Section 5) and calculate allowable risk corridor costs for the basic benefit by summing CPP Amounts on those PDEs.
- 2. Exclude induced utilization vis-a-vis the standard benefit (applies only to enhanced alternative plans);
  - Multiply result of formula above by (1.00 induced utilization percentage)
- 3. Subtract plan-level reinsurance subsidy (see Section 12).
- 4. Subtract covered Part D DIR dollars (see Section 11) to determine adjusted allowable risk corridor costs.

Determine where costs fall with respect to the thresholds and calculate payment adjustment If adjusted allowable risk corridor costs fall within 2.5 percent of the target amount (above or below it), there is no risk sharing of additional costs or "savings" compared to estimated (prepaid) amounts, so no payment adjustment will be made:

If adjusted allowable risk corridor costs > 97.5 percent and  $\leq$  102.5 percent of target amount, then no payment adjustment is made.

**Example 1** (target amount = \$1m and adjusted allowable risk corridor costs = \$978,000):

No payment adjustment is made

**Example 2** (target amount = \$1m and adjusted allowable risk corridor costs = \$1,005,000):

No payment adjustment is made

If adjusted allowable risk corridor costs are more than 2.5 percent outside the plan's target (above or below it), costs or savings will be shared in accordance with the following provisions:

If adjusted allowable risk corridor costs > 102.5 percent and  $\leq$  105 percent of target amount, then the government pays plan 75 percent of difference between adjusted allowable risk corridor costs and the 1<sup>st</sup> upper threshold limit. The plan covers remainder of costs.

**Example** (target amount = \$1m and adjusted allowable risk corridor costs = \$1,035,000):

Payment adjustment = 0.75\*(\$1,035,000-\$1,025,000) = \$7,500 (government pays plan)

If adjusted allowable risk corridor costs > 105 percent of target amount, then the government pays plan the sum of 75 percent of difference between  $2^{nd}$  and  $1^{st}$  upper threshold limits and 80 percent of the difference between the adjusted allowable risk corridor costs and the  $2^{nd}$  upper threshold limit. The plan covers remainder of costs.

**Example** (target amount = \$1m and adjusted allowable risk corridor costs = \$1,063,000):

Payment adjustment = [0.75\*(\$1,050,000-\$1,025,000) + 0.80\*(\$1,063,000-\$1,050,000)] = \$29,150 (government pays plan)

If adjusted allowable risk corridor costs < 97.5 percent and  $\geq$  95 percent of target amount, then the plan pays government back 75 percent of difference between 1<sup>st</sup> lower threshold limit and the adjusted allowable risk corridor costs. The plan retains 25 percent.

**Example** (target amount = \$1m and adjusted allowable risk corridor costs = \$973,000):

Payment adjustment = 0.75\*(\$975,000-\$973,000) = \$1,500 (plan pays back to government)

If adjusted allowable risk corridor costs < 95 percent of target amount, then the plan pays government back the sum of 75 percent of difference between  $1^{st}$  and  $2^{nd}$  lower threshold limits and 80 percent of the difference between the  $2^{nd}$  lower threshold limit and the adjusted allowable risk corridor. The plan retains the remaining amount.

**Example** (target amount = \$1m and adjusted allowable risk corridor costs = \$945,000):

Payment adjustment = [0.75\*(\$975,000-\$950,000) + 0.80\*(\$950,000-\$945,000)] = \$22,750 (plan pays back to government)

Note that in 2006, the 75 percent risk sharing for adjusted allowable risk corridor costs between the first and second upper threshold limits will change to 90 percent (or the higher percentage if negotiated as a limited risk plan) if the following two conditions have been met:

- 1. At least 60 percent of Part D plans have adjusted allowable risk corridor costs for the Part D plan for the year that are above 102.5 percent of their target amount; and
- 2. Such plans represent at least 60 percent of part D eligible individuals enrolled in any prescription drug plan or MA-PD plan.

Note that condition 1 excludes employer-sponsored plans that elect the 28% subsidy but includes all employers that are contracted Part D plans.

## 13.3 Limited Risk Plans

PDPs assuming limited risk may be approved in geographic areas where access requirements for a PDP region have not otherwise been met. The statute requires that regions contain at least two qualifying plans offered by different entities, one of which must be a PDP; also, these plans must offer basic coverage or basic and supplemental benefits without any accompanying supplemental premium. In regions where access requirements are not met, the minimum number of limited risk plans needed to satisfy the requirements may be approved. Note that only PDPs may act as limited risk plans and that they must at least provide basic coverage (\$1860D-11(f)(4)(A), 42 CFR \$423.104(f)(2)). MA-PD plan sponsors may not assume reduced risk.

In making risk corridor payments to limited risk PDPs, we will apply the reduced risk provisions approved in their bids. In accordance with the statute, reduction in risk may be accomplished by 1) symmetrical increases in the federal risk percentages assumed within either risk corridor or 2) symmetrical narrowing of the risk corridors by reducing the threshold risk percentages. As required under § 423.272(c)(2), CMS shall not approve any bid with a de minimis level of risk. In the preamble to the final rule, we stated that our definition of de minimis in this context was a level of risk that was 10% or less of the statutory level of risk. We clarified in the Advance Notice of Payment Methodological Changes for 2006 that this means the risk after modification cannot be less than 10% of the risk before the risk corridors were moved or federal risk percentages were increased. For example, the lowest reduction in terms of plan threshold risk percentages would be a reduction in the first corridor from 25% to 2.5% and a reduction in the second corridor from 20% to 2%. If risk were reduced by narrowing the corridors, the threshold limits could not be reduced below one-tenth of 2.5% or one-tenth of 5%.

## Section 14. Special rules for PACE organizations

Because of several statutory provisions unique to the PACE program, PACE organizations (POs) have several different rules for submitting PDE data. In this section, we describe requirements particular to POs. Note that unless otherwise specified, POs are subject to all other instructions for submitting PDE data.

#### Section 14.1 Two types of PACE plans

Sections 1894(b)(1)(A)(i) and 1934(b)(1)(A)(i) of the Act preclude PACE organizations from charging PACE enrollees any form of cost sharing. This provision must be reconciled with the global provisions in the MMA that require beneficiary out-of-pocket expenditures. Therefore, CMS will classify all PACE enrollees in two groups, each with its own plan benefit package; the distinction is made according to whether or not a beneficiary is dual eligible. (For further detail, see the 45-Day and Final Payment Notices for 2006 at http://www.cms.hhs.gov/healthplans/rates/).

<u>Dual eligible enrollees</u> – The majority of PACE enrollees are dually eligible for Medicare and Medicaid. These beneficiaries will be enrolled in a plan benefit package that generally maps to the defined standard benefit. They will also be deemed eligible for the low-income subsidy (LIS) to cover most of the standard beneficiary cost sharing. In addition, under the provisions of section 1894(d)(2) of the Act CMS will cover the nominal cost sharing due from non-institutionalized low-income beneficiaries by paying POs an additional monthly capitated payment. For 2006, we will determine the capitation amount to be two percent of costs below the out-of-pocket (OOP) threshold in an approved bid. In this document, we refer to this amount as the "2% capitation." Note that this 2 percent capitation results in a slight deviation from the defined standard benefit at the OOP threshold for catastrophic coverage. Because LICS payments count towards TrOOP, dual eligible enrollees may reach the OOP threshold and catastrophic coverage provisions. For PACE calculation purposes, the threshold will be reached at \$5,204 in total drug spending, corresponding to \$3,600 in TrOOP costs as per the Part D benefit. Between \$5,100 and \$5,204 in spending, the plan is at risk for 15 percent of allowable costs plus the 2 percent in capitation (for a total of 17%), and 83 percent of costs will be covered as LICS. After the OOP threshold is crossed (> \$5,204), reinsurance covers 80 percent of costs; risk is still shared around 15 percent of costs; and LICS covers 5 percent of cost sharing on behalf of the beneficiary (see Section 12).

Risk corridor calculations remain largely unchanged (see Section 13); CMS will share risk with the plan around 75 percent of adjusted allowable risk corridor costs in the initial coverage period and 15 percent of adjusted allowable risk corridor costs above the OOP threshold. However, the federal government will also share risk with plans on the 2 percent capitation. The formula for the target amount will be (direct subsidy + premium + 2% capitation). Note that since POs do not bid on the A/B component of the benefit, there is no A/B rebate to apply to the target amount.

Note that PACE organizations will not submit a bid for any non-covered benefits they may provide to dual eligible beneficiaries (e.g., non-Part D drugs). These benefits cannot be covered by a supplemental premium or by Medicare, so bidding does not apply to them. POs may – but are not required to – submit PDE records for these drug events with Drug Coverage Status Code = E or O.

<u>Medicare-only enrollees</u> – A small number of PO enrollees are only eligible for Medicare. These beneficiaries will be enrolled in an enhanced alternative (EA) plan in which the PO covers all enrollee cost sharing as enhanced alternative cost sharing (EACS). Since the EA benefit is primary to most wrap-around coverage and will cover all enrollee cost sharing, Medicare-only enrollees who are eligible for LIS will not use any cost-sharing subsidy although they will receive premium assistance.

Medicare-only enrollees will never reach the OOP threshold or the catastrophic coverage phase of the standard benefit, because no TrOOP-eligible payments will be made by them or on their behalf. Thus, reinsurance provisions do not apply. However, risk will be shared around adjusted allowable risk corridor costs using the calculations in Section 13.

Note that the enhanced alternative Medicare-only PACE plans will submit a bid and report PDE data for all supplemental benefits that are funded through a supplemental premium, namely the enhanced alternative cost sharing and any non-Part D covered drugs.

No PACE organization of either plan type shall assume reduced risk (§1860D-11(f)(4)(A), 42 CFR §423.104(f)(2)).

Section 14.2 Rules for populating PDE fields

52 The PACE PDE information in this module is accurate as of August 17, 2005. See front cover letter for more information regarding sources of updated information. For both plan types, POs will always report the following fields with zero dollar values: Gross Drug Cost Above the Out-of-Pocket Threshold (GDCA) Gross Drug Cost Below the Out-of-Pocket Threshold (GDCB) Patient Pay Amount Other TrOOP Amount Low-Income Cost-Sharing Subsidy (LICS) Patient Liability Reduction Due to Other Payer (PLRO)

*Note:* All dollar fields must be populated with a zero dollar value and submitted in PDE records, even if there is no positive amount to report.

The Catastrophic Coverage Code will always be blank.

Drug Coverage Status Code (DCS), Covered D Plan Paid Amount (CPP), and Non-covered Plan Paid Amount (NPP) shall be populated as follows:

- When DCS = C, the total drug cost must be reported in the Covered D Plan Paid field (CPP); NPP will always = zero.
- When DCS = E or O, the total drug cost must be reported in the Non-covered Plan Paid field (NPP); CPP will always = zero.
- In both instances, CMS will apply an edit to verify that the sum of Ingredient Cost Paid + Dispensing Fee Paid + Amount Attributed to Sales Tax = the summary dollar value in the CPP or NPP field.

CMS will then array the costs reported by the plan in CPP or NPP into the payment categories.

YTD Total Covered Drug Cost	LICS	Reinsurance	2%	CPP	NPP
			capitation		
DCS = C					
Below the OOP threshold <sup>†</sup>					
≤ \$250	98%	n/a	2%	0%	0
$>$ \$250 and $\leq$ \$2,250	23%	n/a	2%	75%	0
$>$ \$2,250 and $\leq$ \$5,100	98%	n/a	2%	0%	0
$>$ \$5,100 and $\leq$ \$5,204	83%	n/a	2%	15%	0
Above the OOP threshold <sup>†</sup>					
> \$5,204	5%	80%	n/a	15%	0
When DCS = E or O	n/a	n/a	n/a	\$0	All drug cost
					amounts
					reported in NPP

<sup>†</sup>In 2006, the threshold is reached at \$3,600 in true out-of-pocket costs and will correspond to \$5,204 in total covered drug spending for PACE organizations.

YTD Total Covered Drug	CPP	NPP
Cost†		
When DCS = C		
≤ \$250	0%	100%
$>$ \$250 and $\leq$ \$2,250	75%	25%
$>$ \$2,250 and $\leq$ \$5,100	0%	100%
> \$5,100	15%	85%
When DCS = E or O	0	100%

<sup>†</sup>No out-of-pocket threshold or catastrophic coverage is reached

## Section 14.5 Examples

		Dual Eligible PACE Program The Dual Eligible PACE Program has submitted PDEs for			Medicare PACE I PACE Program ha	Program			
		Beneficia	ry A for Covered Pa	rt D drugs that tot	al \$6,000	Beneficiary B for Covered Part D drugs that total \$6,000			otal \$6,000
Standard Benefit Category	Total Covered Drug Cost	LICS	СРР	Portion of CPP eligible for Reinsurance	NPP	Standard Benefit Category	Total Covered Drug Cost	СРР	NPP
Deductible	The first \$250	\$245 (.98*250)	\$5 (.02 * 245)	\$0	\$0	Deductible	The first \$250	\$0	\$250
Initial Cost sharing	The next \$2,000 > \$250 and ≤ \$2,250	\$460 (.23*2000)	\$1,540 (.02 * 2000) + (.75 * 2000)	\$0	\$0	Initial Cost sharing	The next \$2,000 > \$250 and ≤ \$2,250	\$1500	\$500
Coverage Gap	The next \$2,850 > \$2,250 and $\leq$ \$5,100	\$2,793 (.98*2850)	\$57 (.02*2850)	\$0	\$0	Coverage Gap	The next \$2,850 > \$2,250 and $\leq$ \$5,100	\$0	\$2,850
Defined Standard Catastrophic Coverage	The next \$104 > \$5,100 and ≤ \$5,204†	\$86.32 (.83 * 104)	\$17.68 (.15 * 104) + (.02 * 104)	\$0	\$0	Defined Standard Catastrophic Coverage	The remaining \$900 > \$5,100	\$135	\$765
PACE Catastrophic Coverage (Reinsurance)	The remaining \$796 > \$5,204† and ≤ \$6,000	\$39.80 (.05*796)	\$756.20 (.15 * 796) + (.80 * 796)	\$796	\$0				
Total	\$6,000	\$3,624.12	\$2,375.88	\$796	\$0	CMS will build a l	anaficiary/plan le	\$1,635	\$4,365
		<ul> <li>CMS will build a beneficiary/plan level summary record totaling the dollars arrayed in LICS, CPP and the portion of CPP eligible for Reinsurance.</li> <li>Plan level LICS total is the basis for reconciling Low-Income Cost-Sharing Subsidy (see Section 10).</li> <li>Plan level total Reinsurance represents Allowable Reinsurance Costs used to reconcile the Reinsurance Subsidy (see Section 12).</li> <li>Plan level total CPP represents the Allowable Risk Corridor Costs used in Risk Corridor calculations (see Section 13).</li> </ul>			<ul> <li>totaling the dollars</li> <li>CPP eligible for R</li> <li>LICS - none</li> <li>Plan level to</li> <li>Plan level to</li> </ul>	arrayed in LICS, einsurance.	CPP and the none s the Allowa	e portion of ble Risk	

The following chart shows the calculations CMS will perform to array beneficiary costs into standard benefit categories for payment reconciliation.

† In 2006, the threshold is reached at \$3,600 in true out-of-pocket costs and will correspond to \$5,204 in total covered drug spending for PACE organizations.

# Section 15. Special rules for payment demonstration plans

## Section 15.1 Overview

In 2006 to 2010, Part D plans may participate in payment demonstrations to study the effects of providing supplemental insurance in the coverage gap. Plans may choose among three variant payment structures that are described in detail at <u>http://www.cms.hhs.gov/pdps/PmntNtcNRskAdjMdl.asp</u>:

- 1. The flexible capitation option;
- 2. The fixed capitation option; and
- 3. The MA rebate option

Since payment demonstration plans will have non-standard benefit structures and some variations in payment methodology, they have several different rules for submitting PDE data for payment calculations. In this section, we describe requirements particular to these plans. Note that unless otherwise specified, payment demonstration plans are subject to all other instructions for submitting PDE data.

In this section, we define rules for cost allocation that only apply to the flexible capitated option and the fixed capitated option, and we provide illustrative examples. Then we provide examples for special TrOOP accounting that only apply to the MA rebate option. In all the examples, we illustrate the simplest case where the beneficiary does not qualify for low income cost-sharing subsidy and the beneficiary has no other health insurance.<sup>7</sup>

## Section 15.2 Rules for populating PDE records (flexible and fixed capitation options)

The PDE reporting rules for payment demonstration plans implementing either the flexible or the fixed capitated options are very similar to the rules for reporting enhanced alternative cost sharing (see Section 7). We require these rules because risk sharing for both options differs from risk sharing for other plans as they share risk based on all amounts they would have paid under the standard benefit, including the 80% reinsurance subsidy. These rules allocate all plan paid amounts, including those amounts that would otherwise be included in the reinsurance subsidy, as if the claim had been adjudicated according to the standard benefit. Plan paid dollars allocated to the standard benefit are included in risk corridor calculations. Plan paid dollars that exceed the standard benefit are considered supplemental benefits and are excluded from risk corridor calculations.

The fixed capitated option differs from the flexible capitated option in one important way. Fixed capitation plans will always administer catastrophic coverage at \$5,100 of total covered drug spending, so the attachment point claim is always reported at \$5,100. From that point forward, the plan will administer and report the benefit according to the standard catastrophic coverage rules.

The rules impact reporting in the following three fields: Patient Pay Amount, Covered D Plan Paid Amount (CPP) and Non-covered Plan Paid Amount (NPP). Note that there is no change in the business rules to populate three other related fields: Catastrophic Coverage Code, Gross Drug Cost Above Out-Of-Pocket Threshold (GDCA) and Gross Drug Cost Below Out-Of-Pocket Threshold (GDCB).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Payment demonstration plans calculate the low-income cost-sharing subsidy (LICS) in the same way that all other plans do (see <u>Section</u> 10).

# Patient Pay Amount, Covered Plan Paid Amount (CPP), Non-covered Plan Paid Amount (NPP)

When reporting PDE records for covered drugs, payment demonstration plans will apply the following rules to calculate amounts submitted in Patient Pay Amount, Covered D Plan Paid Amount and Non-Covered Plan Paid Amount.

Note the following definitions:

**Total covered drug cost** – the sum of Ingredient Cost, Dispensing Fee, and Sales Tax for a given PDE **Year-to-date (YTD) total covered drug cost** – the sum of all total covered drug costs for a beneficiary to-date within a coverage year

**Initial coverage period** – the phase of the benefit above the deductible and at or below the initial coverage limit in the defined standard benefit

**Payment demonstration coverage period** – the phase of the benefit above the initial coverage limit in the defined standard benefit up to the point at which the beneficiary has reached \$3,600 in true out-of-pocket (TrOOP) spending. If the plan does not completely fill in the coverage gap as defined by the standard benefit, the payment demonstration coverage period extends from the defined standard initial coverage limit up to the initial coverage limit in the demonstration plan's benefit package.

Rules to calculate CPP and NPP

- 1. Pay pharmacy according to plan's cost sharing formula and note the patient and plan paid amounts at POS.
- 2. Report patient cost share at point of sale (POS) in Patient Pay Amount field.
- 3. Calculate the amount to report in Covered D Plan Paid Amount (CPP). CPP Amount is determined by the standard benefit, and will not necessarily be the same as the plan paid amount at POS (as calculated in step 1). To calculate CPP Amount, multiply total covered drug cost by the applicable percentage in rules 1-4 below.

Note that the purpose of the rules is to allocate plan paid dollars between two payment fields: Covered Plan Paid Amount (CPP) and Non-covered Plan Paid Amount (NPP). The CPP field captures allowable risk corridor costs. Costs in the NPP field are excluded from allowable risk corridor costs.

When YTD total covered drug costs  $\leq$  \$5,100, allocation rules are the same for both options.

When YTD total covered drug costs > \$5,100, the rules differ slightly for the two capitation options. Their different cost allocation rules reflect the fact that beneficiaries cross into catastrophic coverage (or reach the OOP threshold) at a higher YTD total drug costs in the flexible option compared to the fixed option. By way of illustration, the rules consider YTD total covered drug cost above \$5,100 into two categories: costs > \$5,100 but still  $\leq$  the OOP threshold, and costs > the OOP threshold. Fixed capitated plans will never have costs in the former category, but both flexible and fixed plans will have costs in the latter category. Both rules have the same effect which is to allocate all plan-paid covered drug costs above \$5,100 to CPP.

Rule #	YTD Total Covered Drug Cost	Percentage to calculate standard benefit		
		Flexible Capitated Option	Fixed Capitated Option	
1		0%		
2	$>$ \$250 and $\le$ \$2,250	75%		
3	$>$ \$2,250 and $\le$ \$5,100	0%		
4	$>$ \$5,100 and $\leq$ Out-of-Pocket	Lesser of 95% or (Total	N/A†	
	Threshold	Covered Drug Cost - \$2/\$5)		
5	> Out-of-Pocket Threshold	Lesser of 95% or (Total	Lesser of 95% or	
		Covered Drug Cost - \$2/\$5)	(Total Covered Drug	
			Cost - \$2/\$5)	

*\*Not applicable to plans that retain the full \$250 deductible †By definition, the Out-of-Pocket threshold will always coincide with \$5,100 in YTD total covered drug* costs in the fixed capitated option.

4. Determine the amount to report in Non-covered Plan Paid Amount (NPP). Subtract Patient Pay Amount (Step 2) and Covered D Plan Paid Amount (Step 3) from total covered drug cost.<sup>8</sup>

# Section 15.3 Examples: flexible capitation option

**Plan A** – Plan A illustrates the flexible capitated option. Plan A retains the \$250 deductible. After the deductible is satisfied, it offers 25% cost sharing throughout the benefit until the beneficiary reaches catastrophic coverage. Because Plan A eliminates the coverage gap, a beneficiary does not reach the out-ofpocket threshold until total covered drug costs equal \$13,650.

**Example 1** – The beneficiary's YTD total covered drug costs = \$2,000. The beneficiary purchases a covered drug for \$100. Apply Rule #2.

YTD Total Covered Drug	g Cost = \$2,000 – Rule	e #2		
( a )	(b)	( c )	(d)	( e )
Total Covered Drug Cost	Patient Pay Amount (a) * .25	Plan Paid at POS (a) * .75	Covered D Plan Paid Amount (CPP) (a) * .75	NPP (a) - (b + d) or (c-d)
\$100	\$25	\$75	\$75	\$0

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> If a beneficiary has other health insurance (reported in PLRO or Other TrOOP Amount) and/or Low-Income Cost-Sharing Subsidy (reported in LICS), we also subtract those amounts from total covered drug cost to determine NPP.

The PACE PDE information in this module is accurate as of August 17, 2005. See front cover letter for more information regarding sources of updated information.

**Explanation:** According to the standard benefit the beneficiary is in the Initial Coverage Period where the beneficiary pays 25% cost sharing and the plan pays 75%. Plan A's benefit structure is the same. There is no difference between the plan's benefit structure and the standard benefit structure.

**Example 2** – The beneficiary's total covered drug costs = 3,000. The beneficiary purchases a covered Part D drug for 100. Apply Rule #3.

YTD Total Covered Dr	rug Cost = \$3,000 – Rule	e #3		
( a )	(b)	( c )	(d)	( e )
Total Covered Drug Cost	Patient Pay Amount (a) * .25	Plan Paid at POS (a) * .75	Covered D Plan Paid Amount (CPP) (a) * 0	NPP (a) - (b + d) or (c-d)
\$100	\$25	\$75	\$0	\$75

**Explanation:** According to the standard benefit, the beneficiary is in the coverage gap where the beneficiary pays 100% cost sharing and the plan pays 0%. In Plan A's benefit structure, the beneficiary is in the payment demonstration coverage period. In Plan A the beneficiary pays 25% cost share and the plan pays 75%. The difference between the plan liability in the Plan's benefit structure (75%) and the standard benefit plan structure (0%) is a supplemental benefit. This amount is reported in the NPP field.

**Example 3** – The beneficiary's YTD total covered drug costs = 6,000. The beneficiary purchases a covered Part D drug for 100. Apply Rule #4.

YTD Total Covered Dr	rug Cost = \$6,000 – Rule #	4		
( a )	(b)	( c )	(d)	( e )
Total Covered Drug	Patient Pay Amount	Plan Paid at	Covered D Plan Paid	NPP
Cost	(a) * .25	POS	Amount (CPP)	(a) - (b + d)
		(a) * .75	(a) * .95	or (c-d)
\$100	\$25	\$75	\$95	-\$20

**Explanation:** According to the standard benefit the beneficiary is in the catastrophic phase of the benefit where the beneficiary cost sharing is the greater of 2/5 or 5%. In Plan A's benefit structure, the beneficiary is in the payment demonstration coverage period where the beneficiary pays 25% cost share and the plan pays 75%. As with prior examples, the amount reported in the CPP field is the amount the plan would pay under the standard benefit, \$95. This constraint results in a negative NPP amount to account for the difference between what the plan actually paid at POS and what the plan would have paid under the standard benefit. Note also that Plan A would be reporting a Catastrophic Coverage Code = blank for this event, indicating that the beneficiary has not reached catastrophic coverage under Plan A's benefit structure. All drug costs would be reported as below the out-of-pocket threshold in the GDCB field.

**Example 4** – The beneficiary's YTD total covered drug costs = \$13,651. The beneficiary purchases a covered drug for \$100. Apply Rule #5.

YTD Total Covered Dr	rug Cost = \$13,651 - Rule	#5		
( a )	(b)	( c )	(d)	( e )
Total Covered Drug Cost	Patient Pay Amount (a) * .05	Plan Paid at POS (a) * .95	Covered D Plan Paid Amount (CPP) (a) * .95	NPP (a) - (b + d) or (c-d)
\$100	\$5	\$95	\$95	\$0

**Explanation:** The beneficiary has reached \$3,600 in true out-of-pocket costs, thus is in the catastrophic phase of the benefit where cost sharing is the greater of 2/5 or 5%. Plan A must provide catastrophic coverage under the standard benefit provisions from here forward, so there is no difference between the Plan's benefit structure and the standard benefit plan structure. Also note that Plan A would be reporting a Catastrophic Coverage Code = C for this event, indicating that this is catastrophic coverage under Plan A's benefit structure, and all drug costs would be reported as above the out-of-pocket threshold in the GDCA field.

# Section 15.4 Examples: fixed capitation option

**<u>Plan B</u>** - Plan B illustrates the fixed capitated option; it eliminates both the \$250 deductible and cost sharing in the coverage gap. This plan offers tiered cost sharing in the following structure: 5/20/40 (these amounts are for illustration only and are not necessarily representative of an actuarially equivalent benefit structure. Also note that a flexible Capitated plan can offer a tiered cost-sharing arrangement). In the fixed capitated option, the beneficiary reaches catastrophic coverage at \$5,100 of YTD total drug spending rather than \$3,600 of TrOOP.

**Example 1** – The beneficiary's YTD total covered drug costs = \$50. The beneficiary purchases a covered Part D drug for \$40. The copay for this drug is \$5. Apply Rule #1.

YTD Total Covered Dr	ug Cost = \$50 - Rule #1			
( a )	(b)	( c )	(d)	( e )
Total Covered Drug	Patient Pay Amount	Plan Paid at	Covered D Plan Paid	NPP
Cost		POS	Amount (CPP)	(a) - $(b + d)$
				or (c-d)
\$40	\$5	\$35	\$0	\$35

**Explanation:** According to the standard benefit, the beneficiary is in the deductible phase where the beneficiary pays 100% cost sharing and the plan pays 0%. In Plan B's benefit structure, the beneficiary cost sharing is reduced to a flat \$5 copay. The difference between the plan liability in the plan's actual benefit structure (\$35) and the plan's payment under standard benefit plan structure (\$0) is a supplemental benefit. This amount is reported in the NPP field.

**Example 2** – The beneficiary's YTD total covered drug costs = \$1,400. The beneficiary purchases a covered Part D drug for \$100. The copay for this drug is \$20. Apply Rule #2.

YTD Total Covered Drug Cost = \$1,400 - Rule #2						
( a )	(b)	( c )	(d)	( e )		
Total Covered Drug	Patient Pay Amount	Plan Paid at	Covered D Plan Paid	NPP		
Cost		POS	Amount (CPP)	(a) - $(b + d)$		
				or (c-d)		
\$100	\$20	\$80	\$75	\$5		

**Explanation:** According to the standard benefit, the beneficiary is in the initial coverage period where the beneficiary pays 25% cost share and the plan pays 75%. In Plan B's benefit structure, the beneficiary has a flat \$20 copay, which is 20% of the total drug cost. The plan liability is \$80 under Plan B's benefit structure as compared with \$75 under the standard defined benefit. The difference between the plan liability in the plan's benefit structure and the standard benefit plan structure is a supplemental benefit. This amount is reported in the NPP field.

**Example 3** – The beneficiary's YTD total covered drug costs = \$1,500. The beneficiary purchases a covered Part D drug for \$100. The copay for this drug is \$40. Apply Rule #2.

YTD Total Covered Drug Cost = \$1,500 - Rule #2						
( a )	(b)	( c )	(d)	( e )		
Total Covered Drug	Patient Pay Amount	Plan Paid at	Covered D Plan Paid	NPP		
Cost		POS	Amount (CPP)	(a) - $(b + d)$		
				or (c-d)		
\$100	\$40	\$60	\$75	-\$15		

**Explanation:** According to the standard benefit, the beneficiary is in the initial coverage period where the beneficiary pays 25% cost share and the plan pays 75%. In Plan B's benefit structure, the beneficiary has a flat \$40 copay, which is 40% of the total drug cost. The plan liability is \$60 under Plan B's benefit structure as compared with \$75 under the standard defined benefit. The difference between the plan liability in the Plan's benefit structure and the standard benefit plan structure is a supplemental benefit. In this case, the amount is negative because the plan paid less than under the defined standard. This amount is reported in the NPP field.
**Example 4** – The beneficiary's YTD total covered drug costs = \$3,000. The beneficiary purchases a covered Part D drug for \$100. The copay for this drug is \$40. Apply Rule #3.

YTD Total Covered Dr	ug Cost = \$3,000 - Rule #	3		
( a )	(b)	( c )	( d )	( e )
Total Covered Drug	Patient Pay Amount	Plan Paid at	Covered D Plan Paid	NPP
Cost		POS	Amount (CPP)	(a) - (b + d)
				or (c-d)
\$100	\$40	\$60	\$0	\$60

**Explanation:** According to the standard benefit, the beneficiary is in the coverage gap where the beneficiary pays 100% cost sharing and the plan pays 0%. In Plan B's benefit structure, the beneficiary is in the payment demonstration coverage period. In Plan B the beneficiary has a flat \$40 copay, which is 40% of the total drug cost. The plan liability is \$60 under Plan B's benefit structure as compared with \$0 under the standard defined benefit. The difference between the plan liability in the plan's benefit structure and the standard benefit plan structure is a supplemental benefit. This amount is reported in the NPP field.

**Example 5** – The beneficiary's YTD total covered drug costs = 6,000. The beneficiary purchases a covered Part D drug for 100. Apply Rule #5.

YTD Total Covered Drug Cost = \$6,000 - Rule #5							
( a )	(b)	( c )	(d)	( e )			
Total Covered Drug Cost	Patient Pay Amount	Plan Paid at POS	Covered D Plan Paid	$\frac{\text{NPP}}{(a)  (b+d)}$			
Cost		POS	Amount (CPP)	(a) - $(b + d)$ or $(c-d)$			
\$100	\$5	\$95	\$95	\$0			

**Explanation:** According to the standard benefit, the beneficiary is in the catastrophic phase of the benefit where the beneficiary cost sharing is the greater of 2/5 or 5%. Since Plan B is a fixed capitation plan, the OOP threshold is reached and catastrophic coverage commences when total covered drug cost reaches 5,100 regardless of accumulated TrOOP. Plan B should report a Catastrophic Coverage Code = C for this event, indicating that the beneficiary has reached catastrophic coverage under Plan B's benefit structure. All drug costs would be reported as above the out of pocket threshold in the GDCA field.

# Section 15.5 Examples: MA rebate option

Payment demonstration plans that implement the MA rebate option are considered to be the same as the standard benefit with one qualifier. These plans reduce or eliminate the coverage gap, with all plan spending in that phase of the benefit funded by A/B rebates which count towards TrOOP. In the coverage gap, all plan spending shall be attributed to Other TrOOP amount and therefore counted toward cumulative TrOOP (see example 2). These plans may offer tiered cost sharing in the initial coverage period provided the cost sharing is actuarially equivalent to the defined standard. On average, the cumulative TrOOP will reach \$3,600 at the same

time that total covered drug spend reaches \$5,100. Above \$3,600 TrOOP, these plans must offer the standard catastrophic coverage.

Reporting in the initial coverage period and in the catastrophic phase of the benefit will be the same as for any plan that offers basic Part D coverage, that is, all plan spending for covered drugs is considered covered plan paid amounts.

<u>Plan C</u> –Plan C retains the deductible and it eliminates the coverage gap, funding the additional coverage with A/B rebate dollars. The plan offers tiered cost sharing that is actuarially equivalent to the defined standard, but carries this cost sharing throughout the benefit up until catastrophic coverage. The plan offers the following cost sharing structure: 5/20/40 (these amounts are for illustration only and are not necessarily representative of an actuarially equivalent benefit structure).

**Example 1** – The beneficiary's YTD total covered drug costs = \$1,650. The beneficiary purchases a covered Part D drug for \$100. The copay for this drug is \$40.

YTD Total Covered Dr	rug Cost = \$1,650			
( a )	(b)	( c )	(d)	(e)
Total Covered Drug Cost	Patient Pay Amount	Plan Paid at POS	Covered D Plan Paid Amount (CPP)	Other TrOOP (a) - $(b + d)$ or $(c-d)$
\$100	\$40	\$60	\$60	\$0

**Explanation:** According to the standard benefit, the beneficiary is in the initial coverage period, which for a MA Rebate Option plan must be actuarially equivalent to the standard defined benefit. In this phase of the benefit, all plan spending is reported as Covered Plan Paid Amount.

**Example 2** – The beneficiary's YTD total covered drug costs = \$3,000. The beneficiary purchases a covered Part D drug for \$100. The copay for this drug is \$5.

YTD Total Covered Dr	ug Cost = \$3,000			
( a )	(b)	( c )	(d)	(e)
Total Covered Drug	Patient Pay Amount	Plan Paid at	Covered D Plan Paid	Other TrOOP
Cost		POS	Amount (CPP)	(a) - $(b + d)$
				or (c-d)
\$100	\$5	\$95	\$0	\$95

**Explanation:** According to the standard benefit, the beneficiary is in the coverage gap where the beneficiary pays 100% cost sharing and the plan pays 0%. In Plan C's benefit structure, the beneficiary is in the payment demonstration coverage period. In Plan C, the beneficiary has a flat \$5 copay for this drug, which is 5% of the total drug cost. The plan liability is \$95 under Plan C's benefit structure as compared with \$0 under the standard defined benefit. The plan liability of \$95 is reported in the Other TrOOP field.

**Example 3** – The beneficiary's YTD total covered drug costs = \$5,200. The beneficiary purchases a covered Part D drug for \$150. The copay for this drug is \$40 normally, but is the greater of 5% or \$2/\$5 in the catastrophic phase (in this case, 5% is greater).

YTD Total Covered Drug Cost = \$5,200							
( a )	(b)	( c )	(d)	(e)			
Total Covered Drug Cost	Patient Pay Amount	Plan Paid at POS	Covered D Plan Paid Amount (CPP)	Other TrOOP (a) - $(b + d)$ or $(c-d)$			
\$150.00	\$7.50	\$142.50	\$142.50	\$0.00			

**Explanation:** The beneficiary is in the catastrophic phase of the benefit, and Plan C must administer and report the benefit in a manner consistent with the rules governing catastrophic coverage.

# Section 15.6 Payment\_reconciliation: flexible and fixed capitation options

Payment reconciliation for the flexible capitated option and the fixed capitated option differ from other plan types in two ways. There is no reinsurance reconciliation and the target amount is computed differently.

# Target amount

The capitated reinsurance payment is added to the target amount since risk sharing is applied to reinsurance. Thus, the calculation for the target amount outlined in Section 13 changes to:

Direct subsidy

- + Beneficiary premiums for payment purposes
- + A/B rebate
- + Capitated reinsurance payment
- = Target amount before administrative cost adjustment
- $\frac{* (1 \text{Administrative cost ratio})}{= \text{Target amount}}$

Adjusted allowable risk corridor costs

Reinsurance calculations outlined in Section 12 do not apply. Therefore, the reinsurance subsidy amount subtracted in the calculation for adjusted allowable risk corridor costs is always zero (see Section 13).

**Glossary of Acronyms** 

Because we refer to many organizations and terms by acronym in this document, we list these acronyms and their corresponding terms in alphabetical order as follows:

CFR	Code of Federal Regulations
CMS	Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services
COB	Coordination of benefits
CPP	Covered D Plan Paid Amount
DAW	Dispense as written
DCB	Drug Claims Database
DDPS	Drug Data Processing System
DEA	Drug Enforcement Administration
DIR	Direct and indirect remuneration
DOB	Date of Birth
DOS	Date of Service
EACS	Enhanced alternative cost sharing
EIN	Employer Identification Number
GDCA	Gross Drug Cost Above the Out-Of-Pocket Threshold
GDCB	Gross Drug Cost Below the Out-Of-Pocket Threshold
HICN	Health Insurance Claim number
HIPAA	Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996
I/T/U	Indian Health Service/Tribe/Tribal organization/Urban Indian program
LICS	Low-income cost-sharing subsidy
MA	Medicare Advantage
MA-PD	Medicare Advantage Prescription Drug plan
MMA	Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement, and Modernization Act of 2003
MSP	Medicare as Secondary Payer
NCPDP	National Council for Prescription Drug Programs
NDC	National Drug Code
NPI	National Provider Identifier
NPP	Non-covered Plan Paid Amount
OHI	Other Health Insurance
OON	Out-of-Network
OOP	Out-of-Pocket
OTC	Over-the-counter
PACE	Program of All Inclusive Care for the Elderly
PAP	Pharmaceutical Assistance Program
PBM	Pharmacy benefit manager
PBP	Plan Benefit Package
PDE	Prescription Drug Event
PDFS	Prescription Drug Front-End System
PDP	Prescription drug plan
PFFS	Private fee-for-service
PLRO	Patient Liability Reduction due to Other Payer Amount
POS	Point of sale
RRB	Railroad Retirement Board

SPAP	State Pharmaceutical Assistance Program
TIN	Tax Identification Number
TrOOP	True out-of-pocket
UPIN	Unique Provider Identification Number



# **REPORTS**

Aspen Systems Corporation



## PDFS RESPONSE REPORT EXAMPLE OF REJECTED PDFS RESPONSE REPORT

[4]SUBMITTER ID: SH1234 [5]FILE ID: 000000001[6]REJECTED PROD[7][8][9]RECORD SEQERROR[10]TYPENOCODEERROR DESCRIPTIONHDR132FILE ID IS A DUPLICATE. FILE ID IS A DUPLICATE OF ANOTHER FILE	[1]REPORT: PDFS-RESP [3]RUN DATE: 20060513	[2]PRESCRIPTION DRUG FRONT END SYSTEM PDFS RESPONSE REPORT
RECORD SEQ ERROR [10] TYPE NO CODE ERROR DESCRIPTION		[6]REJECTED PROD
THAT WAS ACCEPTED WITHIN THE LAST 12 MONTHS.	RECORD SEQ ERROR TYPE NO CODE HDR 132	ERROR DESCRIPTION FILE ID IS A DUPLICATE. FILE ID IS A DUPLICATE OF ANOTHER FILE

\*\*\*\*\*END OF TRANSMISSION\*\*\*\*\*

FIELD NO.	FIELD NAME	FIELD DESCRIPTION
1	Report Name	Name of the report as it appears in submitter's mailbox.
2	Report Full Name	Full name of the report.
3	Report Date	Date the report was generated by Palmetto (CCYYMMDD format).
4	Submitter ID	Report is grouped by submitter identification number. A submitter may submit for more than one plan. A different report is generated for each plan.
5	File ID	The 10-digit file identification number.
6	File Status	Identifies whether the file was completely accepted or completely rejected. This field also identifies if the file is TEST or PRODUCTION.
7	Record Type	Identifies the level of the error (File, Batch, or Detail record level).
8	Sequence Number	Identifies the batch or detail-level record where the error occurred.
9	Error Code	Identifies the 3-digit error code that caused the file to reject.
10	Error Code Description	Explains the error code.

Aspen Systems Corporation



# DRAFT DDPS REPORT 01: DDPS RETURN FILE

# RECORD DEFINITION/DESCRIPTION

RECORD ID	RECORD DEFINITION	NOTES		
HDR	Plan file header created by Plan	Occurs once per file		
BHD	PBP level file header created by Plan	Occurs once per PBP for each plan on file		
ACC*	Accepted PDE records written by DDPS	First 16 fields from accepted DET record		
INF*	Informational PDE records written by DDPS	All fields from DET records with information edit codes appended in fields 42-51 (positions 468-497)		
REJ*	Reject PDE records written by DDPS	All fields from DET records with error codes appended in fields 42- 51 (positions 468-497)		
BTR	PBP level file trailer created by Plan (modified by DDPS)	Occurs once per each BHD on the file. Contains all fields from submitted BTR (including counts of original number of DET records) plus ACC, INF, and REJ record counts.		
TLR	Plan file trailer created by Plan (modified by DDPS)	Occurs once per file. Contains all fields from submitted TLR (including counts of original number of DET records) plus ACC, INF, and REJ record counts.		

\* ACC, INF and REJ records will be sorted by sequence number and appear in the same sequence as on the submitted file.

#### HDR RECORD

FIELD NO.	COPYBOOK FIELD NAME	POSITION	PICTURE	LENGTH	CMS DESCRIPTION
1	RECORD-ID	1 - 3	X(3)	3	"HDR"
2	SUBMITTER-ID	4 - 9	X(6)	6	Unique ID assigned by CMS.
3	FILE-ID	10 - 19	X(10)	10	Unique ID provided by Submitter.
4	TRANS-DATE	20 - 27	9(8)	8	Date of file transmission to PDFS.
5	PROD-TEST-IND	28 - 31	X(4)	4	TEST or PROD
6	FILLER	32 - 512	X(481)	481	SPACES

#### BHD RECORD

FIELD NO.	COPYBOOK FIELD NAME	POSITION	PICTURE	LENGTH	CMS DESCRIPTION
1	RECORD-ID	1 - 3	X(3)	3	"BHD"
2	SEQUENCE-NO	4 - 10	9(7)	7	Must start with 0000001
3	CONTRACT-NO	11 - 15	X(5)	5	Organization's Contract Number
4	PBP-ID	16 - 18	X(3)	3	Plan Benefit Package ID
5	FILLER	19 - 512	X(494)	494	SPACES

# Aspen Systems Corporation



# DRAFT DDPS REPORT 01: DDPS RETURN FILE (CONTINUED)

#### ACC RECORD

FIELD NO.	FIELD NAME	POSITION	PICTURE	LENGTH	DEFINITION / VALUES
1	RECORD ID	1 - 3	X(3)	3	"ACC"
2	SEQUENCE NO	4 - 10	9(7)	7	
3	CLAIM CONTROL NUMBER	11 - 50	X(40)	40	
4	HEALTH INSURANCE CLAIM NUMBER (HICN)	51 - 70	X(20)	20	Medicare Health Insurance Claim Number or Railroad Retirement Board (RRB) number.
5	CARDHOLDER ID	71 - 90	X(20)	20	Plan identification of the enrollee. Assigned by plan.
6	PATIENT DATE OF BIRTH (DOB)	91 - 98	9(8)	8	CCYYMMDD
7	PATIENT GENDER	99 - 99	9(1)	1	1 = M 2 = F
8	DATE OF SERVICE (DOS)	100 - 107	9(8)	8	CCYYMMDD
9	PAID DATE	108 - 115	9(8)	8	CCYYMMDD
10	PRESCRIPTION SERVICE REFERENCE NO	116 - 124	9(9)	9	
11	FILLER	125-126	X(2)	2	SPACES
12	PRODUCT SERVICE ID	127-145	X(19)	19	
13	SERVICE PROVIDER ID QUALIFIER	146 - 147	X(2)	2	
14	SERVICE PROVIDER ID	148 - 162	X(15)	15	
15	FILL NUMBER	163 - 164	9(2)	2	
16	DISPENSING STATUS	165 - 165	X(1)	1	
17	FILLER	166 - 445	X(280)	280	SPACES
18	CORRECTED HICN	446 - 465	X(20)	20	Current HICN provided by MBD during editing – informational
19	FILLER	466 - 512	X(47)	47	SPACES

#### Notes:

Most fields will be exactly as submitted by the plan. See PDE Record Layout and PDE file submission instructions for detailed descriptions of any fields that have no descriptions provided here.

Fields 17 through 39 on the submitted detail (DET) record are collapsed into one filler field, field 17. Field 40 becomes Field 18, and Fields 41-53 are collapsed into one filler field, field 19.

Aspen Systems Corporation



# DRAFT DDPS REPORT 01: DDPS RETURN FILE (CONTINUED)

# **INF/REJ RECORD**

FIELD NO.	FIELD NAME	POSITION	PICTURE	LENGTH	DEFINITION/VALUES*
1	RECORD ID	1 - 3	X(3)	3	"INF" or "REJ"
2	SEQUENCE NO	4 - 10	9(7)	7	
3	CLAIM CONTROL NUMBER	11 - 50	X(40)	40	
4	HEALTH INSURANCE CLAIM NUMBER (HICN)	51 - 70	X(20)	20	Medicare Health Insurance Claim Number or Railroad Retirement Board (RRB) number.
5	CARDHOLDER ID	71 - 90	X(20)	20	Plan identification of the enrollee. Assigned by plan.
6	PATIENT DATE OF BIRTH (DOB)	91 - 98	9(8)	8	CCYYMMDD
7	PATIENT GENDER	99 - 99	9(1)	1	1 = M 2 = F
8	DATE OF SERVICE (DOS)	100 - 107	9(8)	8	CCYYMMDD
9	PAID DATE	108 - 115	9(8)	8	CCYYMMDD
10	PRESCRIPTION SERVICE REFERENCE NO	116 - 124	9(9)	9	
11	FILLER	125-126	X(2)	2	SPACES
12	PRODUCT SERVICE ID	127-145	X(19)	19	
13	SERVICE PROVIDER ID QUALIFIER	146 - 147	X(2)	2	
14	SERVICE PROVIDER ID	148 - 162	X(15)	15	
15	FILL NUMBER	163 - 164	9(2)	2	
16	DISPENSING STATUS	165 - 165	X(1)	1	
17	COMPOUND CODE	166 - 166	9(1)	1	
18	DISPENSE AS WRITTEN (DAW) PRODUCT SELECTION CODE	167 - 167	X(1)	1	
19	QUANTITY DISPENSED	168 - 177	9(7)V999	10	
20	DAYS SUPPLY	178 - 180	9(3)	3	
21	PRESCRIBER ID QUALIFIER	181 - 182	X(2)	2	
22	PRESCRIBER ID	183 - 197	X(15)	15	
23	DRUG COVERAGE STATUS CODE	198 - 198	X(1)	1	
24	ADJUSTMENT DELETION CODE	199 - 199	X(1)	1	

\* Most fields will be exactly as submitted by the plan. See PDE Record Layout and PDE file submission instructions for detailed descriptions of any fields that have no descriptions provided here.

Aspen Systems Corporation



# DRAFT DDPS REPORT 01: DDPS RETURN FILE (CONTINUED)

# **INF/REJ RECORD**

FIELD NO.	FIELD NAME	POSITION	PICTURE	LENGTH	DEFINITION/VALUES*
25	NON-STANDARD FORMAT CODE	200 - 200	X(1)	1	
26	OUT-OF-NETWORK (OON) CODE	201 - 201	X(1)	1	
27	CATASTROPHIC COVERAGE CODE	202 - 202	X(1)	1	
28	INGREDIENT COST PAID	203 - 210	S9(6)V99	8	
29	DISPENSING FEE PAID	211 - 218	S9(6)V99	8	
30	AMOUNT ATTRIBUTED TO SALES TAX	219 - 226	S9(6)V99	8	
31	GROSS DRUG COST BELOW OUT-OF-POCKET THRESHOLD (GDCB)	227 - 234	S9(6)V99	8	
32	GROSS DRUG COST ABOVE OUT-OF-POCKET THRESHOLD (GDCA)	235 - 242	S9(6)V99	8	
33	PATIENT PAY AMOUNT	243 - 250	S9(6)V99	8	
34	OTHER TROOP AMOUNT	251 - 258	S9(6)V99	8	
35	LOW INCOME COST SHARE SUBSIDY/AMOUNT (LICS)	259 - 266	S9(6)V99	8	
36	PATIENT LIABILITY REDUCTION DUE TO OTHER PAYER AMOUNT (PLRO)	267 - 274	S9(6)V99	8	
37	COVERED D PLAN PAID AMOUNT (CPP)	275 - 282	S9(6)V99	8	
38	NON COVERED PLAN PAID AMOUNT (NPP)	283 - 290	S9(6)V99	8	
39	FILLER	291 - 445	X(155)	155	SPACES
40	CORRECTED HICN	446 - 465	X(20)	20	Current HICN provided by MBD during editing – informational
41	ERROR COUNT	466 - 467	9(2)	2	Value between 01 and 11. If DDPS generates more than 10 edits during processing, this field will read 11
42	ERROR 1	468 -470	X(3)	3	Error code from DDPS
43	ERROR 2	471 - 473	X(3)	3	Error code from DDPS

\* Most fields will be exactly as submitted by the plan. See PDE Record Layout and PDE file submission instructions for detailed descriptions of any fields that have no descriptions provided here.

# Aspen Systems Corporation



# DRAFT DDPS REPORT 01: DDPS RETURN FILE (CONTINUED)

## **INF/REJ RECORD**

FIELD NO.	FIELD NAME	POSITION	PICTURE	LENGTH	DEFINITION/VALUES*
44	ERROR 3	474 - 476	X(3)	3	Error code from DDPS
45	ERROR 4	477 - 479	X(3)	3	Error code from DDPS
46	ERROR 5	480 - 482	X(3)	3	Error code from DDPS
47	ERROR 6	483 - 485	X(3)	3	Error code from DDPS
48	ERROR 7	486 - 488	X(3)	3	Error code from DDPS
49	ERROR 8	489 - 491	X(3)	3	Error code from DDPS
50	ERROR 9	492 - 494	X(3)	3	Error code from DDPS
51	ERROR 10	495 - 497	X(3)	3	Error code from DDPS
52	FILLER	498 - 512	X(15)	15	SPACES

\* Most fields will be exactly as submitted by the plan. See PDE Record Layout and PDE file submission instructions for detailed descriptions of any fields that have no descriptions provided here.

### **BTR RECORD**

FIELD NO.	FIELD NAME	POSITION	PICTURE	LENGTH	DEFINITION / VALUES
1	RECORD ID	1 - 3	X(3)	3	"BTR"
2	SEQUENCE NO	4 - 10	9(7)	7	Must start with 0000001
3	CONTRACT NO	11 - 15	X(5)	5	Must match BHD
4	PBP ID	16 - 18	X(3)	3	Must match BHD
5	DET RECORD TOTAL	19 - 25	9(7)	7	Total count of DET records
6	DET ACCEPTED RECORD TOTAL	26 - 32	9(7)	7	Total count of ACC records as determined by DDPS processing
7	DET INFORMATIONAL RECORD TOTAL	33 - 39	9(7)	7	Total count of INF records as determined by DDPS processing
8	DET REJECTED RECORD TOTAL	40 - 46	9(7)	7	Total count of REJ records as determined by DDPS processing
9	FILLER	47 - 512	X(466)	466	SPACES

Aspen Systems Corporation



# DRAFT DDPS REPORT 01: DDPS RETURN FILE (CONTINUED)

# TLR RECORD

FIELD NO.	FIELD NAME	POSITION	PICTURE	LENGTH	DEFINITION / VALUES
1	RECORD ID	1 - 3	X(3)	3	"TLR"
2	SUBMITTER ID	4 - 9	X(6)	6	Must match HDR
3	FILE ID	10 - 19	X(10)	10	Must match HDR
4	TLR BHD RECORD TOTAL	20 - 28	9(9)	9	Total count of BHD records
5	TLR DET RECORD TOTAL	29 - 37	9(9)	9	Total count of DET records
6	TLR DET ACCEPTED RECORD TOTAL	38 - 46	9(9)	9	Total count of ACC records
7	TLR DET INFORMATIONAL RECORD TOTAL	47 - 55	9(9)	9	Total count of INF records
8	TLR DET REJECTED RECORD TOTAL	56 - 64	9(9)	9	Total count of REJ records
9	FILLER	65 - 512	X(448)	448	SPACES

Aspen Systems Corporation



# DRAFT DDPS REPORT 03: DDPS TRANSACTION ERROR SUMMARY

RECORD DEFI	NITION/DESCRIPTION	
RECORD INDICATOR	RECORD DEFINITION	NOTES
HDR	Submitter file header	Occurs once per file
BHD	Contract/PBP level file header	Occurs once per Contract/PBP for each plan/package on file
DET	Detail records for the report	Occurs 1 to many times per BHD record
BTR	Contract/PBP level file trailer	Occurs once per each BHD on the file
TLR	Submitter file trailer	Occurs once per file

# HDR RECORD

FIELD NO.	FIELD NAME	POSITION	PICTURE	LENGTH	FIELD DESCRIPTION
1	RECORD-ID	1 - 3	X(3)	3	"HDR"
2	SUBMITTER-ID	4 - 9	X(6)	6	Unique ID assigned by CMS.
3	FILE-ID	10 - 57	X(48)	48	03 followed by unique ID provided by Submitter.
4	TRANS-DATE	58 - 65	X(8)	8	Transaction date from submitted file
5	PROD-TEST-IND	66 - 69	X(4)	4	TEST or PROD
6	DDPS-SYSTEM- DATE	74 - 81	X(8)	8	'CCYYMMDD' = DDPS File creation date.
7	DDPS-SYSTEM- TIME	82 - 87	X(6)	6	'HHMMSS' = DDPS File creation time.
8	FILLER	88 - 512	X(425)	425	SPACES

#### BHD RECORD

FIELD NO.	FIELD NAME	POSITION	PICTURE	LENGTH	FIELD DESCRIPTION
1	RECORD ID	1 - 3	X(3)	3	"BHD"
2	SEQUENCE NO	4 - 10	9(7)	7	Must start with 0000001
3	CONTRACT NO	11 - 15	X(5)	5	Contract number from submitted batch
4	PBP ID	16 - 18	X(3)	3	PBP ID from submitted batch
5	FILE ID	19 - 66	X(48)	48	'DDPS03CCYY#####' Where ##### = sequential versions of this file.
6	DDPS SYSTEM DATE	71 - 78	X(8)	8	'CCYYMMDD' = DDPS File creation date.
7	DDPS SYSTEM TIME	79 - 84	X(6)	6	'HHMMSS' = DDPS File creation time.
8	FILLER	85 - 512	X(428)	428	SPACES

# Aspen Systems Corporation



# DRAFT DDPS REPORT 03: DDPS TRANSACTION ERROR SUMMARY (CONTINUED)

#### DET RECORD

FIELD NUMBER	FIELD NAME	POSITION	PICTURE	LENGTH	FIELD DESCRIPTION
1	RECORD ID	1 - 11	X(11)	11	DDPS RPT 03
2	SEQUENCE NO	12 - 18	9(7)	7	Must start with 0000001
3	ERROR CODE	19 - 21	X(3)	3	Identification Number of the Error Code
4	ERROR CODE DESCRIPTION	22 - 371	X(350)	350	Description of Error Code
5	FREQUENCY OF OCCURRENCE	372 - 378	9(7)	7	Count of each Error Code
6	PERCENTAGE OF ALL EDITS	379 - 382	S9(1)V3	4	Percentage of each Error Code's frequency to the frequency of all Error Codes. The formula is: Frequency Count of the specific error code divided by Frequency Count of all error codes.
7	FILLER	383 - 512	X(130)	130	SPACES

#### **BTR RECORD**

FIELD NUMBER	FIELD NAME	POSITION	PICTURE	LENGTH	DEFINITION/VALUES
1	RECORD ID	1 - 3	X(3)	3	"BTR"
2	SEQUENCE NO	4 - 10	9(7)	7	Same as BHD
3	CONTRACT NO	11 - 15	X(5)	5	Same as BHD
4	PBP ID	16 - 18	X(3)	3	Same as BHD
	FILLER	19 - 320	X(302)	302	SPACES
5	DET RECORD TOTAL	321 - 327	9(7)	7	Count of DET records
6	FILLER	328 - 512	X(185)	185	SPACES

Aspen Systems Corporation



DRAFT DDPS REPORT 03: DDPS TRANSACTION ERROR SUMMARY (CONTINUED)

#### **TLR RECORD**

FIELD NUMBER	FIELD NAME	POSITION	PICTURE	LENGTH	DEFINITION/VALUES
1	RECORD ID	1 - 3	X(3)	3	"TLR"
2	SUBMITTER ID	4 - 9	X(6)	6	Same as HDR
3	FILE ID	10 - 19	X(10)	10	Same as HDR
4	TLR BHD RECORD TOTAL	20 - 28	9(9)	9	Total count of BHD records
5	TLR DET RECORD TOTAL	29 - 37	9(9)	9	Total count of DET records
6	FILLER	38 - 512	X(475)	475	SPACES

Aspen Systems Corporation



#### DRAFT DDPS 04PCC, 04PEN, AND 04POT: CUMULATIVE BENEFICIARY SUMMARY REPORTS

#### **RECORD DEFINITION/DESCRIPTION**

RECORD INDICATOR	RECORD DEFINITION	NOTES
HDR	Submitter file header	Occurs once per unique submitter on the file
CHD	Contract level file header	Occurs once per Contract fore each plan on file
PHD	Contract/PBP level file header	Occurs once per Contract/PBP on file
DET	Detail records for the report	Occurs 1 or more times per BHD record
PTR	Contract/PBP level file trailer	Occurs once per each PHD PBP on the file
CTR	Contract level file trailer	Occurs once per each CHD Contract on the file
TLR	Submitter file trailer	Occurs once per each HDR on the file

# HDR RECORD

FIELD NO.	FIELD NAME	POSITION	PICTURE	LENGTH	DESCRIPTION/VALUES
1	RECORD-ID	1 - 3	X(3)	3	"HDR"
2	SUBMITTER-ID	4 - 9	X(6)	6	Unique ID assigned by CMS.
3	FILE-ID	10 - 57	X(48)	48	DDPS04PCCYYYY###, DDPS04PENYYYY###, or DDPS04POTYYYY### Where YYYY = the benefit year and ### = sequential versions of this file.
4	FILLER	58 - 65	X(8)	8	SPACES
5	PROD-TEST-IND	66 - 69	X(4)	4	TEST or PROD
6	BENEFIT-YEAR	70 - 73	X(4)	4	Identifies the submission year for which the report was generated. Format is YYYY.
7	AS-OF-MONTH	74 - 75	X(2)	2	Identifies the month for which the report was generated. Valid values are 01 through 12.
8	DDPS-SYSTEM- DATE	76 - 83	X(8)	8	'YYYYMMDD' = DDPS file creation date.
9	DDPS-SYSTEM- TIME	84 - 89	X(6)	6	'HHMMSS' = DDPS file creation time.
10	FILLER	90 - 512	X(423)	423	SPACES

Aspen Systems Corporation



#### DRAFT DDPS 04PCC, 04PEN, AND 04POT: CUMULATIVE BENEFICIARY SUMMARY REPORTS (CONTINUED)

#### **CHD RECORD**

FIELD NO.	FIELD NAME	POSITION	PICTURE	LENGTH	DESCRIPTION/VALUES
1	RECORD-ID	1 - 3	X(3)	3	"CHD"
2	SEQUENCE-NO	4 - 10	9(7)	7	Starts with 0000001
3	CONTRACT-NO	11 - 15	X(5)	5	Contract No. from original file
4	FILE-ID	16 - 63	X(48)	48	DDPS04PCCYYYY###, DDPS04PENYYYY###, or DDPS04POTYYYY### Where YYYY = the benefit year and ### = sequential versions of this file.
5	AS-OF-YEAR	64 - 67	X(4)	4	Identifies the submission year for which the report was generated. Format is YYYY.
6	AS-OF-MONTH	68 - 69	X(2)	2	Identifies the month for which the report was generated. Valid values are 01 through 12.
7	DDPS-SYSTEM- DATE	70 - 77	X(8)	8	'YYYYMMDD' = DDPS File creation date.
8	DDPS-SYSTEM- TIME	78 - 83	X(6)	6	'HHMMSS' = DDPS File creation time.
9	FILLER	84 - 512	X(429)	429	SPACES

Aspen Systems Corporation



### DRAFT DDPS 04PCC, 04PEN, AND 04POT: CUMULATIVE BENEFICIARY SUMMARY REPORTS (CONTINUED)

PHD REC	ORD				
FIELD NO.	FIELD NAME	POSITION	PICTURE	LENGTH	DESCRIPTION/VALUES
1	RECORD-ID	1 - 3	X(3)	3	"PHD"
2	SEQUENCE-NO	4 - 10	9(7)	7	Starts with 0000001
3	CONTRACT-NO	11 - 15	X(5)	5	Contract No. from original file
4	PBP-ID	16 - 18	X(3)	3	PBP ID from original file
5	FILE-ID	19 - 66	X(48)	48	DDPS04PCCYYYY###, DDPS04PENYYYY###, or DDPS04POTYYYY### Where YYYY = the benefit year and ### = sequential versions of this file.
6	BENEFIT-YEAR	67 - 70	X(4)	4	Identifies the year for which the report was generated. Format is CCYY.
7	AS-OF-MONTH	71 - 72	X(2)	2	Identifies the month for which the report was generated. Valid values are 01 through 12.
8	DDPS-SYSTEM- DATE	73 - 80	X(8)	8	'CCYYMMDD' = File creation date.
9	DDPS-SYSTEM- TIME	81 - 86	X(6)	6	'HHMMSS' = File creation time.
10	FILLER	87 - 512	X(426)	426	SPACES

Aspen Systems Corporation



## DRAFT DDPS 04PCC, 04PEN, AND 04POT: CUMULATIVE BENEFICIARY SUMMARY REPORTS (CONTINUED)

FIELD NO.	FIELD NAME	POSITION	PICTURE	LENGTH	DESCRIPTION/VALUES
1	RECORD ID	1 – 3	X(3)	3	DET
2	SEQUENCE NO	4 – 10	9(7)	7	Must start with 0000001
3	DRUG COVERAGE STATUS CODE	11 – 11	X(1)	1	Always "C" on report 04PCC
4	CURRENT CMS HICN	12 – 31	X(20)	20	Medicare HIC or RRB number. If the beneficiary has more than one HICN on file, this is current HICN.
5	SUBMITTED HICN FROM MOST RECENT PDE	32 – 51	X(20)	20	The HICN from the most recent accepted PDE in the DDPS database.
6	MOST RECENT PLAN- SUBMITTED CARDHOLDER ID	52 – 71	X(20)	20	Plan identification of the enrollee, as reported on the most recent PDE for the benefit year.
7	RX COUNT	72 – 82	9(11)	11	Number of Prescriptions net of deleted and adjusted PDEs, as well as partial fill transactions
8	NET INGRED COST	83 – 96	S9(14)V99	14	Net Ingredient Cost paid amount as reported on the PDEs
9	NET DISPENS FEE	97 – 110	S9(14)V99	14	Net Dispensing Fee paid amount as reported on the PDEs
10	NET SALES TAX	111 – 124	S9(14)V99	14	Net Sales Tax paid amount as reported on the PDEs
11	REPORTED NET CPP AMOUNT	125 – 138	S9(14)V99	14	Net Covered D Plan Paid Amount as reported on the PDEs
12	CALCULATED NET GDCB	139 – 152	S9(14)V99	14	Net Gross Drug Cost Below the attachment point as calculated based on the rules for PACE organizations
13	CALCULATED NET GDCA	153 – 166	S9(14)V99	14	Net Gross Drug Cost Above the attachment point as calculated based on the rules for PACE organizations
14	CALCULATED NET LICS AMOUNT	167 – 180	S9(14)V99	14	Net Low Income Cost-Sharing Amount as calculated based on the rules for PACE organizations
15	CALCULATED NET CPP AMOUNT	181 – 194	S9(14)V99	14	Net Covered D Plan Paid Amount as calculated based on the rules for PACE organizations
16	CALCULATED NET NPP AMOUNT	195 – 208	S9(14)V99	14	Net Non-covered Plan Paid Amount as calculated based on the rules for PACE organizations
17	NET NUMBER OF NON- STANDARD FORMAT PDES	209 – 220	9(12)	12	Count of PDEs with Non-standard Format Code other then blank
18	NET NUMBER OF OON PDES	221 – 232	9(12)	12	Count of PDEs with out-of-network code equal "O"

# Aspen Systems Corporation



19 FILLER X(280) 280

SPACES

#### DRAFT DDPS 04PCC, 04PEN, AND 04POT: CUMULATIVE BENEFICIARY SUMMARY REPORTS (CONTINUED)

233 – 512

PTR RECORD

FIELD NO.	FIELD NAME	POSITION	PICTURE	LENGTH	DESCRIPTION/VALUES
1	RECORD ID	1 - 3	X(3)	3	"PTR"
2	SEQUENCE NO	4 - 10	9(7)	7	Starts with 0000001
3	CONTRACT NO	11 - 15	X(5)	5	Same as PHD
4	PBP ID	16 - 18	X(3)	3	Same as PHD
5	DRUG COVERAGE STATUS CODE	19 - 19	X(1)	1	Always "C" on report 04PCC
6	BENEFICIARY COUNT	20 - 30	9(11)	11	Count of beneficiaries with utilization in the reporting period.
7	RX COUNT	31 - 41	9(11)	11	Number of Prescriptions net of deleted and/or adjusted PDEs, as well as partial fill transactions.
8	NET INGRED COST	42 - 55	S9(14)V99	14	Net Ingredient Cost paid amount as reported on the PDEs
9	NET DISPENS FEE	56 - 69	S9(14)V99	14	Net Dispensing Fee paid amount as reported on the PDEs
10	NET SALES TAX	70 - 83	S9(14)V99	14	Net Sales Tax paid amount as reported on the PDEs
11	REPORTED NET CPP AMOUNT	84 - 97	S9(14)V99	14	Net Covered D Plan Paid Amount as reported on the PDEs
12	CALCULATED NET GDCB	98 - 111	S9(14)V99	14	Net Gross Drug Cost Below the attachment point as calculated based on the rules for PACE organizations
13	CALCULATED NET GDCA	112 - 125	S9(14)V99	14	Net Gross Drug Cost Above the attachment point as calculated based on the rules for PACE organizations
14	CALCULATED NET LICS AMOUNT	126 - 139	S9(14)V99	14	Net Low Income Cost-Sharing Amount as calculated based on the rules for PACE organizations
15	CALCULATED NET CPP AMOUNT	140 - 153	S9(14)V99	14	Net Covered D Plan Paid Amount as calculated based on the rules for PACE organizations
16	CALCULATED NET NPP AMOUNT	154 - 167	S9(14)V99	14	Net Non-covered Plan Paid Amount as calculated based on the rules for PACE organizations
17	NET NUMBER OF NON- STANDARD FORMAT PDES	168 - 179	9(12)	12	Count of PDEs with Non-standard Format Code other then blank
18	NET NUMBER OF OON PDES	180 - 191	9(12)	12	Count of PDEs with out-of- network code equal to "O"
19	DET RECORD TOTAL	192 – 203	9(12)	12	Total count of DET records
20	FILLER	204 – 512	X(309)	309	SPACES

Aspen Systems Corporation



#### DRAFT DDPS 04PCC, 04PEN, AND 04POT: CUMULATIVE BENEFICIARY SUMMARY REPORTS (CONTINUED)

**CTR RECORD** 

FIELD	FIELD NAME	POSITION	PICTURE	LENGTH	DESCRIPTION/VALUES
NO.		1 0	X(2)	2	
1	RECORD ID SEQUENCE NO	1 - 3 4 - 10	X(3) 9(7)	3	"CTR" Must start with 0000001
3		4 - 10 11 - 15		-	
	CONTRACT NO		X(5)	5	Must match CHD
4	PBP ID	16 - 18	X(3)	3	Same as PHD
5	DRUG COVERAGE STATUS CODE	19 - 19	X(1)	1	Always "C" on report 04PCC
6	BENEFICIARY COUNT	20 - 30	9(11)	11	Count of beneficiaries with utilization in the reporting period.
7	RX COUNT	31 - 41	9(11)	11	Number of Prescriptions net of deleted and/or adjusted PDEs, as well as partial fill transactions.
8	NET INGRED COST	42 - 55	S9(14)V99	14	Net Ingredient Cost paid amount as reported on the PDEs
9	NET DISPENS FEE	56 - 69	S9(14)V99	14	Net Dispensing Fee paid amount as reported on the PDEs
10	NET SALES TAX	70 - 83	S9(14)V99	14	Net Sales Tax paid amount as reported on the PDEs
11	REPORTED NET CPP AMOUNT	84 - 97	S9(14)V99	14	Net Covered D Plan Paid Amount as reported on the PDEs
12	CALCULATED NET GDCB	98 - 111	S9(14)V99	14	Net Gross Drug Cost Below the attachment point as calculated based on the rules for PACE organizations
13	CALCULATED NET GDCA	112 - 125	S9(14)V99	14	Net Gross Drug Cost Above the attachment point as calculated based on the rules for PACE organizations
14	CALCULATED NET LICS AMOUNT	126 - 139	S9(14)V99	14	Net Low Income Cost-Sharing Amount as calculated based on the rules for PACE organizations
15	CALCULATED NET CPP AMOUNT	140 - 153	S9(14)V99	14	Net Covered D Plan Paid Amount as calculated based on the rules for PACE organizations
16	CALCULATED NET NPP AMOUNT	154 - 167	S9(14)V99	14	Net Non-covered Plan Paid Amount as calculated based on the rules for PACE organizations
17	NET NUMBER NON- STANDARD FORMAT PDES	168 – 179	9(12)	12	Count of PDEs with Non-standard Format Code other then blank
18	NET NUMBER OON PDES	180 – 191	9(12)	12	Count of PDEs with out-of-network code equal to "O"
19	DET RECORD TOTAL	192 - 203	9(12)	12	Total count of DET records
20	FILLER	204 - 512	X(309)	309	SPACES

# Aspen Systems Corporation



### DRAFT DDPS 04PCC, 04PEN, AND 04POT: CUMULATIVE BENEFICIARY SUMMARY REPORTS (CONTINUED)

#### **TLR RECORD**

FIELD NO.	FIELD NAME	POSITION	PICTURE	LENGTH	DEFINITION / VALUES
1	RECORD ID	1 - 3	X(3)	3	"TLR"
2	SUBMITTER ID	4 - 9	X(6)	6	Must match HDR
3	FILE ID	10 - 19	X(10)	10	Must match HDR
4	TLR CHD RECORD TOTAL	20 - 28	9(9)	9	Total count of CHD records
5	TLR PHD RECORD TOTAL	29 - 37	9(9)	9	Total count of PHD records
6	TLR DET RECORD TOTAL	38 - 46	9(9)	9	Total count of DET records
7	FILLER	47 - 512	X(466)	466	SPACES

Aspen Systems Corporation



# MONTHLY MEMBERSHIP REPORT (MMR)

## **MMR FLAT FILE LAYOUT**

#	Field Name	Len	Pos	Description
1*	Contract Number	5	1-5	The organization's Contract Number
2*	Run Date of the File	8	6-13	YYYYMMDD
3*				
	Payment Date	6	14-19	YYYYMM
4*	HIC Number	12	20-31	Member's HIC #
5*	Surname	7	32-38	
6*	First Initial	1	39-39	
7*	Sex	1	40-40	M = Male, F = Female
8*	Date of Birth	8	41-48	YYYYMMDD
9	Age Group	4	49-52	BBEE BB = Beginning Age EE = Ending Age
10*	State & County Code	5	53-57	
11*	Out of Area Indicator	1	58-58	Y = Out of Contract-level service area Always Spaces on Adjustment
12*	Part A Entitlement	1	59-59	Y = Entitled to Part A
13*	Part B Entitlement	1	60-60	Y = Entitled to Part B
14	Hospice	1	61-61	Y = Hospice
15	ESRD	1	62-62	Y = ESRD
16	Working Aged	1	63-63	Y = Working Aged
17	Institutional	1	64-64	Y = Institutional
18	NHC	1	65-65	Y = Nursing Home Certifiable
19	Medicaid	1	66-66	Y = Medicaid Status
20	FILLER	1	67-67	SPACES
21	Medicaid Indicator	1	68-68	Y = Medicaid Addon

# Aspen Systems Corporation



	MMR FLAT FILE LAYOUT (CONTINUED)						
#	Field Name	Len	Pos	Description			
22	PIP-DCG	2	69-70	PIP-DCG Category - Only on pre-2004 adjustments			
23	Default Indicator	1	71-71	<ul> <li>Y = default RA factor in use</li> <li>For pre-2004 adjustments, a "Y" indicates that a new enrollee RA factor is in use</li> <li>For post-2003 payments and adjustments, a "Y" indicates that a default factor was generated by the system due to lack of a RA factor.</li> </ul>			
24	Risk Adjuster Factor A	7	72-78	NN.DDDD			
25	Risk Adjuster Factor B	7	79-85	NN.DDDD			
26	Number of Paymt/Adjustmt Months Part A	2	86-87	99			
27	Number of Paymt/Adjustmt Months Part B	2	88-89	99			
28*	Adjustment Reason Code	2	90-91	99 Always Spaces on Payment			
29*	Paymt/Adjustmt Start Date	8	92-99	YYYYMMDD			
30*	Paymt/Adjustmt End Date	8	100-107	YYYYMMDD			
31	Demographic Paymt/Adjustmt Rate A	9	108-116	-\$\$\$\$.99			
32	Demographic Paymt/Adjustmt Rate B	9	117-125	-\$\$\$\$.99			
33	Risk Adjuster Paymt/Adjustmt Rate A	9	126-134	-\$\$\$\$.99			
34	Risk Adjuster Paymt/Adjustmt Rate B	9	135-143	-\$\$\$\$.99			
35	FILLER	28	144-171	SPACES			

# MMR FLAT FILE LAYOUT (CONTINUED)

Aspen Systems Corporation



1				
#	Field Name	Len	Pos	Description
36	Risk Adjuster Age Group (RAAG)	4	172-175	BBEE BB = Beginning Age EE = Ending Age
37	Previous Disable Ratio (PRDIB)	7	176-182	NN.DDDD Percentage of Year (in months) for Previous Disable Add-On – <b>Only on pre-2004</b> adjustments
38	FILLER	2	183-184	SPACES
39*	Plan Benefit Package Id	3	185-187	Plan Benefit Package Id FORMAT 999
40	Race Code	1	188-188	Format X Values: 0 = Unknown 1 = White 2 = Black 3 = Other 4 = Asian 5 = Hispanic 6 = N. American Native
41	RA Factor Type Code	2	189-190	Type of factors in use (see Fields 24-25): C = Community C1 = Community Post-Graft I (ESRD) C2 = Community Post-Graft II (ESRD) D = Dialysis (ESRD) E = New Enrollee ED = New Enrollee Dialysis (ESRD) E1 = New Enrollee Post-Graft I (ESRD) E2 = New Enrollee Post-Graft II (ESRD) G1 = Graft I (ESRD) G2 = Graft II (ESRD) I = Institutional I1 = Institutional Post-Graft I (ESRD) I2 = Institutional Post-Graft II (ESRD)
42	Frailty Indicator	1	191-191	Y = MCO-level Frailty Factor Included
43	Previously Disabled Indicator	1	192-192	Y = Previously Disabled – Only on post-2003 payments/adjustments
44	Lag Indicator	1	193-193	Y = Encounter data used to calculate RA factor lags payment year by 6 months
45	Segment ID	3	194–196	Identification number of the segment of the PBP. Blank if there are no segments.

# MMR FLAT FILE LAYOUT (CONTINUED)

# Aspen Systems Corporation



#	Field Name	Len	Pos	Description			
46*	Enrollment Source	1	197-197	The source of the enrollment. Values are A = Auto-enrolled by CMS, B = Beneficiary election, C = Facilitated enrollment by CMS, D = Systematic enrollment by CMS (rollover)			
47*	EGHP Flag	1	198-198	Employer Group flag; Y = member of employer group, N = member is not in an employer group			
48	Part C Basic Premium – Part A Amount	8	199-206	The premium amount for determining the MA payment attributable to Part A. It is subtracted from the MA plan payment for plans that bid above the benchmark. -\$\$\$.99			
49	Part C Basic Premium – Part B Amount	8	207-214	The premium amount for determining the MA payment attributable to Part B. It is subtracted from the MA plan payment for plans that bid above the benchmark. -\$\$\$.99			
50	Rebate for Part A Cost Sharing Reduction	8	215-222	The amount of the rebate allocated to reducing the member's Part A cost-sharing. This amount is added to the MA plan payment for plans that bid below the benchmark. -\$\$\$.99			
51	Rebate for Part B Cost Sharing Reduction	8	223-230	The amount of the rebate allocated to reducing the member's Part B cost-sharing. This amount is added to the MA plan payment for plans that bid below the benchmark. -\$\$\$.99			
52	Rebate for Other Part A Mandatory Supplemental Benefits	8	231-238	The amount of the rebate allocated to providing Part A supplemental benefits. This amount is added to the MA plan payment for plans that bid below the benchmark. -\$\$\$.99			
53	Rebate for Other Part B Mandatory Supplemental Benefits	8	239-246	The amount of the rebate allocated to providing Part B supplemental benefits. This amount is added to the MA plan payment for plans that bid below the benchmark. -\$\$\$.99			
54	Rebate for Part B Premium Reduction – Part A Amount	8	247-254	The Part A amount of the rebate allocated to reducing the member's Part B premium. This amount is retained by CMS for non ESRD members and it is subtracted from ESRD member's payments. -\$\$\$.99			

# MMR FLAT FILE LAYOUT (CONTINUED)



#	Field Name	Len	Pos	Description				
55	Rebate for Part B Premium Reduction – Part B Amount	8	255-262	The Part B amount of the rebate allocated to reducing the member's Part B premium. This amount is retained by CMS for non ESRD members and it is subtracted from ESRD member's payments. -\$\$\$.99				
56	Rebate for Part D Supplemental Benefits – Part A Amount	8	263-270	Part A Amount of the rebate allocated to providing Part D supplemental benefits\$\$\$.99				
57	Rebate for Part D Supplemental Benefits – Part B Amount	8	271-278	Part B Amount of the rebate allocated to providing Part D supplemental benefits\$\$\$.99				
58	Total Part A MA Payment	10	279- 288	The total Part A MA payment. -\$\$\$.99				
59	Total Part B MA Payment	10	289-298	The total Part B MA payment. -\$\$\$.99				
60	Total MA Payment Amount	11	299-309	The total MA A/B payment including MMA adjustments. This also includes the Rebate Amount for Part D Supplemental Benefits -\$\$\$\$.99				
61*	Part D RA Factor	7	310-316	The member's Part D risk adjustment factor. NN.DDDD				
62*	Part D Low-Income Indicator	1	317-317	An indicator to identify if the Part D Low- Income multiplier is included in the Part D payment. Values are 1 (subset 1), 2 (subset 2) or blank.				
63*	Part D Low-Income Multiplier	7	318-324	The member's low-income multiplier. NN.DDDD				
64*	Part D Long Term Institutional Indicator	1	325-325	An indicator to identify if the Part D Long-Term Institutional multiplier is included in the Part D payment. Values are A (aged), D (disabled) or blank.				
65*	Part D Long Term Institutional Multiplier	7	326-332	The member's long term institutional multiplier. NN.DDDD				
66	Rebate for Part D Basic Premium Reduction	8	333-340	Amount of the rebate allocated to reducing the member's basic Part D premium\$\$\$.99				
67*	Part D Basic Premium Amount	8	341-348	The plan's Part D premium amount. -\$\$\$.99				
68*	Part D Direct Subsidy Payment Amount	10	349-358	The total Part D Direct subsidy payment for the member. -\$\$\$.99 Applies to all members.				

# MMR FLAT FILE LAYOUT (CONTINUED)

Aspen Systems Corporation



#	Field Name	Len	Pos	Description
69*	Reinsurance Subsidy Amount	10	359-368	The amount of the reinsurance subsidy included in the payment\$\$\$.99 Applies to all members.
70*	Low-Income Subsidy Cost- Sharing Amount	10	369-378	The amount of the low-income subsidy cost- sharing amount included in the payment \$\$\$.99 Applies to LIS members only
71*	Total Part D Payment	11	379-389	The total Part D payment for the member\$\$\$\$.99
72*	Number of payment/adjustment months Part D	2	390-391	Total number of months covered by the payment/adjustment 99
73	PACE Premium Add-On	10	392-401	Total Part D PACE Premium Add-on amount - \$\$\$.99
74	PACE Cost Sharing Add-On	10	402-411	Total Part D PACE Cost Sharing Add-on amount -\$\$\$.99

# MMR FLAT FILE LAYOUT (CONTINUED)

\* Identifies fields applicable to PDPs.

Aspen Systems Corporation



# **CSSC WEB RESOURCES**

Aspen Systems Corporation

WWW.CSSCOPERATIONS.COM

# http://www.csscoperations.com



Aspen Systems Corporation



Prescription Drug Information Center (PDIC) Menu

http://www.csscoperations.com/#null



Aspen Systems Corporation



#### **Register for Email Service**

http://www.csscoperations.com/new/registration\_home.htm



Aspen Systems Corporation


# Enroll to Submit Prescription Drug Data (PDD)

http://www.csscoperations.com/new/pdic/pde/enroll\_submit\_pdd.html

🚰 Enroll to Submit PDD - Mi	crosoft Internet Explorer		- 7 ×
<u>File E</u> dit <u>V</u> iew F <u>a</u> vorites	Iools Help		A
🕲 Back - 🕑 - 💌	🗿 🏠 🔎 Search 🤺 Favorites 🚱 😥 - 嫨 👿 - 🛄	**	
Address 🕘 http://www.csscopera	ations.com/new/pdic/pde/enroll_submit_odd.html		Go Links 🌺
Y! -	💌 Search Web 🔻 🗔 🛛 🏘 🛌 🖂 Mail 👻 🧐 My Yahoo! 🌔 Games 🔹 🎗	🎢 Personals 👻 🚯 Music 👻 🏧 Finance	▼ Sign In 🔹
Home   Hot Topics   Sys	item Stal is    Prescription Drug Event Data        lits    Reports    PDI	C-User Group/Training    PDIC-Refe	rences   Site Map   Site Search
Enroll to Submit	Prescription Drug Data		
Please click on the circle	to go to the desired topic. To go to all other pages, use the	"blue" menu bar at the top of th	e page.
P	4 4		
	PDD Intro Letter	Enrollment Package	
	Medicare Data Communications Network (MDCN)	Official Links	
	CMS EDI Agreement	O Agreement Form	
	PDD Submitter Application	O Application Form	
	PDD NDM Application	O NDM Application Form	
	<u>Contact Us</u>		~
ê			Internet

Aspen Systems Corporation



# Drug Data Processing System (DDPS) Resources

http://www.csscoperations.com/new/pdic/pde/ddps.html

DDPS - Microsoft Internet Explore	r		🛛
<u> Eile E</u> dit <u>V</u> iew F <u>a</u> vorites <u>T</u> ools <u>H</u> e	lp.		
🕞 Back 👻 🐑 👻 🛃 🏠	🔎 Search 🤺 Favorites 🏼 🎸	) 🔗 · 🌺 🖻 · 🛄 🦓	
Address 🕘 http://www.csscoperations.com/	/new/pdic/pde/ddps.html		Go Links 🎽
Y! - Searc	th Web 🔻 📆 🛛 🔶 🖂 Mail	🝷 🎯 My Yahoo! 💽 Games 👻 🌮 Personals 👻 🚳 Music 🝷 쨆 Finance	🗧 👻 Sign In 💌
Home    Hot Topics    System Stat	Prescription Drug Event D	ata    Edits    Reports    PDIC-User Group/Training    PDIC-Refe	rences    Site Map    Site Search
DDPS - Drug Data Pro	ocessing System		
Please click on the circle to go t	o the desired tonic. To go t	to all other pages, use the "blue" menu bar at the top of th	ne nade
7	4	10 P 10 1	
	PDE Format	OPDE Record Layout	
	Submission Timetable	PDD Testing/Certification/Production Timetable	
		Contact Us	
		<u>contact os</u>	
Please note: electronic mail is not nece postal mail instead.	essarily secure against intercepti	on. If your communication is very sensitive, or includes personal infor	mation, you may want to send it by
Palmetto GBA_			<u>CMS</u>
Paimetto GBA			CONTENS IN MEDICANE & MEDICINO SERVICES
1			

Aspen Systems Corporation



# Prescription Drug Front-End System (PDFS) Resources

#### http://www.csscoperations.com/new/pdic/pde/pdfs.html

Edit View Favorites To	ols Help	
) Back 🔹 🕑 👻 🛃 🛃	) 🏠 🔎 Search 🤺 Favorites 🥝	) 🔗 - 😓 🔟 - 🔜 🦓
ress 💩 http://www.csscoperat	ons.com/new/pdic/pde/pdfs.html	So L
7 -	🖌 Search Web 🔻 📑 🔶 🖂 Mail 👻	🛛 🚳 My Yahoo! 🕞 Games 🔹 ≫ Personals 🔹 🚳 Music 👻 🏧 Finance 👻 Sign In 💌
Home   Hot Topics   Syst	em Stati v   Prescription Drug Event Da	ata   / ¿dits   Reports   PDIC-User Group/Training   PDIC-References   Site Map   Site Search
DFS - Prescript	ion Drug Front-End Sys	stem
ase click on the circle t	o go to the desired topic. To go to	o all other pages, use the "blue" menu bar at the top of the page.
7	P P	CALLAND
4	2	2 7 2 7
7	PDFS User Guide	User Guide
7		
7	PDFS User Guide PDFS System Reports	User Guide  DFS Response Reports  DFS Response Report Layout
7		O PDFS Response Reports
7		O PDFS Response Reports
P		PDFS Response Reports     PDFS Response Report Layout
P		O PDFS Response Reports
ase note: electronic mail is	PDFS System Reports	PDFS Response Reports     PDFS Response Report Layout
	PDFS System Reports	OPDFS Response Reports     OPDFS Response Report Layout
ase note: electronic mail is stal mail instead.	PDFS System Reports	OPDFS Response Reports     OPDFS Response Report Layout
	PDFS System Reports	OPDFS Response Reports     OPDFS Response Report Layout

Aspen Systems Corporation



# **Error Code Resources**

#### http://www.csscoperations.com/new/pdic/edits/edits.html

	s <u>T</u> ools <u>H</u> elp		
Back 🔹 🕑 🔹 💌	] 😰 🏠 🔎 Search 🤺 Favorites	🚱 🍰 🖬 🛛 🔜 🦓	
s 🙆 http://www.cssco	operations.com/new/pdic/edits/edits.html	×	🔁 Go 🛛 I
•	💌 Search Web 💌 🗔 🗸 👾 🛛 🖂 M	tail 🔹 🚳 My Yahoo! 💽 Games 🔹 💖 Personals 🔹 🚳 Music 🔹 쨆 Finance 👻 Sign In 💌	
ome   Hot Topics	System Status    Prescription Drug Ever	nt Dat    Edits    eports    PDIC-User Group/Training    PDIC-References    Site Map	Site Searc
ome    Hot lopics	System Status    Prescription Drug Ever	nt Dat     Edits     Leports   PDIC-User Group/Training   PDIC-References   Site Map	Site Searci
dits			
co oliok op the oi	role to go to the desired topic. To r	qo to all other pages, use the "blue" menu bar at the top of the page.	
se click on the cli	rcie to go to the desired topic. To g	go to all other pages, use the "blue" menu bar at the top of the page.	
			And Deck
			2000
R		PARA PARA	
4	4		
4	7		
4	A CONTRACTOR		
4			
4	PDE Error Codes	Error Code Listing	
7	PDE Error Codes PDE Error Code Lookup	Error Code Listing     Error Code Lookup	
7	PDE Error Code Lookup	© Error Code Lookup	
7			
7	PDE Error Code Lookup Edit Categories	Crror Code Lookup      Names and Descriptions	
7	PDE Error Code Lookup	© Error Code Lookup	
7	PDE Error Code Lookup Edit Categories DDPS Transaction and Validation Edits	Corror Code Lookup      Names and Descriptions      DDPS/DBC Edits	
P	PDE Error Code Lookup Edit Categories DDPS Transaction and	Crror Code Lookup      Names and Descriptions	
P	PDE Error Code Lookup Edit Categories DDPS Transaction and Validation Edits	Corror Code Lookup      Names and Descriptions      DDPS/DBC Edits	

Aspen Systems Corporation



# **Reports Resources**

http://www.csscoperations.com/new/pdic/reports/reports.html

🗿 RAPS - Microsoft Internet Explorer 📃 🖻 🔀
Eile Edit View Favorites Iools Help
🕝 Back - 💿 - 💌 🗟 🟠 🔎 Search 📌 Favorites 🚱 🔗 - 😓 👿 - 🔜 🖓
Address 🗟 http://www.csscoperations.com/new/pdic/reports.html
🝸 🔹 💽 Search Web 🔹 🗔 + 🖗 + 🖂 Mail 🔹 🌚 My Yahoo! 💽 Games 🔹 💖 Personals 🔹 🖏 Music 🔹 💥 Finance 🔹 Sign In 🕞
Home    Hot Topics    System Status    Prescription Drug Event Data    Edits Reports    PDIC-User Group/Training    PDIC-References    Site Map    Site Search
Reports
Please click on the circle to go to the desired topic. To go to all other pages, use the "blue" menu bar at the top of the page.
A 10 A 10 A 10
DDPS Reports    Report Naming Conventions  DDPS System Reports
Contact Us Please note: electronic mail is not necessarily secure against interception. If your communication is very sensitive, or includes personal information, you may want to send it by postal mail instead.  Planetto GBA
Internet

Aspen Systems Corporation



#### **User Group Information**

http://www.csscoperations.com/new/pdic/pdd-usergroup/pdd-usergroup.html



Aspen Systems Corporation



# **Training Information**

http://www.csscoperations.com/new/pdic/pdd-training/pdd-training.html

Training - Microsoft Internet Explorer	
Eile <u>E</u> dit <u>V</u> iew F <u>a</u> vorites <u>T</u> ools <u>H</u> elp	an a
🔇 Back 👻 🕑 👻 🛃 🚮 🔎 Search 📌 Favorites 🤣 🔗 -	🍃 🖬 • 📙 🦓 👘
Address 🕘 http://www.csscoperations.com/new/pdic/pdd-training/pdd-training.html	Go Links 🎽
Y - Search Web - 🗔 - 🏘 - 🖂 Mail - 🌚 My Yah	oo! 💽 Games 👻 💯 Deconds — 🏠 Music 👻 Finance 👻 Sign In 🕞
Home    Hot Topics    System Status    Prescription Drug Event Data    Edits	Report 5 PDIC-User Group/Training PDIC-References Site Map Site Search
PDD - Training Information	The report of the rest of the
Riese slick on the size to se to the desired tonic. To go to all other	a page the Welter ways bay at the tay of the page
Please click on the circle to go to the desired topic. To go to all other	r pages, use the "blue" menu bar at the top of the page.
2 2 2	1 2 1 2 1
PDD Regional Training Registration	PDD Training Registration
	Regional Training Q & A's
	O Introduction Letter & List of Change Pages for Revisions
2005 PDD Regional Training	O Participant Guide
	Presentation Slides     Resource Guide
2004 - 2005 Getting Started Training Initiatives	O Training Resources
<u>2</u>	ontact Us
	ommunication is very sensitive, or includes personal information, you may want to send it by
postal mail instead.	<u> </u>
	🔮 Internet

Aspen Systems Corporation



# **CMS Resources**

http://www.csscoperations.com/new/pdic/pdd-references/pdd-cmsinstructions.html

PDD-CMS Instruction	ns - Microsoft Internet Explorer		- 7 🛛
<u>File E</u> dit <u>V</u> iew F <u>a</u> vori	ites <u>T</u> ools <u>H</u> elp		A 1
🕞 Back - 🌍 -	🗴 😰 🏠 🔎 Search 🤺 Favorites 🤣 🔗 -	🎍 🖬 - 🔜 🦓	
Address 🕘 http://www.cs	scoperations.com/new/pdic/pdd-references/pdd-cmsinstructions.html	1	🔽 🄁 Go 🛛 Links 🎽
<b>Y!</b> -	💌 Search Web 💌 🗔 🗸 👾 🛛 Mail 👻 🧐 My Yał	hoo! 🗓 Games 🔹 💖 Personals 👻 🕼 Music 🔹 💹 Finance 🔹 Sign	In 💌
Home    Hot Topics	System Status    Prescription Drug Event Data    Edit	s    Reports    PDIC-User Group/Trainit 1    PDIC-References	Sit: Map   Site Search
PDD - CMS Ir	nstructions		
Please click on the	circle to go to the desired topic. To go to all othe	r pages, use the "blue" menu bar at the top of the page	
P		4 4 4	
	2005 Prescription Drug Final Instructions	O PDD Instructions	
	CMS Contact List for PDP	O Contact List	
	<u>c</u>	Contact Us	
Please note: electronic	mail is not necessarily secure against interception. If your o	communication is very sensitive, or includes personal information,	you may want to send it by
postal mail instead.			
Palmetto GBA			
Done			Internet

Aspen Systems Corporation



Links to CMS Website

http://www.csscoperations.com/new/pdic/pdd-references/pdd-officiallinks.html

Official Links - Microsoft Internet Explorer	
Eile Edit View Favorites Iools Help	At
🔇 Back 👻 🕥 👻 📓 🏠 🔎 Search 👷 Favorites 🚱 🖉	3• 😓 🖻 • 🛄 🖏
Address a http://www.csscoperations.com/new/pdic/pdd-references/pdd-officiallinks.ht	ml 🕑 🄁 Go Links 🎽
Y - Search Web - 🕞 - 🖗 - 🖂 Mail - 🎯	My Yahoo! 💽 Games 🔹 💖 Personals 🔹 🐒 Music 🔹 🚟 Finance 🔹 Sign In 💌
Home    Hot Topics    System Status    Prescription Drug Event Data	Edits   Reports   PDIC-User Group/Training   PDIC-References   ite Map   Site Search
PDD - Official Links	
Please click on the circle to go to the desired topic. To go to all	other pages, use the "blue" menu har at the ten of the page
	other pages, use the blue menu bar at the top of the page.
7	27 2 2
CMS Q & A Database	Q & A Database
CMS Web Site	<ul> <li>Medicare Training Schedule</li> <li>CMS-HCC Risk Adjustment Models</li> </ul>
	Contact Us
Please note: electronic mail is not necessarily secure against interception. If postal mail instead.	your communication is very sensitive, or includes personal information, you may want to send it by
Palmetto GBA	<u>CMS</u>
	correct A vectore a service a service of correct of the service as the service of

Aspen Systems Corporation



# **CSSC REFERENCE DOCUMENTS**

Aspen Systems Corporation



# **Insert CSSC Reference Documents Here**

Aspen Systems Corporation



# **APPLICATION FOR ACCESS**

Aspen Systems Corporation

The Application For Access To CMS Computer Systems form is being replaced. The new version cannot be made available on the Internet until the form approval process has been completed. Users may continue using either the form below or the new form if they have a copy available.

# **APPLICATION FOR ACCESS TO CMS COMPUTER SYSTEMS**

	(Rea	ad and complete bot	h sides of this form ir	n ink)	
1. Type of Request			First Na	ame MI	
(Check only one)	RECERTIFY     DEL				
2. User Information CMS Employee Social Security Ad FMC Contractor (non-M State Agency	□ Fraud Inves min. □ End-Stage □ Federal (oth	e Inspector General tigation Renal Disease Network her than CMS) Drg/Group Health Plan	<ul> <li>Railroad Retiremen</li> <li>Medicare Contr/Inte</li> <li>Peer Review Orgar</li> <li>Researcher</li> <li>Other (specify):</li> </ul>	ermediary/Carrier ization	Current UserID CAPITAL LETTERS (Ø 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9)
a. SSN (see Privacy Act )	Advisory Statement on back)		e. Email Address (non-	CMS only)	
b. Mailing Address/Mai	l Stop		f. CMS Organization or	Company Name	
c. Central Office Desk	Location		g. Company Telephone	Number	
d. Daytime Telephone I ( )	Number		h. Contract Number(s)	(non-CMS only)	
3. Type of Access Re	quired (P= Production, D=	Development, V=Validat	ion, <b>R</b> =Remote/Dialup Ad	ccess)	
a. Application(s):	PDVR		PDVR	d. CMS Standard I	Desktop Software/LAN:
		(		Central Office	Email No Email Remote
		·		DC1 FMC	
			)()()()	ATL1	
	.()()()()_	(	)()()()	BOS1 CHI1	
		(	)()()()()	DAL1	
	· · · · · · · · · · · ·	(		DEN1 KCM1	
	.()()()()_		)()()()	NYC1	
b. <b>Subsystems:</b> CICS DB2 IDMS M204 NDM	P     D     V     R       (     )     (     )     (     )       (     )     (     )     (     )       (     )     (     )     (     )       (     )     (     )     (     )       (     )     (     )     (     )       (     )     (     )     (	OMVS TSO WYLBUR OTHER	P     D     V     R       ( ) ( ) ( ) ( ) ( ) ( )     ( ) ( ) ( )       ( ) ( ) ( ) ( ) ( )     ( ) ( )       ( ) ( ) ( ) ( ) ( )     ( ) ( )       ( ) ( ) ( ) ( ) ( )     ( ) ( )	PHI1 SEA1 SF01 Other	
c. Expected Frequence	cy of Use: (non-CMS only)	🗆 Daily	Monthly	Quarterly	Annually
4. Reason for Reques					
requested accesses reported immediate	acknowledge that our Org are required to perform th ely via submittal of this fo	neir duties. We understa rm.	and that any change in	employment status o	or access needs are to be
Requesting	) Official	Approvin (for non-CM		CMS RAC	F Group Administrator
Print Name		Print Name		Print Name	
Signature	Date	Signature	Date	Signature	Date

Telephone Number

Desk Location

Organization

CMS Userid

Organization or Region

Telephone Number

Contract Number

CMS Userid

Contract Exp. Date

or 'Not-to-Exceed' Date Title

Telephone Number

# PRIVACY ACT ADVISORY STATEMENT Privacy Act of 1974, P. L. 93-579

The information on side 1 of this form is collected and maintained under the authority of Title 5 U.S. Code, Section 552a(e)(10). This information is used for assigning, controlling, tracking, and reporting authorized access to and use of CMS's (formerly HCFA's) computerized information and resources. The Privacy Act prohibits disclosure of information from records protected by the statute, except in limited circumstances.

The information you furnish on this form will be maintained in the Individuals Authorized Access to the Centers for Medicare & Medicaid (CMS) Data Center Systems of Records and may be disclosed as a routine use disclosure under the routine uses established for this system as published at 59 FED. REG. 41329 (08-11-94) and as CMS may establish in the future by publication in the *Federal Register*.

Collection of the Social Security Number (SSN) is authorized by Executive Order 9397. Furnishing the information on this form, including your Social Security Number, is voluntary, but failure to do so may result in delaying the processing of this request.

#### SECURITY REQUIREMENTS FOR USERS OF CMS's COMPUTER SYSTEMS

CMS (formerly HCFA) uses computer systems that contain sensitive information to carry out its mission. Sensitive information is any information, which the loss, misuse, or unauthorized access to, or modification of could adversely affect the national interest, or the conduct of Federal programs, or the privacy to which individuals are entitled under the Privacy Act. To ensure the security and privacy of sensitive information in Federal computer systems, the Computer Security Act of 1987 requires agencies to identify sensitive computer systems, conduct computer security training, and develop computer security plans. CMS maintains a system of records for use in assigning, controlling, tracking, and reporting authorized access to and use of CMS's computerized information and resources. CMS records all access to its computer systems and conducts routine reviews for unauthorized access to and/or illegal activity.

Anyone with access to CMS Computer Systems containing sensitive information must abide by the following:

- Do not disclose or lend your IDENTIFICATION NUMBER AND/OR PASSWORD to someone else. They are for your use only and serve as your "electronic signature". This means that you may be held responsible for the con sequences of unauthorized or illegal transactions.
- Do not browse or use CMS data files for unauthorized or illegal purposes.
- Do not use CMS data files for private gain or to misrepresent yourself or CMS.
- Do not make any disclosure of CMS data that is not specifically authorized.
- Do not duplicate CMS data files, create subfiles of such records, remove or transmit data unless you have been specifically authorized to do so.
- Do not change, delete, or otherwise alter CMS data files unless you have been specifically authorized to do so.
- Do not make copies of data files, with identifiable data, or data that would allow individual identities to be deduced unless you have been specifically authorized to do so.
- Do not intentionally cause corruption or disruption of CMS data files.

A violation of these security requirements could result in termination of systems access privileges and/or disciplinary/adverse action up to and including removal from Federal Service, depending upon the seriousness of the offense. In addition, Federal, State, and/or local laws may provide criminal penalties for any person illegally accessing or using a Government-owned or operated computer system illegally.

If you become aware of any violation of these security requirements or suspect that your identification number or password may have been used by someone else, immediately report that information to your component's Information Systems Security Officer.

# **Instructions for Completing the Application for Access to CMS Computer Systems**

This form is to be completed and submitted whenever the following situations occur:

- A user requires access to a CMS computer system to perform their job duties. (Submit NEW Request)

- A user **changes names**, has a **change in access needs**, **job duties**, or **moves to another component**. (Submit CHANGE Request)

A user receives notice that they must recertify their access needs. (Submit RECERTIFY Request)
 A user retires, resigns, is removed from a contract with CMS, or for any reason no longer requires access. (Submit DELETE Request)

Section 1: Type of Request COMPLETE FOR ALL REQUESTS. Check one box indicating type of request, enter name and current CMS

UserID in blocks indicated, if using one. A separate form must be submitted for each action desired.

Section 2: User Information COMPLETE FOR NEW, CHANGE AND RECERTIFY REQUESTS. Check employee type, and complete blocks a. through h.

- <u>CMS Employees</u> Blocks e., g. and h. may be left blank. If not stationed at CMS Central Office, provide a complete mailing address in block b. and leave block c. blank.
- <u>Non-CMS Employees</u> Block c. may be left blank if not stationed at CMS Central Office. For block h., if your contract number is unknown, obtain it from your Project Officer or your CMS contact person.

#### Section 3: Type of Access Required COMPLETE FOR NEW, CHANGE AND RECERTIFY REQUESTS.

- For NEW Requests-Check each type of access required. List the names of all CMS applications you require access to (i.e., OSCAR,<br/>CROWD, CAFM, CLIA) in block a., Application(s). For each application, check the appropriate columns to indicate the<br/>environment(s) access is needed in, and if remote access is required. DO NOT USE THIS BLOCK TO ENTER<br/>SOFTWARE THAT IS PART OF THE STANDARD CMS WORKSTATION CONFIGURATION; SEE BLOCK D. Use<br/>block b., Subsystems, to request access not specific to particular applications. This block is used to note accesses such<br/>as native TSO commands, usually required by system developers. If 'Other' is checked, be sure to specify here and in<br/>Section 4, Reason for Request. Non-CMS employees should complete block c., Expected Frequency of Use. If access to<br/>a CMS desktop or LAN is required, check your location in block d., CMS Standard Desktop Software/LAN. Checking<br/>this box will ensure you have access to all software available on the standard CMS workstation (i.e., Word, Excel,<br/>GroupWise, etc.).
- <u>For CHANGE Requests</u> If access needs have changed, enter an 'A' to add, or a 'D' to delete, for each type of access requiring a change. (Most changes in job duties or organizational placement require a change in access needs.) If 'Other' is checked, be sure to specify here and in Section 4, Reason for Request. For name changes only, leave this block blank and go to Section 4.
- <u>For RECERTIFY Requests</u> Check each type of access required to perform your job duties. If additional accesses are required, submit a separate change request. **(Those accesses currently held but not checked will be lost.)** If 'Other' is checked in block 3.b., Subsystems, or block 3.d., CMS Standard Desktop Software/LAN, be sure to specify here and in Section 4, Reason for Request.

#### Section 4: Reason for Request COMPLETE AS REQUIRED.

- <u>For NEW Requests</u> Provide an explanation of what job duties require you to access a CMS computer system. Include applicable project accounting numbers. If 'Other' is checked in block 3.b., Subsystems, or block 3.d., CMS Standard Desktop Software/LAN, specify here.
- <u>For CHANGE Requests</u> Note the nature of the action requiring a change. For name changes, include previous and new names. For organizational changes, include old and new organization names. If 'Other' is checked in block 3.b., Subsystems, or block 3.d., CMS Standard Desktop Software/LAN, specify here.
- <u>For RECERTIFY Requests</u> Provide an explanation of what job duties require you to access a CMS computer system. Include applicable project accounting numbers. If 'Other' is checked in block 3.b., Subsystems, or block 3.d., CMS Standard Desktop Software/LAN, specify here.

For DELETE Requests – Note the nature of the action requiring the removal of accesses.

#### Read, sign and date the back of the form. Then obtain signatures for Section 5.

- Section 5: Authorization COMPLETE FOR ALL REQUESTS. All requested information must be supplied or noted 'N/A'.
- <u>CMS Employees</u> **Requesting Official:** The immediate supervisor must sign and complete the Requesting Official block. The **RACF Group Administrator** must also sign and complete the signature block where noted. <u>These responsibilities cannot be</u> <u>delegated.</u>
- Non-CMS Employees– Requesting Official: The Project Officer, if designated, must sign and complete the Requesting Official block. For<br/>Medicare Contractors/Intermediaries/Carriers, a designated company contact must sign and complete the Requesting<br/>Official block. For others, the CMS Liaison/Contact or ADP Coordinator must sign and complete the Requesting<br/>Official block. (IT IS IMPORTANT THAT CONTRACT NUMBER AND EXPIRATION DATE ARE INCLUDED<br/>WHERE APPLICABLE. IF ACCESS IS REQUIRED FOR MULTIPLE CONTRACTS, THE NUMBER AND<br/>EXPIRATION DATE FOR THE CONTRACT WITH THE LONGEST PERIOD OF PERFORMANCE SHOULD BE<br/>USED. IF NO CONTRACTS APPLY, AN APPROPRIATE 'NOT-TO-EXCEED' DATE SHOULD BE NOTED, OR 'N/A'<br/>IF INDEFINITE ACCESS IS REQUIRED.) Approving Official: The immediate supervisor of the Requesting<br/>Official must sign and complete the Approving Official block. For Medicare Contractors/Intermediaries/Carriers, the<br/>Consortium Contractor Management Staff member assigned as Contractor Manager for the company must sign and<br/>complete the Approving Official block. The RACF Group Administrator should note the preferred group for<br/>UserID assignment in Section 1. They must also sign and complete the signature block where noted. These<br/>responsibilities cannot be delegated.

Town of OMS II and	Domination Official		DACE Administrator
TADE OF CWO OSEL	<u>wequesting Ouncian</u>	Approving Ollicial	<b>NACF AUTIMISURATOF</b>
CMS Employee	Immediate Supervisor	N/A	HQ or Regional GA
State User	RO Coordinator (OSCAR, MDS, OASIS or ASPEN Coordinator) or Project Officer	Division Director*	Regional GA
Medicare Contractor/ Intermediary/Carrier	Company Contact	Consortium Contractor Management Staff Member	Regional GA
Managed Care Organization/ Group Health Plan	Project Officer	Division Director*	HQ GA
Researcher	Project Officer	Division Director*	HQ or Regional GA
Office of Inspector General	OIG Supervisor	OIG Regional GA	HQ GA
Other Federal Agency (Inter/Intra Agency)	System of Records Owner or CMS Liaison or Project Officer or Contact Person	Division Director*	HQ or Regional GA
Contractor (non-Medicare)	Project Officer	Division Director*	HQ or Regional GA
Vendor	Project Officer	Division Director*	HQ or Regional GA
Peer Review Organization Member	Project Officer	Division Director*	HQ or Regional GA
ESRD Network Member	Project Officer	Division Director*	HQ GA
*When Division Director signa	*When Division Director signature would be redundant or not applicable first-line supervisor of Requesting Official may sign as	able first-line sumervisor of Regu	esting Official may sign as

**Required Signatures for Applications for Access to CMS Computer Systems** 

\*When Division Director signature would be redundant or not applicable, first-line supervisor of Requesting Official may sign as Approving Official.

(July 2001)